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1.Letter of 
the CEO

with a more structured corporation, better prepared for 
the future in order to consolidate the CAMPOSOL brand 
worldwide in the healthy food segment market.

Furthermore, we will continue investing in our product 
portfolio. We are implementing new seeding practices to 
our shrimp business which will allow us to have more than 
43,000 MT of shrimp in the long term via the conversion 
of 400 Has from “semi intensive” to “intensive” seeding 
techniques, becoming the largest seafood producer in Peru. 

I feel pleased about how CAMPOSOL has been sorting 
out different obstacles and challenges during these last 
years. “El Niño” and external variables will surely hit us from 
time to time as it has done before, but we are now a more 

Dear Shareholders, Partners and Collaborators

2014 was a year with plenty of new challenges. Despite this, we achieved higher 
volumes of avocados, grapes, shrimp and mangos. As a result, CAMPOSOL 
obtained a 15.7% increase in terms of sales and a 17.6% rise in terms of volume 
sold, compared to 2013 (88,700 MT, USD 231.2 million), which is a remarkable 
accomplishment for CAMPOSOL’s vision of becoming one of the main leaders 
in the global food market. 

From a financial standpoint, we reopened our 9.875% USD125 million senior 
unsecured notes due 2017, raising gross proceeds of USD 75 million, and 
continued with our diversification plan, investing strongly in blueberries, ending 
up the year with 567 planted Has, in line with our plan to achieve 2,000 Has 
within the next 2-3 years.  This will allow us to generate more direct jobs and 
become the main private employer in the country.  Additionally, in November 
2014 we successfully acquired a major stake of INY SA and Pesquera ABC, 
which included 420 Has of new shrimp ponds and three processing plants that 
supports CAMPOSOL’s diversification in the seafood segment. 

In 2015, we will continue with our expansion and diversification process. As 
CAMPOSOL FOODS is becoming a much larger company, a reformulation of its 
corporate structure is not only necessary but also natural due to our long- term 
strategic plan. The new structure will have three main divisions: CAMPOSOL 
Fruits and Vegetables (F&V), CAMPOSOL Seafood and CAMPOSOL Trading. The 
first, will operate the agro industrial business, integrating the harvest, processing, 
marketing and distribution of avocados, asparagus, blueberries, grapes, mangos, 
peppers, artichokes and tangerines. The second, will dedicate to the farming 
of shrimp and processing of other seafood products.  The third will focus on 
developing strategic partnerships with retailers and food service clients, which 
will allow us to reinforce direct distribution, establish a more steady demand 
for our products and assure adequate pricing. These three strategic arms will 
consolidate into CAMPOSOL FOODS and will support a sustainable growth 

THE NEW STrUCTUrE 
WILL HAVE THrEE 

MAIN DIVISIONS:

CAMPOSOL
Trading 

Will operate the agro industrial 
business, integrating the harvest, 

processing, marketing and 
distribution.

Will dedicate to the farming of 
shrimp and processing of other 

seafood products.

Will focus on developing strategic 
partnerships with retailers and 

food service clients.

mature and prepared organization with a well-diversified 
portfolio of products, better distribution channels and a 
strong human team. I feel confident that CAMPOSOL is on 
the right way to become a global food player and provide 
value creation and sustainable results to all its stakeholders.

We feel proud for what we have achieved so far, and exited 
for 2015 and the years to come.

Sincerely,

Samuel Dyer Coriat
EXECUTIVE CHAIrMAN

CAMPOSOL
Fruits and 

Vegetables
(F&V)

CAMPOSOL
FOODS

CAMPOSOL
Seafood
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Integrity: We are honest.  We honor our commitments and 
are responsible for the consequences of our actions, always 
contemplating the triple bottom line: economic, social and 
environmental. 

Respect: We appreciate and esteem people.  We foster good 
relations within an environment where ideas and feedback 
are highly appreciated.

Team work: We share our objectives and strategies and we 
strive to be communicative and transparent, creating an 
open and flexible atmosphere where team objectives take 
precedence over personal goals.

Excellence: We all work to attain the highest standards 
of performance, innovation and quality in all stages of our 
processes, activities and products. We pay great attention to 
details and endeavor to comply with the international market 
demands and expectations.    

Austerity: We work towards achieving efficiency along the 
whole chain of value while maintaining strict discipline on 
our cost management and implementing policies that impede 
questionable spending.

[2.4] BuSInESS PRInCIPlES
CAMPOSOL acts according to four main principles that 
guide its activity and interaction with society. 

Human Resources Management: CAMPOSOL recognizes 
its commitment with its collaborators to establish the best 
working conditions that allow their well-being as well as 
their professional and personal development, in a pleasant 
environment. Further, CAMPOSOL provides permanent 
training opportunities and seeks to identify and acknowledge 
its most outstanding workers. 

2.Overview

CAMPOSOL is the leading agro industrial company in Peru, 
the largest Hass avocado grower and soon the largest 
blueberries grower in the world.  It is involved in the harvest, 
processing and marketing of high quality agricultural products 
such as avocados, asparagus, blueberries, grapes, mangos, 
peppers, artichokes, tangerines, as well as shrimps and other 
seafood products; which are exported to Europe, the United 
States of America and Asia.

CAMPOSOL is a vertically integrated company located in 
Peru, offering fresh, preserved and frozen products. It is 
the third largest employer of the country, with more than 
13 thousand workers during high season, and is committed 
to support sustainable development through social 
responsibility policies and projects aimed to increase the 
shared-value for all of its stakeholders.
 
CAMPOSOL was the first Peruvian agro industrial company 
to present annual audited Sustainability reports and has 
achieved the following international certifications: BSCI, 
Global Gap, IFS, HACCP and BrC among others.

[2.1]  VISIon
Our vision is to become one of the main five leaders in 
providing healthy food to families of the world.

[2.2]  MISSIon
Our mission is to provide the world healthy day-to-day food 
with guaranteed quality, seeking the welfare of people and 
the environment through innovation, research and care in all 
details of its processes.

[2.3]  VAluES
CAMPOSOL has established the following corporate 
values: 

CAMPOSOl 
is the third largest 
employer of the 

country, with more 
than 13 thousand 

workers during high 
season.  
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Ethics: CAMPOSOL is convinced that each one of its 
members must apply ethical principles to all of its relations 
with clients, suppliers, shareholders, employees and 
the society in general, as they guarantee CAMPOSOL’s 
reputation in the markets.

Honesty, dignity, respect, loyalty, proper behavior, efficiency 
and transparency are the highest values that guide 
CAMPOSOL’s relationship with its stakeholders.

Social development and community relations: CAMPOSOL 
is committed to balancing its impacts caused by its operations, 
as well as improving the positive impacts that create value 
for the community in general. We work thus under social 
responsibility guidelines in our areas of influence. 

CAMPOSOL promotes ethical relations based on trust to 
our community in general, its inhabitants, local, regional and 
national government, as well as the base organizations and 
other involved actors, in order to establish permanent dialog 
and mutual respect with our neighbors.

Quality, Environment, Safety and Health: CAMPOSOL’s 
products directly affect its clients’ health, which demands 
CAMPOSOL to be aligned to the main international standards 
that guarantee that its products are free of risks for human 
consumption. Thus, the concept of innocuousness is of an 
inestimable value in all of CAMPOSOL’s industry and chain 
of value. 

All of CAMPOSOL’s products are manufactured with 
processes that comply with legal norms and valid regulations 
related to its activities that include local regulations and 
destination countries’ regulations, world-recognized 
international standards, requirements, protocols, standards 
and specifications from clients and the internal norms 
and procedures established in CAMPOSOL’s integrated 
management system.

[2.5] ouR PEoPlE
The development of a competitive agro-exporting industry 
is essential for Peru because of, amongst other reasons, 
its great contribution to generation of formal employment 
opportunities. Such development provides income and 
economic development chains in areas where there is no 
other worthy employment options. CAMPOSOL is  committed 
with this vision and thinks  that the impact of its performance 
has an important reach, even more if CAMPOSOL is on its 
way to becoming the largest employer in the country.

A characteristic of our industry is the seasonal employment 
due to the diversification of our production that depends on 
factors such as weather patterns, each product´s harvest 
periods and contingencies that arise throughout its cycles. 

In 2014, CAMPOSOL´s family was comprised of around 
13,000 collaborators during high season. The larger volume 
of our collaborators come from adjacent areas to our 
orchards in the district of Chao, province of Viru, region of 
La Libertad, which precisely present high unemployment and 
low education rates.

CAMPOSOL also generated an  impact on the indirect 
employment of the areas in which where we operate, 
because we hire third-party companies for transportation, 
food service, lab and health services, amongst other, that are 
rendered by companies made up of community people.

[2.6]  BoARD of DIRECToRS
CAMPOSOL´s shareholders consider it to be of utmost 
importance to have a professional, independent Board of 
Directors. 

Honesty, dignity, 
respect, loyalty, proper 
behavior, efficiency 
and transparency are 
the highest values that 
guide CAMPOSOL’s 
relationship with 
its stakeholders. Mr. Dyer obtained his degree in Business Administration at Miami University in Florida, with a specialization in Finance 

and Administration. He has a wide experience in the Peruvian fishing industry, having initiated his career in Copeinca 
as Fleet Assistant and having subsequently held various positions including Assistant in the frozen products plant, Plant 
Superintendent, Frozen Products Plant Manager, Fleet Manager, Operations Manager and CEO from 2002 until 2011. 
Mr. Dyer was appointed member of the Board of Directors of CAMPOSOL in 2008, a position which enabled him to 
contribute to the transformation of the Company into a leading commercial organization employing the principles of 
corporate governance and social responsibility. Mr. Dyer was named Chairman of the Board of CAMPOSOL in 2011 
with the purpose of continuing with the consolidation of the Company’s leadership in the agro-industrial sector.  In 
October of the same year, he took over the position of CEO thereby becoming the Executive Chairman of CAMPOSOL.

SAMuEl DyER AMPuDIA  
Deputy Chairman

Mr. Dyer Ampudia earned a degree in Business Administration from Universidad Nacional Federico Villareal and 
is a graduate student of the Top Management Program – International Business- from Universidad de Piura. He 

was founding shareholder and Chairman of the Board of Copeinca, Galvanizadora Peruana S.A., Aceros y Techos 
S.A. Consorcio Latinoamericano S.A. and Ferretería Dyer S.A., amongst other. He is Chairman of the Board of 

D&C Group, one of the most successful family business groups in Peru in recent years, which has begun its 
diversification into agribusiness, real estate and construction businesses, through Campoinca and IC Viviendas. 

       SAMuEl DyER CoRIAT  
Executive Chairman
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RoSA CoRIAT VAlERA  
Board Member

Mrs. Coriat is a businesswoman, partner and 
Director of D&C Group (Dyer Coriat). She was 

Director at Fierros y Herramientas S.A., Galpesa, 
and Aceros y Techos (Acetesa). Ms. Coriat is the 

General Manager and Director of Inversiones 
Gacor, a real estate company that operates in 

the US. She is partner and Director of the D&C 
Group, a diversified business group that begun with 
Copeinca in the fishing sector and has successfully 
risked in agribusiness with CAMPOSOL, as well as 

in the mining and real estate sector. She is member 
of the Board of Directors of CAMPOSOL.

CARMEn RoSA GRAHAM  
Board Member

PIERo DyER CoRIAT
                   Strategy and Business Development

Mrs. Graham is a Business Manager graduated from the Universidad del Pacífico, IBM Systems Engineer, and MBA from 
the Adolfo Ibáñez School of Management in Miami. She has advanced studies in management, corporate responsibility, and 
innovation at universities of Harvard, Georgetown, Monterrey, and Piura. She has been General Manager of IBM Colombia 
in 1999, General Manager of IBM Peru and Bolivia in 2011, and IBM regional Strategy Manager in 2004. Ms. Graham has 

been rector of the Universidad del Pacífico in 2007. She is currently an advisor in governance and member of the Board 
of Directors of Ferreycorp S.A., Interbank, and Nextel del Perú, as well as member of the Consultive Committee of APM 

Terminals, and Chairwoman of Fundación Backus and WCD Peru (Women Corporate Directors).

Mr. Dyer holds a Master’s Degree in Business 
Administration and a Bachelor of Science Degree in 
Mechanical Engineering from University of Miami 
(Florida USA). He worked as technical and financial 
analyst for the DCH, in the new projects division and 
as General Manager at Apurímac Ferrum, an iron ore 
exploration project. He joined CAMPOSOL in 2008 as 
Chief Financial Officer, and later in 2012 was named 
r&D Manager.

SuSAnA ElESPuRu  
          Board Member

Mrs. Eléspuru became a member of CAMPOSOL’s 
Board of Directors in May 2014. She developed her 
career as senior executive, business consultant, and 
search of executives for more than 30 years. She 
began her career in Procter & Gamble, where she 
was Deputy Corporate Chairwoman, Chairwoman 
of the Board of Directors, and General Manager 
for Peru, Ecuador and Bolivia. Ms. Eléspuru chaired 
Eléspuru Consultores, a company related to strategic 
management for multinational and local companies. 
She has wide experience in corporate governance, 
strategic planning, business competitiveness, and 
organizational development. She was Chairwoman of 
IPAE from 2011 to 2013, chaired the CADE 2001, 
and led the Escuela de Empresarios de IPAE.

[2.7]  MAnAGEMEnT TEAM

       SAMuEl DyER CoRIAT  
Executive Chairman

Mr. Dyer obtained his degree in Business 
Administration at Miami University in Florida, with 
a specialization in Finance and Administration. 
He has a wide experience in the Peruvian fishing 
industry, having initiated his career in Copeinca as 
Fleet Assistant and having subsequently held various 
positions including Assistant in the frozen products 
plant, Plant Superintendent, Frozen Products Plant 
Manager, Fleet Manager, Operations Manager and 
CEO from 2002 until 2011. Mr. Dyer was appointed 
member of the Board of Directors of CAMPOSOL 
in 2008, a position which enabled him to contribute 
to the transformation of the Company into a leading 
commercial organization employing the principles 
of corporate governance and social responsibility. 
Mr. Dyer was named Chairman of the Board of 
CAMPOSOL in 2011 with the purpose of continuing 
with the consolidation of the Company’s leadership 
in the agro-industrial sector.  In October of the same 
year, he took over the position of CEO thereby 
becoming the Executive Chairman of CAMPOSOL.

JAVIER MoRAlES 
CAMPOSOL Fruits & Vegetables - CEO

Mr. Morales is an Agricultural Engineer from the National Agrarian University in La Molina, Lima with an MBA from ESAN 
University.  Mr. Morales has wide experience in the agro-industrial sector. He began his career in CAMPOSOL 14 years ago 

as Head of Parcel; subsequently he became Head of Farm and in 2004 he was appointed Superintendent of New Areas, 
responsible for the planting of 2,000 Has of asparagus. In 2009 he was promoted to Manager of New Crops managing a 1,400 
Has plantation of avocados, grapes and tangerines in La Libertad.  Then, in 2011 he was appointed Manager of the Asparagus 

Business Unit. Later in 2013, he took over the Blueberry Business Unit and at the end of 2013 was appointed Deputy CEO. 
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JoSE AnTonIo GoMEz
CAMPOSOL Trading - CEO

WAlTER CARlSon 
CAMPOSOL Seafood - CEO

Mr. Gomez is a professional with over fifteen years of 
experience in sales, marketing and distribution, with 

demonstrated results in areas such as P&L leadership, new 
business strategy development and end-to-end supply 

chain management. He has a broad international experience 
developing new markets and new products in countries 

such as Belgium, the Netherlands, Germany, USA, Costa 
rica and Peru. Since 2002 he was appointed to various 

important positions for Chiquita Brands International, 
lastly he occupied the position of General Manager in 

Florida, USA. Mr. Gomez holds a master degree in business 
administration from INCAE Business School in Costa rica 

as well as a Master in Six Sigma from Villanova University in 
Pennsylvania (USA); he graduated as a Licentiate in Business 

Administration from Universidad de Lima. 

MARIA CRISTInA CouTuRIER 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Maria Cristina Couturier is Chief Financial Officer 
overseeing corporate finance, accounting, treasury, and 
business planning.
Mrs. Couturier has over 21 years of experience occupying 
positions in various multinational corporations. For the 
previous 6 years, she was Chief Financial Officer for 
SN Power Peru S.A., an energy company owned by the 
Norwegian company SN Power Invest.  She has also worked 
in other industries and companies like Electroandes S.A., 
PSEG (USA), JP Morgan Chase/Flemings (UK), Prisma SAB, 
and Southern Peru Copper Corporation.  Mrs. Couturier 
has extensive experience in corporate finance, merger and 
acquisitions, and change management. 
Mrs. Couturier holds an MBA in finance and BA in economics 
from Hofstra University located in New York, USA.

fRAnCESCA CARnESEllA 
Marketing, Communications and Sustainability

Economist from Universidad del Pacífico with an MBA 
from Universidad de Piura and post-graduate studies in 
Communications at the Pontificia Universidad Católica 

del Perú. She has broad experience in the areas of 
corporate image, communications, public administration 
and institutional relations. She has served as advisor to 

the Minister of Economy and Finance, the Minister of 
Energy and Mines, the President of the Commission for 

the Promotion of Private Investment and was appointed 
Press & Communications Director of the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs. She was the Manager of Image and 

Communications of BBVA Banco Continental and Manager 
of the Fundación BBVA, as well as Corporate Image and 

Public relations Director at TIM Peru (now Claro). 

Mr. Carlson studied Industrial Engineering at Universidad de Piura. He has more than 27 years of experience in the 
shrimp business. He previously worked as CEO of Fragata SA and on 2006 he was appointed CEO of Marinazul. 

During his trajectory in this position, the company successfully increased its capacity from 250 Has to 1,350 Has 
for shrimp farming and three processing plants, as well as introducing the commerce of other seafood products.

MARIo MElGAR
Supply Chain Manager

Mr. Melgar is a corporate communicator graduated from Universidad de Lima, with a Master in Transport and Logistics (the 
Blue MBA) from Copenhagen Business School. He has also taken a postgraduate course in Project Management from the 
Implement Consulting Group. During his experience at Maersk Line, he developed the areas of marketing, e-commerce, and 
sale of transport services for perishable goods. Mr. Melgar also worked as Managing Director for Logistics Operations at 
Geodis Wilson. He has 20 years’ experience leading projects related to international transport and logistics solutions in Peru 
and Europe.

AlEJAnDRo ARRIETA
Legal Counsel

Attorney graduated from the Universidad de Piura 
(UDEP), with a master from Centro de Altos Estudios 

Nacionales (CAEN). He worked previously as Senior 
Associate at rodrigo, Elias & Medrano and Lazo, and De 
romaña y Gagliuffi. His excellence and performance on 

these law firms has been recognized in the 2014 edition 
of the “The Legal 500 Latin America”, an international 

magazine specialized in the research of performance of 
law firms worldwide. He has been also adviser of the 

Ministerio de Economía y Finanzas (Consejo Nacional de la 
Competitividad) and has worked as professor of the Faculty 

of Law at Universidad de Piura and associate professor of 
the Faculty of Law of Pontificia Universidad Católica del 

Peru. Mr. Arrieta has published research papers on different 
specialized magazines and newspapers. He currently 

participates as speaker in different programs. 
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[2.8] oRGAnIzATIonAl CHART

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
Samuel Dyer Coriat

Samuel Dyer Coriat

PROCESS AND BUSINESS
IMPROVEMENT

M. Gonzales

CFO

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

M. C. Couturier

M. Melgar

STRATEGY AND 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Piero Dyer

 COMPLIANCE AND 
INTERNAL AUDIT 

Mario Carbajal

MANGOE AND 
GRAPES UNIT

R. Camminati

ASPARAGUS, 
PEPPER AND 
ARTICHOKE 

UNIT
J. Quijano

AVOCADO
UNIT

A. Cooper

BLUEBERRY
UNIT

R. Manzo

LOCAL SALES 

CORPORATE CEO

Javier Morales

CEO
CAMPOSOL FRUITS & VEGETABLES

J.A. Gómez

CEO
CAMPOSOL TRADING

W. Carlson

CEO
CAMPOSOL SEAFOOD

HUMAN DEVELOPMENT 
AND MANAGEMENT

G. Defilippi

LEGAL COUNSEL
A. Arrieta

 IT
J. Balbin

CONTROLLING

CORPORATE FINANCE

ADMINISTRATION
M. Aranda

FOREIGN TRADE
E. Palacios

HUMAN DEVELOPMENT
N. Loyola

MARKETING, COMMUNICATIONS
AND SUSTAINABILITY

F. Carnesella

CORPORATE
COMMUNICATIONS

M. Orellana

T. Torres

LABORATORIES
UNIT

J. Borrell

PLANT 
OPERATIONS

S. Cornejo

SHRIMP
UNIT

COMMERCIAL DEPARTMENT
E. Barsimantov

OPERATIONS
J. Arasti

LOGISTICS
P. Lozada

FROZEN & PRESERVED UNIT
L.M. Baanante

QUALITY ASSURANCE
R. Enciso

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
M. Arrué

HUMAN MANAGEMENT
M. Merino

SOUTH OPERATIONS
G. Garland

ACCOUNTING
F. Zavaleta

CONTROLLING
F. Zavaleta

INTERN CONTROL 

HUMAN RESOURCES 
J.P. Guerra

A. Luján

PROJECT
CONTROL

EU 
COMMERCIAL 

OFFICE

US 
COMMERCIAL 

OFFICE

EU 
COMMERCIAL 

OFFICE

OFFICE 
MANAGER AND 

QUALITY 
SYSTEM 

COORDINATOR

INVESTOR RELATIONS
M.E. Olmos
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[2.10]  BRIEf HISToRy
CAMPOSOL is an agro-industrial company that began 
operating in 1997 after purchasing the first land stock in La 
Libertad region located in the north of Peru, approximately 
600 km from Lima. During that same year, more land was 
acquired in the Chavimochic Special Project through a public 
auction. 

The Chavimochic irrigation project supplied water to more 
than 47,000 Has of desert on the northern coast of Peru, 
generating more than USD 1,000 million in investment. 
Nowadays, as a consequence of this project, more than 
45,000 Has have been developed in its area of influence 
by several private companies. CAMPOSOL established 
its headquarters in the Chavimochic zone, where its first 
agricultural operations began. 

In 1998 the Company began to acquire and develop land in 
Piura and by the end of 1999, CAMPOSOL began exporting 
agro-industrial products. 

The vision and the commitment of everyone involved in 
the objectives of the Company resulted in CAMPOSOL 
rapidly becoming the leading agro-industrial company in 
Peru, annually occupying the first place in agro-exports 
and generating approximately 13,000 direct work positions 
directly during the high production seasons. 

Today the Company has more than 25,000 Has between 
Chao, Virú and Piura; land located in the La Libertad and Piura 
regions in northern Peru. The CAMPOSOL agro-industrial 
complex consists of six processing plants, three of which 
are for preserved products, two for fresh and one for frozen 
products. Additionally the Company owns a fruit packing 
company (mangoes, grapes and others) and participates as 
partner in a similar operation in Piura. 

In 2006, CAMPOSOL founded Marinazul with which it 
began an aquaculture business producing and exporting 
shrimp in the Tumbes region, located in the extreme north 
of Peru. This Company has grown consistently ever since 
becoming the leader in the country occupying today more 
than 1,200 operating hectares, as well as having the most 
modern private biotechnology research and development 
installations in Peru. 

CAMPOSOL is investing in research and development by 
creating Bio Tec that aims to be the most important private 
laboratory for aquaculture, fishing and agro-industry in Latin 
America. 

At present, CAMPOSOL is the largest exporter of white 
asparagus in the world, the largest grower of Hass Avocados 
in the planet and soon to be the largest producer of 
blueberries in the world. 

As a more mature company, CAMPOSOL is orienting its 
efforts towards innovation and biotechnological research. 
At the same time, CAMPOSOL is looking to increase its 
skills in the marketing programs by means of an ever greater 
international presence as well as alliances with companies 
that have great experience, leadership and coverage in 
important markets around the world. Given the performance 
it has had during the last decade and the growing preference 
of consumers for quality food that contributes to good 
health, the Company can look towards the future with 
optimism, supported fundamentally on the solidness of its 
operations, the professionalism of its collaborators and its 
good corporate practices.

[2.9] lEGAl STRuCTuRE

(1)  Includes 100% ownership of Muelles y Servicios 
Paita S.A.C., Balfass S.A. and Prodex S.A.C., as well 
as a 40% stake in Empacadora de Frutos Tropicales 
S.A. (with the remaining owned by third parties) and a 
68% stake in Marinasol S.A. (with the remaining 32% 
owned by Maroca Corp.). 

(2)  Includes 100% ownership of Camarones S.A.C. and 
Domingo rodas S.A., a 75% stake in Corporacion 
refrigerados Iny S.A. and a 80% stake in Pesquera 
ABC S.A.C. (the remaining 25% and 250 stake 
respectively, owned by third parties. 

0.01%

100%100%12.73%

100%

100%

100%

9%

94%

46%

54%

60.16%

68%

23%82.27%

39.83%

SIBouRE 
HolDInGS InC.

(Cyprus)

CAMPoSol 
fRESH B.V.

(Netherlands)

MARInAzul
S.A.

(Peru)  (2) 

CAMPoSol
fRESH u.S.A.

(US) 

CAMPoInCA
S.A.

(Peru)

CAMPoSol
S.A.

(Peru)  (1) 

CAMPoSol 
EuRoPA S.l.

(Spain)

CAMPoSol 
HolDInG 
lIMITED
(Cyprus)

BlACKloCuST 
lTD.

(Cyprus)

MADoCA 
CoRP.

(Panama)

GRAInIEnS 
lTD.

(Cyprus)
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3.Products and 
categories

CAMPOSOL considers very important to maintain a diversified portfolio of products, in order to better exploit the selling 
windows and optimize its harvesting, packing, sales and marketing efforts.

CAMPOSOL’s main products are: avocados, blueberries, asparagus (white and green), mangoes, grapes, piquillo and sweet 
peppers, artichokes and tangerines. The Company also has a shrimp production center (Marinazul) in the north of Peru. All 
production is currently oriented to the export markets.

Green and White Asparagus

Blueberries

Mangoes

Artichokes

Avocadoes

Peppers

Grapes

Shrimps

Fresh
Preserved
Frozen

Fresh

Fresh
Preserved
Frozen

Preserved

Fresh
Frozen

Preserved

Fresh

Frozen

US, Spain, Germany and 
The Netherlands.

US

The US, The Netherlands and 
UK.

US

US, Spain, Germany and The 
Netherlands.

Spain, Germany and the US.

China, the US, The Netherlands, 
Russia and Thailand.

US

PRODUCTS CATEGORIES MAIN DESTINATIONS
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Mangoes
During 2014, CAMPOSOL sold 9,693 net MTs of fresh mangos 
at an average price of USD 1.31 per net KG. This represents a 
decrease of 3.6% in volume sold and a price increase of 19.3% 
compared with 2013. 

In 2014, CAMPOSOL sold 5,714 net MTs of frozen mangos at 
an average price of USD 1.75 per net KG. This represents an 
increase of 42.4% in volume sold and a price decrease of 0.7% 
compared to 2013. 

In 2014, CAMPOSOL sold 383 net MTs of preserved mangos 
at an average price of USD 1.87 per net KG. This represents an 
increase of 21.5% in volume sold and a price increase of 9.4% 
compared to 2013. 

Total gross margin for mango was 34.6%, down 11.8pp 
(percentage points) from the year before. 

Grapes
The Company sold 11,798 net MTs of fresh grapes at an average 
price of USD 2.01 per net KG. This represents an increase of 
22.9% in volume sold and a price decrease of 9.3% compared 
to 2013. 

During 2014, total gross margin for grapes was 18.2%, down 
16.1pp (percentage points) from the previous year. 

Artichokes
CAMPOSOL sold 5,548 net MTs of preserved artichoke during 
2014, at an average price of USD 2.53 per net KG representing 
an increase of 12.4% in volume sold and a decrease of 0.1% in 
price compared to 2013. 

During 2014 total gross margin for artichoke was 7.2%, down 
7.4pp (percentage points) from 2013. 

Shrimp
CAMPOSOL sold 2,993 net MTs of shrimp during 2014 at an 
average price of USD 11.28 per net KG. This represents an 
increase of 39.1% in volume sold and a price decrease of 8.8% 
compared to the same period in 2013. 

During 2014 total gross margin for shrimp was 27.9%, down 
8.9pp (percentage points) from 2013. 

CAMPOSOL continues to be a leading company in the 
Peruvian non- traditional agro-industry exports and has three 
main product categories: Fresh, Preserved and Frozen. 61% 
of total revenues in 2014 came from fresh products, 29% 
from preserved products and 10% from frozen products.

Avocados
Avocados are currently the most profitable product on 
CAMPOSOL’s portfolio, with a gross margin of 52.4% and thus, 
reductions of price affect profitability of the Company much 
more than any other crop. 

CAMPOSOL sold 38,424 net MTs of fresh avocados during 
2014, at an average price of USD 1.72 per net KG representing 
an increase of 51.4% in volume sold and an increase of 0.8% in 
price levels compared to the same period of 2013. 

CAMPOSOL sold 1,780 net MTs of frozen avocados in 2014 
at an average price of USD 3.83 per net KG, representing an 
increase of 23.1% in volume sold and a decrease of 3.6% in 
price over the same period in 2013. 

During 2014 total gross margin for avocados was 52.4%, up 
6.1pp (percentage points) from the same period the year before. 

Blueberries
Blueberries are one of the most recently developed products of 
CAMPOSOL, which represented 3.57% of the Company’s total 
sales during 2014.

CAMPOSOL sold 912 net MTs of blueberries during 2014, 
at an average price of USD 10.46 per net KG representing an 
increase of 28.6% in volume sold and a decrease of 14.1% in 
price levels compared to the same period of 2013. 

During 2014 total gross margin for blueberries was 71.1%, 
down 10.7 pp (percentage points) from the same period the 
year before. 

Asparagus
One of CAMPOSOL’s main products, which represented 24.4% 
of the Company’s total sales during 2014.

Due to Peru´s climate characteristics, asparagus is harvested 
all year-long but fresh asparagus´s sales are stronger in the first 
and fourth quarter. Clearly, CAMPOSOL and the other Peruvian 
producers have an advantage regarding other producing 
countries, since they are able to offer product outside the 
traditional windows of the northern hemisphere consumption.

The Company sold 6,588 net MTs of fresh asparagus at an 
average price of USD 4.36 per net KG during 2014, representing 
an increase of 0.3% in volume sold and a price decrease of 0.8% 
compared to the same period of 2013.

CAMPOSOL sold a total of 9,408 net MTs of preserved 
asparagus in 2014, which represented a decrease of 21.5% 
over the same period in 2013. The average price of preserved 
asparagus sold in 2014 was USD 3.56 per net KG, which was 
19.4% higher than during the same period in 2013.

CAMPOSOL sold a total of 604 net MTs of frozen asparagus in 
2014, which represented a decrease of 37.0% over the same 
period in 2013. The average price of frozen asparagus sold in 
2014 was USD 4.22 per net KG, which was 12.1% lower than 
during the same period in 2013.

In 2014, total gross margin for asparagus was 21.4%, up 5.0pp 
(percentage points) from the same period the year before.

Peppers
During 2014, CAMPOSOL sold 6,485 net MTs of preserved 
piquillo peppers at an average price of USD 1.87 per net KG. 
This represents a decrease of 25.7% in volume sold and a price 
decrease of 3.7% compared to the same period in 2013. 

During 2014, CAMPOSOL sold 20 net MTs of frozen piquillo 
peppers at an average price of USD 2.63 per net KG. This 
represents a decrease of 58.7% in volume sold and a price 
decrease of 6.4% compared to the same period in 2013. 
During 2014 total gross margin for peppers was 4.1%, down 
12pp (percentage points) from the year before.  

CAMPOSOL SOLD:

9 408
net MTs of preserved ASPArAGUS

9 693
net MTs of fresh MANGOES

5 548
net MTs of preserved ArTICHOKES

6 485
net MTs of preserved PIQUILLO PEPPErS

11 798
net MTs of fresh GrAPES

2 993
net MTs of SHrIMPS

38 424
net MTs of fresh AVOCADOES

61% of total revenues in 
2014 came from fresh 
products, 29% from 
preserved products and 
10% from frozen products.

912
net MTs of BLUEBErrIES
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4.Board of 
Directorsˊreport

[4.1] MAIn ACTIVITIES 
CAMPOSOL is an agro-industrial company that integrally 
manages its supply chain: its own fields, processing and 
distribution. CAMPOSOL’s portfolio includes the following 
products: asparagus, avocados, piquillo and sweet peppers, 
mangoes, grapes, artichokes, citrus (tangerines) and 
blueberries which are packed fresh, frozen or preserved, and 
exported to the world.  It also operates a shrimp farming 
business under its subsidiary Marinazul S.A.

The planted fields and packaging facilities are located in 
Peru, in La Libertad, Piura and Tumbes regions. The Company 
owns most of the fields where its products are sowed and 
harvested, having total control of the growing, harvesting 
and packing phases of its final products. It also has alliances 
and technical relations with other growers to process and 
commercialize their products, assuring the same quality 
standards to clients.

In order to ensure high service levels to its clients and to 
monitor in a close manner trends in its main markets, 
CAMPOSOL has strengthened its commercial arms through 
direct offices in Europe (the Netherlands) and the US (Florida).

[4.2] MARKET SITuATIon
Peruvian agricultural exports amounted to USD 4,205 
million dollars in 2014, 23% more than in the previous year.

Quinoa was the product which was highlighted last year, 
whose exports were up 149 %. It was followed by cocoa 
(82 %), fresh avocados (66%) and grapes (41%).

The major exporting companies in 2014 were CAMPOSOL 
SA, Perales Huancaruna SAC, Alicorp SAA, Gloria SA, 
Sociedad Agricola Viru SA, DanPer Trujillo SAC, and 
Complejo Industrial Beta SA, among others.

The US and Europe account for over 80% of exports. 
However, russia and Japan represent a great potential for 
the Peruvian market.

CAMPOSOL´s products were exported to 51 countries, led 
by asparagus which represented 30% followed by avocado 
with 28% of total sales. The main markets were the USA, 
which in 2014 accounted for 43% of total volume, mainly 
by avocado exports; followed by the Netherlands with 
shipments of 13% and Spain with 11%.

IN 2014, CAMPOSOL’S PRODUCTS WERE 
ExPORTED TO 51 COUNTRIES

13%43%
THE MAIN MARKETS WERE:

11%
SPAIn nETHERlAnDSuS % of total volume exported
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FrESH PrODUCTS
Avocados
Peru is the fourth largest exporter of avocados in the world. 
According to TradeMap, Mexico ranks first, followed by the 
Netherlands and Chile.

Avocados was the non-traditional agricultural product that 
most increased its exports with USD 307 million, which 
represented an increase of 67% % over the same period in 
2013, accumulating an average annual growth rate of 36% 
the last five years.

Amongst the companies that registered an increase in 
exports of this product are CAMPOSOL, with shipments of 
USD 66 million (up 81.1%); Sociedad Agrícola Drokasa, with 
shipments of USD 27 million (up 173.8%) and Consorcio de 
Productores de Fruta, which exported USD 26 million (up 
56.9%).

CAMPOSOL led avocado shipments to US $ 66 million, 
which represents an increase of 82% over the first ten 
months of 2013.  In 2014, with exports totaling 38,000 
tons, CAMPOSOL claims to be the biggest exporter of Hass 
avocados in the world.

Asparagus 
In Peru, fresh asparagus exports in 2014 totaled USD 380 
million at an average price of USD 2.89 per kg, representing 
a decrease of 6% and 12% respectively over 2013. 

Complejo Agroindustrial Beta lead exports with USD 65.6 
million (17% of the total), followed by DanPer Trujillo with 
USD 24.1 million (6%) and Sociedad Agrícola Drokasa with 
USD 20.5 million (5%), among 103 exporting companies.

CAMPOSOL´s sales were 24.4% made up of asparagus 
(7,262 tons, up 0.3%), while prices were down by 0.8% in 
comparison with the previous year.

Blueberries
Peru’s blueberry businesses are moving forward. Last year, 
exports reached USD 28 million, 60% more than in 2013. 
The increase was even greater in terms of volume, as it went 
from 1,800 tons in 2013 to 3,400 tons in 2014.

TALSA lead the sales with USD 14.8 million (52% of total) 
followed by CAMPOSOL SA USD 8.0 million (36%).  Peruvian 
exports to the US were in the order of USD 12.6 million (44 
% of the total), followed by the Netherlands with USD 6.6 
million (23%).

Grapes 
In 2014, exports of Peruvian grapes accounted for USD 
634 million, and reached 65 countries, being the US the 
main market. Exports of grapes to international markets 
accounted for USD 634 million, thanks to the placement of 
261,000 tons which represented an increase of 52% over 
the volume exported in 2013.

Nowadays, Peru has become one of the leading suppliers 
of grapes in international markets for quality, diversity and 
access to markets.

The regions that have experienced the greatest volume of 
grape production in 2014 were Ica, which managed 199,000 
tons and Piura, which reached 147,000 tons. Also, in terms 
of area harvested grapes, the Piura region reached 4,282 
Has, while in the Ica region was able to harvest 9,017 acres.

CAMPOSOL exported 12,700 tons of grapes to 32 
countries. The major destination markets during 2014 were 
China (2,500 TM), followed by the Netherlands (2,200 TM), 
USA (2,000 TM), russia (1,800 TM), and Thailand (1,200 
tons approx.) amongst other.
 

 In 2014, with exports 
totaling 38,000 tons, 
CAMPOSOL claims 
to be the biggest 
exporter of Hass 
avocados in the world.

PrESErVED PrODUCTS
Asparagus
In 2014, Peruvian preserved asparagus exports totaled 
USD 144 million, it exported USD 50.2 million (35 % of the 
total) to Spain, followed by France with USD 36.2 million 
(25%).

Lead exporters were Sociedad Agrícola Viru SA with USD 
33.3 million (23% of total), CAMPOSOL USD 33.0 million 
(23%) and DanPer Trujillo USD 28.3 million (20 %).

Peppers
In 2014, the export of Peruvian preserved peppers totaled 
USD 40.0 million. 

Sociedad Agricola Viru lead exports with USD 11.9 million 
(30%), DanPer Trujillo SAC USD 9.4 million (23%) , Ecosac 
USD 7.2 (18%), CAMPOSOL USD 6.5 million (16%) 
amongst fourteen companies .

FrOzEN PrODUCTS
CAMPOSOL frozen products exports during 2014 
represented 18% of total sales, being shrimp the most 
representative (60%), followed by mango (21%) and 
avocados (14%).

21%
MANGOES

CAMPOSOL FROzEN PRODUCTS 
ExPORTS DURING 2014 REPRESENTED 18% OF 

TOTAL SALES (most representatives products):

60%
SHrIMP

14%
AVOCADOES
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[4.4] SuMMARy 
of THE yEAR
2014 was a year with plenty of new challenges. Despite 
this, higher volumes of avocados, grapes, shrimp and 
mangos were achieved. As a result, CAMPOSOL obtained 
a 15.7% increase in terms of sales and a 17.6% rise in 
terms of volume sold, compared to 2013 (88,700 MT, USD 
231.2 million), which is a remarkable accomplishment for 
CAMPOSOL’s vision of becoming one of the main leaders 
in the global food market. 

From a financial standpoint, CAMPOSOL reopened its 
9.875% USD125 million senior unsecured notes due 
2017, raising gross proceeds of USD 75 million, and 
continued with its diversification plan, investing strongly 
in blueberries, ending up the year with 567 planted Has, 
in line with its plan to achieve 2,000 Has within the next 
2-3 years.  This will allow CAMPOSOL to generate more 
direct jobs and become the main private employer in the 
country.  Additionally, in November 2014 CAMPOSOL 
successfully acquired a major stake of INY SA and Pesquera 
ABC, which included 420 Has of new shrimp ponds and 
three processing plants that supports the Company´s 
diversification in the seafood segment. 

[4.5] oPERATIonS
In 2014, operations were located in the departments of 
La Libertad with 5,284 planted Has and Piura with 1,196 
planted Has. In La Libertad, white and green asparagus, 
avocadoes, tangerines, artichokes, blueberries, piquillo 
peppers and grapes are cultivated. The Company also 
has a plant there that processes, packages and stores 
our products. In Piura, the Company produces mangoes, 
peppers and grapes. Shrimps are produced in Tumbes.

During 2014, the Company invested USD 60.1 million 
(USD 18.5 million in 2013), of which USD 26.9 million were 
invested in the acquisition of companies related to the 
shrimp business, 15.8 million were invested in additional 
planting of blueberry, USD 7.1 million were invested 
in avocados fields maintenance, USD 6.2 million were 
invested in equipment and infrastructure, USD 5.7 million 

were invested in asparagus fields maintenance among 
major investments.  

As of 31 December 2014, CAMPOSOL had 1,922 Has of 
asparagus 2,653 Has of avocadoes, 527 Has of mango, 451 
Has of grapes, 106 Has of tangerines, 24 has of pomegranate 
and 567 Has of blueberries planted. In addition it also has 
1,050 Has of shrimp ponds farmed and 306 Has of pepper.

[4.6] WoRKInG 
EnVIRonMEnT 
CAMPOSOL is the third largest employer of Peru reaching 
up to 13,000 workers during peak seasons. As an active 
member of the Global Compact of the United Nations, we 
act in accordance to the highest ethical principles, aiming to 
be an example of compliance with labor and social standards, 
both local and internationally, with a clear orientation to 
promote the wellbeing of all of our employees.

Thus, CAMPOSOL provides equal opportunities and 
working conditions for all employees, regardless of race, 
color, gender, religion, sexual or political orientation in all 
of its operations. 
 
During the last three years, CAMPOSOL has had a 
remarkable growth in its level of employees, from 10,000 
to 13,000 workers during peak seasons. We expect over 
20,000 employees in the next three years, becoming the 
first employer of the country, based on the Company’s 
growth strategy in new products, like blueberries and 
grapes, and the consolidation of our frozen business, 
among others. 

During peak seasons, the shortage of manpower in our 
areas of operations, La Libertad and Piura, has led us to 
seek for workers in other regions of the country, mainly 
from the North East. 

During 2014, we continued our efforts to develop strategic 
skills in our workers in order to train and guide them through 
their personal growth, with the support of a continuous 
process of acquisition, strengthening and transformation of 
individual skills and commitment to corporate motivation.  

[4.3] CoMPAny STRATEGy
In line with the Company’s vision of becoming a global company 
that provide families all over the world with healthy food, 
CAMPOSOL´s strategy is supported by the following rationale:

Create high
performance

culture

Implement SRC 
priority programs

Ensure strategy 
financing

Implement IT 
tools to improve 
decision making

Be a global company, with the support of an internationally 
positioned brand, admired due to its capabilities 

and the quality of its products.

Build a company with USD 500 million of sales and 20% of EBITDA in 2018 
while creating social value to our prioritized stakeholders 

and reducing our environmental impact.

Growth of 
Profitable Sales

Cost and Risk Optimization Capacities

Obtain key 
strategic
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Similarly, we have implemented programs that will develop 
the potential of the employee in order to encourage and 
retain talent and assure the adequacy of the collaborator 
with the required job profile, as well as supporting our 
certification programs regarding various tasks performed 
by the Company, such as HACCP, Tesco Nurture, Kosher, 
BASC, IPM, Global Compact, BrC, IFS, USGMP, NSF Cook 
and Thurber, Global Gap, USGAP, and Code of Conduct 
Audit. 
 
Additionally, CAMPOSOL offers other services and benefits 
to its employees such as personal loans for health or 
housing, financial benefits for the schooling of their children, 
as well as counseling and economic benefits to support a 
death in their families, among other.  In the same manner, 
the Company pays close attention to its employees’ family 

health, or work problems, among other attended by skilled 
personnel. In addition, the Social Welfare area coordinates 
various integration and entertainment activities during the 
year, as well as celebrations such as Labor Day, Mother’s 
and Father’s Day, among other. CAMPOSOL strongly 
encourages sports activities, by always providing the time 
and infrastructure to perform them. As an example, our 
internal “Olympic Games” which includes a diverse range of 
sports, have a large turnout and are very enthusiastic and 
competitive. 

During 2013, CAMPOSOL defined a salary structure 
considering market research which, complemented 
with performance evaluations and length of service of 
employees, allowed for wage planning during 2014 with 
parameters of equality and external competitiveness.

[4.7] RESEARCH AnD  
DEVEloPMEnT
CAMPOSOL believes that innovation is a key aspect to boost 
competitiveness and growth in the mid and long term.  This 
is done through market research and analysis of potential 
new products and development of new technology.  The 
focus is on products that could benefit from the Peruvian 
climatic advantages and also help diversify our portfolio of 
products and clients.

The r&D department also seeks to find innovative 
solutions to extend the shelf life of fresh produce and 
reduce production costs. During 2014, CAMPOSOL 
started the large scale production of blueberries with better 
than expected results.  This new crop started as a project in 
research and Development in 2008.

[4.8] SoCIAl 
RESPonSIBIlITy
CAMPOSOL believes that to guarantee the sustainability 
of its business, it is essential to ensure that it operates 
in full compliance with ethical principles, respecting 
people and the environment. This is achieved by acting 
in accordance with the social responsibility policy of our 
organization, and in line with the principals of the UN 
World Global Compact, of which we are active member 
since 2008.

As a result, the Company contemplates in all its decisions 
the triple result: economic, social and environmental and 
is transparent when sharing its results in these aspects. 
CAMPOSOL was the first agro-industrial company to 
publish annual sustainability reports aligned with the 
GrI indicators, which are available at our web page: 
www.CAMPOSOL.com.pe. The objective of this report 
is to reflect in a transparent and systematic way the 
main indicators that show the environmental and social 
performance of the Company, as well as the programs 
and activities carried out in terms of social responsibility.

CAMPOSOL believes 
that innovation is a 
key aspect to boost 
competitiveness and 
growth in the mid 
and long term.  This is 
done through market 
research and analysis of 
potential new products 
and development of new 
technology. 

Also, the Company tries hard to communicate and put 
into practice social responsibility principles and values in 
all the processes, operations and areas of the Company 
transversally. In the same manner, Camposol makes  
efforts to attend to the contributions and comments of 
its stakeholders, which leads the Company to regularly 
carry out investigative studies on the attitudes and 
perceptions of these groups, in order to understand 
their opinions and points of view with regard to our 
performance, and to permit us to take the necessary 
measures to correct any errors in the Company’s 
conduct. 

We invite you to share our sustainability reports with 
us at:

http://www.CAMPOSOL.com.pe/espanol/en_investors_
sustainability_reports
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Disciplinary measures

CAMPOSOL must treat all its employees with dignity and respect. The use of corporal punishments, 
psychological punishment, confinement, violent threatening or any other form of harassment or 
abuse as method of discipline and control is neither practiced nor tolerated. 

Work schedule

CAMPOSOL is responsible for guaranteeing its employees to work according to the applicable laws 
and labor standards regarding the number of working hours and days. If there is any conflict between 
a statute and a mandatory industrial standard, CAMPOSOL must solve this situation according to 
what is established regarding which standard provides a larger benefit for the employee. Personnel 
must have at least one day off after a consecutive period of six working days.

Salary

CAMPOSOL must provide its employees with salaries and benefits that comply with the applicable 
laws and corresponding collective agreements, including those referring to the payment of overtime 
and other extra pay agreements.

Sustainability

CAMPOSOL develops good productive practices having as priority the proper use of its resources 
in all its operations and especially emphasizing in the use of water and energy.

Environment

CAMPOSOL conducts its operations pursuant to the applicable norms and its environmental 
commitments that include monitoring of emissions, management of sewage waters, environmental 
noise, and solid waste, among other; this allows us to mitigate its significant environmental impacts 
and helps to continually improve its environmental performance.

Supply chain

CAMPOSOL shall guarantee its suppliers to be informed of this Code of Conduct, its terms and 
conditions, its meaning and what its implementation implies. This Code of Conduct shall be part of 
CAMPOSOL’s training programs to its supply chain.

Child labor

CAMPOSOL forbids child labor. Employees must be at least 18 years old when hired. Child labor 
refers to any mental, physical, social or morally dangerous or harmful activity for children or 
any activity that directly interferes in their compulsory education needs defined as such by the 
corresponding authority.

Deprivation of freedom and forced labor

CAMPOSOL forbids any type of enslaving servitude or any form of forced labor. CAMPOSOL shall 
neither require any deposits nor withhold original ID documents as a work condition. Likewise, the 
Company shall not subcontract suppliers or production facilities that force work to be conducted by 
employees under any kind of exploitation or forced labor.

Safety and health at work

CAMPOSOL provides a safe, hygienic and healthy workplace and takes the necessary measures to 
prevent accidents and injuries that may arise, be related to or take place during work or as a result 
of the Company´s operations. CAMPOSOL has systems to detect, avoid or respond to possible risks 
to the safety and health of its employees. Employees could refuse to conduct any type of unsafe 
work or any work that risks their life.

Freedom of association and collective bargaining

CAMPOSOL respects the decisions of its employees and the right to association and collective 
bargaining. The Company does not interfere in any way in the establishment, operation or 
administration of such organizations of employees, neither in the collective bargaining activities.

Discrimination 

CAMPOSOL forbids discrimination practices in contracting personnel and in their professional 
behavior due to race, color, religion, sex, age, physical capacities, nationality or any other legally 
prohibited condition.

CAMPOSOL CODE OF CONDUCT
According to our social responsibility policy, which is aligned with international standards such as ISO 26000, SA 8000 and 
BSCI, among other, CAMPOSOL acts according to the following criteria:
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[4.9] fInAnCIAl RESulTS
In 2014 CAMPOSOL’s total sales amounted to USD 267.6 
million (USD 231.2 million in 2013).  The main reasons for 
the increased revenues for the full year 2014 were higher 
volumes of avocadoes, mango and grapes price during 
2014 was USD 2.57 per net KG, up 1.5% down from 2013.

Total Cost of Goods Sold was USD 184.4 million (USD 
156.9 million in 2013), representing around 69% of total 
sales (68% in 2013).

Gross profit increased to USD 84.2 million (USD 74.4 
million in 2013), which resulted in a healthy gross margin 
of 31.1% as opposed to 32.2% in 2012. The main reasons 
for the increased gross profit and margin were due to 
higher volume sold of avocadoes mango and grapes

Administrative expenses increased from USD 22.4 
million in 2013 to USD 28.7 million in the same period 
of 2014. The variation of USD 6.3 million are explained 
mainly by higher professional fees paid related to strategic, 
operational advisory and personnel expenses. 

Selling expenses increased from USD 26.2 million in 2013 
to USD 38.1 million in 2014 due to changes in commercial 
conditions of sale (change of FOB to CFr / CIF terms) 
applied to higher volumes sold. 

In 2014, financial costs amounted to USD 22.8 million (USD 
19.5 million in 2013). Such increase is mainly explained 
by an exchange rate loss on cash and equivalents position 
and higher interest expense due to the increase of working 
capital financing.

In 2014, lost amounted to USD 32.8 million compared to 
profit USD 31.5 million during the same period last year as 
a consequence of a due mainly lost in calculating fair value 
biological assets IAS 41.
EBITDA amounts to USD 34.5 million (USD 42.6 million in 2013). 

During 2014, non-current assets increased to USD 452.9 
million compared to USD 431.8 million at the end of 2013. 
Such increase is mainly due to an increase in the non-
current portion of investments assets.

Total inventories increased from USD 63.1 million at 
December 31st 2013, to USD 96.2 million by the end of 
the fourth quarter of 2014. The variation of USD 33.1 
million is explained mainly by the increase of finished 
product such as pepper, shrimp, artichokes and preserved 
white asparagus. 

Trade accounts receivable decreased from USD 55.2 
million at the end of 2013 to USD 46.0 million at the end 
of 2014. This is explained by the lower leverage clients

As of 31 December 2014, trade payables were USD 48.3 
million, USD 60.7 million higher than at the end of the year 
2013. Such decrease is due primarily contracted payments 
to supplier.

As a result, total working capital (trade accounts receivable 
+ inventories – accounts payable) increased to USD 93.9 
million at the end of 2014 from USD 57.6 million at the 
end of 2013. Current working capital as 31 December 
2014 is 35.1% of sales (24.9% at the end of 2013).

Total liabilities increased to USD 377.9 million compared 
to USD 284.4 million at the end of 2013.

The Company’s debt, gross of capitalized fees, increased 
from USD 166.3 million at the end of 2013 to USD 271.8 
million at the end of 2014, mainly due to an increase of 
the long-term debt (issuance of an additional USD 75.0 
million, 9.875% senior unsecured notes) and bank loans. 
The Company’s debt includes USD 200.0 million of senior 
unsecured notes (125.0), USD 59.6 million of working 
capital financing (26.0), USD 10.5 million in leasing and 
other (13.1) and USD 1.7 million to sellers of acquired 
companies (2.2). 

During 2014, the Company generated USD -31.2 million 
(used 5.3 million in 2013) in operations and invested USD 
60.1 million (16.9 million in 2013) in financing activities, 
the Company raised USD 102.1 million (USD 10.3 million 
in 2013), resulting in a net increase in cash of USD 10.8 
million (increase of 1.3 million in 2013).  The Company 
ended the year with USD 38.0 million in cash (USD 27.2 
million in 2013).

[4.10] AlloCATIon of 
nET InCoME
The Board of Directors has proposed that the net loss of 
CAMPOSOL is attributable to retained result. The proposal 
reflects display the current accumulated profit or loss.

[4.11] ConTInGEnCy PlAn, 
RISK MAnAGEMEnT AnD 
unCERTAInTIES
CAMPOSOL annually identifies and evaluates risks that could 
affect the achievement of its objectives, and establishes 
permanent specific control and monitoring activities to 
mitigate these risks accordingly. The internal controls are 
detailed in the Company’s main rules and procedures 
which are incorporated as systematic controls through 
SAP, supporting a good internal control environment. 
The risk, control and fraud master templates have been 
completed for most of the core processes and activities 
which encompass all internal control and enterprise risk 
management based on the COSO framework. Furthermore, 
the Enterprise risk Management is a continuous assessment 
process and considers the mapping of all strategic risks with 
corresponding relevant mitigating action plans.

CAMPOSOL also applies integrated business principles in 
accordance with international standards, which reflect its 
commitment to health, safety and environment.

The preservation of the environment is one of CAMPOSOL’s 
main concerns. The production process involves factors 
and conditions that interact with the environment, such as 
the use of water, fertilizers, generation of waste through 
emissions and solid waste management. Among some of 
the Company’s practices to ensure the preservation of 
the environment, CAMPOSOL is currently implementing 
environmental education,   internal campaigns, specialized 
treatment systems, quality management systems, 
certifications and community relations programs.

uSD 184.4  million

uSD 28.7  million

uSD 84.2  million

uSD 38.1  million

uSD 34.5  million

uSD 267.6 million

uSD 156.9 million

uSD 22.4 million

uSD 74.4 million

uSD 26.2million

uSD 42.6 million

uSD 231.2 million

TOTAL COST OF GOODS SOLD

ADMINISTRATIVE ExPENSES

GROSS PROFIT

SELLING ExPENSES

EBITDA

TOTAL SALES

2014

2014

2014

2014

2014

2014

2013

2013

2013

2013

2013

2013
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[4.13] fuTuRE PRoSPECTS
The Company is currently focused on adding value to 
its clients through commercial, marketing and service 
initiatives which should result in higher margins.  
Additionally, CAMPOSOL is analyzing new opportunities 
to consolidate its leadership through additional planting of 
current crops, planting of new crops, strategic alliances and 
acquisitions.

CAMPOSOL will continue positioning itself in the US 
market, the largest and fastest growing market for avocados 
in the world, now open for Peruvian produce and in other 
markets with high growth potential. With only one third of 
the new fields having given first harvest during this year, 
current results are in line with the Company’s expectations. 

[4.14] AuDIToRS
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited (PwC) have 
expressed their willingness to continue in office. 

[4.15] CoRPoRATE 
GoVERnAnCE
CAMPOSOL is committed to the practice of sound 
corporate governance, which strengthens the confidence 
in the Company and contributes, as a result, to the best 
possible value for the shareholders, the employees, and 
other stakeholders. The objective of corporate governance 
is to regulate the division of roles between shareholders, 
the Board, and management in a more comprehensive way 
compared to what is required by current legislation.

CAMPOSOL FINANCIAL 
CALENDAr 2015

CAMPOSOL FINANCIAL 
CALENDAr 2014

20.02.201528.02.2014

22.04.2015
31.03.2014

18.05.201523.05.2014

25.08.2015
15.08.2014

29.10.201528.10.2014

Non-audited 
Results 2014/

Q4 2014

Non-audited 
Results 2013/

Q4 2013

Audited 
Financial 

Results 2014

Audited 
Financial 

Results 2013

Q1 2015Q1 2014

Q2 2015Q2 2014

Q3 2015Q3 2014

CAMPOSOL is 
committed to the 
practice of sound 
corporate governance, 
which strengthens 
the confidence in 
the Company and 
contributes, as a result, 
to the best possible value 
for the shareholders, the 
employees, and other 
stakeholders.

[4.12] fInAnCIAl CAlEnDAR
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5.Key Investment 
Considerations A COMBINATION OF STrONG FUNDAMENTALS, SOLID STrATEGY, 

MANAGEMENT CAPACITY AND COrPOrATE GOVErNANCE PLACES 
CAMPOSOL IN A UNIQUE POSITION IN THE COMPETITIVE LANDSCAPE. 

• Due to its location in the Peruvian coastal desert 
plains, the crops are exposed to reduced variations 
of temperatures throughout the year which supports 
higher yields. 

• In addition, the Company is able to commercialize its 
products in windows in which there are lower volumes 
from traditional producer countries (counter-cycle).

CAMPOSOL is present in the entire value 
chain, and has the flexibility to commercialize 
its products fresh, preserved or frozen.  

CAMPOSOL 
produces five of 

the most important 
nontraditional 

export produce.  

• Products are sold by the leading retailers in 
Europe and USA. 

• Low client concentration risk: The Company 
has been gradually reducing its exposure 
to one client.  In 2007 the largest client 
accounted for 25% of total sales while in 
2013 only for 9.5%.  

• Only 32% of our avocados Has are fully matured 
and thus generating the optimum yields. 

• They will all reach maturity within the next 3 years. 
• The US, which is the largest market for avocados, 

was fully open for Peruvian products in 2011 as 
the cold treatment was no longer required. 

• Strong competitive position versus local peers due 
to its scale.

Vertical 
Integration: 

Global 
reach with 

World Class 
Customers:

future Strong 
Growth without 

additional 
planting 

investments: 

Strategic 
Location: 

The Peruvian 
Climatic 

Advantage.

Diversified 
Product 

Portfolio: 
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6.Independent Auditors’ Report and 
Audited Financial Statements

GEnERAl InfoRMATIon

Directors
Samuel Barnaby Dyer Coriat - Chairman 

Samuel Edward Dyer Ampudia 

Pavlos Aristodemou 
(appointed 27 May 2010 and resigned 16 May 2014) 

Mimi Kristine Berdal 
(appointed 18 June 2009 and resigned 15 May 2014)

Hugo Walter Chumbez Panesi 
(appointed  18 June 2009 and resigned 15 May 2014) 

Fabio Matarazzo Di Licosa 
(appointed on 10 October 2011 and resigned 15 May 2014)

rosa Amelia Coriat Valera 
(appointed 15 May 2014)

Maria Susana Elespuru Guerrero 
(appointed 15 May 2014)

Carmen rosa Graham Ayllon 
(appointed 15 May 2014)

Mariano Felipe Paz Soldan Franco 
(appointed 15 May 2014)

Company Secretary
Altruco Secretarial Limited
Kanika International 
Business Center, 6th Floor,
Profiti Ilia No 4 Germasogeia, 
Limassol 4046,
Cyprus

Registered office
Kanika International 
Business Center, 6th Floor,
Profiti Ilia No 4 Germasogeia, 
Limassol 4046,
Cyprus

Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited
Cyprus
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BoARD of DIRECToRS’ REPoRT
(IN THOUSANDS OF U.S. DOLLArS UNLESS OTHErWISE STATED)

The Board of Directors presents its report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of Camposol Holding 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Principal activities

Camposol Holding Limited is the holding company of the Camposol Group (hereinafter the “Group”). During the year 2014 
the Group continued its agricultural activities consolidating its position as a key player in the fruits, vegetables and shrimps 
industry.

financial results

The Group’s results for the year are set out on page 8.  The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of dividends. 

In 2014, adjusted EBITDA was USD34,500, 19% lower than during 2013 (USD42,600), which is primarily due to lower 
volumes of asparagus, as well as decreasing prices of shrimp, avocados and grapes, as well as increase in administrative 
expenses, mainly due to advisory fees and personnel expenses. Adjusted EBITDA margin decreased to 12.9% in 2014 from 
18.4% in 2013. Adjusted EBITDA represents sales minus cost of sales minus administrative expenses minus selling expenses 
plus depreciation plus amortization of intangibles plus non-cash costs included in cost of sales, and excluding the effect 
(positive or negative) of net change in fair value of biological assets.

Review of developments, position and performance of the Group’s business and its position 

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 was USD32,815 (2013: profit of USD31,514).  Turnover in 
2014 increased to USD267,554, compared to sales for 2013 of USD231,241. On 31 December 2014 the total assets of the 
Group were USD677,045 (2013: USD610,180) and the net assets were USD299,191 (2013: net assets USD 325,741). The 
financial position, development and performance of the Group as presented by Management in these consolidated financial 
statements; adequately reflect the business results of the year. Based on these results, the Board has recommended a series 
of measures to improve the financial performance. 

future developments

The Group sets as its strategic priorities for the years 2014, 2015 and 2016 the maintenance of its position as a global leader 
in the asparagus and avocados markets and the diversification in new products to satisfy demand of products, such as quinoa, 
blueberries and shrimps. These are key factors in the development strategy to ensure the future growth of the group.

The Group has sales offices in North America (Fort Laurderdale) and Europe (rotterdam) in order to position themselves as 
leaders in the areas of avocados, asparagus and blueberries.

In November 2014, the Group acquired the majority of shares from Corporación refrigerados INY S.A. and Pesquera ABC 
S.AC., in order to secure the processing capacity of its shrimp operations, increase shrimp production capacity and diversify 
its seafood product basket.

The Group expects to continue its diversification strategy by increasing the production capacity of blueberry and shrimp and 
other minor related products.

Risk management

In line with any other agricultural businesses the Group is exposed to risks, the most significant of which are natural phenomena 
such as the hot and cold ocean currents of “El Niño” and “La Niña” which impact agricultural production, adverse movements 
in the market prices for fruit and vegetables, interest rate risk and liquidity risk.

The Group monitors and manages these risks through various control mechanisms. Detailed information relating to risk 
management is set out in Notes 3, 4 and 35 to the financial statements.

Branches

The Group did not operate through any branches during the year.

Share capital

On 24 September 2013, the Oslo Bors, as the take-over supervisory authority, approved the Mandatory Offering to acquire 
shares in Camposol by Dyer Coriat Holding S.L.

On 21 October 2013, the Board of Directors of Camposol Holding PLC unanimously approved the tender of Camposol 
Holding PLC and Camposol SA’s 2,968,502 shares in the Company.

Once the Offering was completed, Dyer Coriat Holding S.L. held 26,992,047 shares in the Company, representing 90.47% of 
the total shareholding.

On 12 December 2013, Cyprus Securities and Exchange Commission (“CySEC”) approved the application submitted by Dyer 
Coriat Holding S.L. to acquire from the minority shareholders (the “Minority Shareholders”) all the shares of issued share capital 
of Camposol Holding PLC which Generation del Pacific Group S.L. did not own (directly or indirectly) following the settlement 
of the mandatory takeover bid offer dated 24 September 2013 (the “Minority Shares”). The squeeze-out was effective as of 
13 December 2013.

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group does not hold own shares.
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Directors

The Directors of the Company at the date of this report are as shown on page 1.

The Directors who served during the year and up to the date of this report, except for Gianfranco Dante Máximo Castagnola 
zúñiga, Samuel Aguirre, Pavlos Aristodemou, Mimi Kristine Berdal, Hugo Walter Chumbez Panesi and Fabio Matarazzo Di 
Licosa are the following:

 Appointed  resigned 

Samuel Barnaby Dyer Coriat  15 January 2008             - 
Samuel Edward Dyer Ampudia  15 January 2008             - 
Pavlos Aristodemou 27 May 2010  15 May 2014 
 
Mimi Kristine Berdal 19 June 2009  15 May 2014 
Hugo Walter Chumbez Panesi 19 June 2009  15 May 2014 
Fabio Matarazzo Di Licosa 10 October 2011  15 May 2014            
 
rosa Amelia Coriat Valera 15 May 2014
Maria Susana Elespuru Guerrero 15 May 2014
Carmen rosa Graham Ayllon 15 May 2014
Mariano Felipe Paz Soldan Franco 15 May 2014

All of the Directors, except for Pavlos Aristodemou, Mimi Kristine Berdal, Hugo Walter Chumbez Panesi and Fabio Matarazzo Di 
Licosa shall hold office until the next Annual General Meeting and are eligible for re-appointment by the shareholders.

As of May 15th 2014, the Board of Camposol Holding Limited is composed by the following members: Samuel Dyer Coriat as 
Executive Chairman, Samuel Dyer Ampudia as Deputy Chairman, Susana Elespuru, Carmen rosa Graham, Mariano Paz Soldan 
and rosa Coriat Valera as members.
 
The Board of Camposol Holding Ltd has three committees: (1) Audit, internal control and risks committee: The members of this 
committee are Susana Elespuru as President, Carmen rosa Graham and Samuel Dyer Ampudia; (2) Strategy committee: The 
members of this committee are Samuel Dyer Coriat as President, Samuel Dyer Ampudia, Susana Elespuru and Mariano Paz 
Soldán; (3) Corporate governance, compensation and social responsibility: The members of this committee are Mariano Paz 
Soldan as President, Carmen rosa Graham, Samuel Dyer Ampudia and rosa Coriat Valera.

The changes in the remuneration of the Board of Directors are disclosed in Note 36.

Bonds

On 26 January 2012, Camposol S.A., Camposol Holding PLC’s subsidiary, successfully issued a USD125,000 9.875% senior 
unsecured notes due in 2017, which will be guaranteed by Camposol Holding PLC as parent guarantor and Marinazul S.A. and 
Campoinca S.A. as subsidiary guarantors. 

Settlement of the bond issue occurred on 2 February 2012. The net proceeds from the bond issue were used to repay long 
term debt, to finance capital expenditures and for general corporate purposes.

With this transaction, the Company extended the maturity of its long term debt to 4.9 years under much more flexible 
conditions than the previous long-term debt facility, which will allow it to better face its strategic challenges in the next years.

On 30 April 2014, Camposol S.A., Camposol Holding Limited’s subsidiary, successfully reopened its 9.875% USD125 million 
senior Notes due 2017 raising gross proceeds of USD75 million, which will be guaranteed by Camposol Holding Limited as 
parent guarantor and Marinazul S.A. and Campoinca S.A. as subsidiary guarantors. The net proceeds from the bond issue were 
used for capital expenditures, mainly for the expansion of the blueberries’ and shrimps’ businesses. 

The Notes were issued as additional notes and form a single issue with the USD125 million 9.875% Notes due 2017 issued on 
February 2, 2012. The total aggregate principal amount of the 9.875% Notes due 2017 outstanding following this reopening 
is USD200 million.

Events after the balance sheet date

In January 2015, Camposol S.A. acquired Santa Angela S.A.C. which is a company with no operation that owned 1,156 
hectares in possession in Piura and is located in a favorable area for the development of shrimp farming in freshwater. A 
payment of USD3,460,560 was made at the control day January 6, the date in which the transfer of shares was made. 

No other material events occurred after the end of the financial year.

Independent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited has expressed their willingness to continue in office. A resolution giving authority to the 
Board of Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

Samuel Barnaby Dyer Coriat - Chairman   
         Signature

Samuel Edward Dyer Ampudia - Director           
         Signature

Cyprus
22 April 2015 
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 At 31 December   
 Note  2014  2013   

lIABIlITIES        
NON-CUrrENT LIABILITIES       
 
Long - term debt  19  206,117   133,327 
Deferred income tax  17  35,139   41,371 
Provisions 22  4,833    -   
Total non-current liabilities   246,089    174,698 
        
CUrrENT LIABILITIES        
Current portion of long-term debt  19  2,992   4,250 
Trade accounts payable 20  48,315   60,655 
Other accounts payable  21  17,275   16,334 
Provisions 22  3,434   2,477 
Bank loans 23  59,603   26,025 
Total current liabilities   131,619   109,741 
Total liabilities   377,708   284,439 
Total equity and liabilities   676,070   610,180 
       
 
Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors of Camposol Holding Limited on 22 April 2015.

Directors  
  
  
Samuel Barnaby Dyer Coriat - Chairman  
        Signature
  
  
  
Samuel Edward Dyer Ampudia - Director  
        Signature
  

The notes on pages 53 to 133 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
         

CAMPoSol HolDInG lIMITED AnD SuBSIDIARIES        
        
        
ConSolIDATED STATEMEnT of fInAnCIAl PoSITIon        
(IN THOUSANDS OF U.S. DOLLArS)    

  At 31 December   
 Note  2014  2013     
   
        
ASSETS        
NON-CUrrENT ASSETS        
Property, plant and equipment 6   194,102    128,604 
Investment in associate 7   1,782   864 
Intangible assets  8  16,584   18,149 
Non-current portion of biological assets  9  237,725   282,982 
Deferred income tax  17   2,667    1,247 
Total non-current assets   452,860   431,846 
        
CUrrENT ASSETS        
Prepaid expenses    1,142    1,027 
Current portion of biological assets  9  19,227    19,187 
Inventories 12   95,236    63,082 
Other accounts receivable 13  15,657    8,721 
Income tax credit    7,949    3,907 
Trade accounts receivable 14  45,994    55,170 
Cash subject to restriction 15  7,500    -   
Cash and cash equivalents 15   30,505    27,240 
Total current assets   223,210    178,334 
Total assets   676,070    610,180 
       
 
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent       
 
Share capital 16   507    507 
Share premium 16  212,318    212,318 
Other reserves 16  825   825 
retained earnings    76,570    111,285 
   290,220    324,935 
Non-controlling interest    8,142  806 
Total equity   298,362   325,741 
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  For the year ended    
  31 December  
 Note 2014  2013        

     
 
Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year attributable to:    
Owners of the parent   (34,715)  31,288 
Non-controlling interests   307   226 
   (34,408)  31,514 
      
Basic and diluted (losses) earnings per ordinary share (expressed in U.S. Dollars per share) 34  (1.232)  1.154 
     
 
     
 
Items in other comprehensive income above are disclosed net of tax.      
 
     
 
     
 
     
 
     
 

The notes on pages 53 to 133 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.    
 

CAMPoSol HolDInG lIMITED AnD SuBSIDIARIES      
      
      
ConSolIDATED STATEMEnT of CoMPREHEnSIVE InCoME       
(IN THOUSANDS OF U.S. DOLLArS)      
   For the year ended    
  31 December  
 Note 2014  2013        
     
     
  
revenue 25  267,554   231,241 
Cost of sales  26  (184,389) (156,880)
Gross profit   83,165   74,361 
Net (loss) gain arising from changes in fair value of biological assets  9  (46,807)  40,057 
Profit after adjustment for biological assets    36,358   114,418 
      
Selling expenses  27   (38,115)  (26,174)
Administrative expenses  28   (28,703)  (22,389)
Other income 30  18,431   1,334 
Other expenses  30   (9,411) ( 3,415)
Operating (loss) profit   (21,440)  63,774 
      
Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method 7   918   305 
Financial income  31   116   81 
Financial cost 31   (22,798)  (19,465)
Net foreign exchange transactions losses   (3,063)  (2,750)
(Loss) profit before income tax    (46,267)  41,945 
Income tax benefit (expense) 33  12,623   (10,431)
(Loss) profit for the year   (33,644)  31,514 
Other comprehensive (loss) income:    
Currency translation adjustment (Item that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss)   (764)  18 
Other adjustment (Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss)   -     (18)
Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year   (34,408)  31,514 
      
(Loss) profit attributable to:     
Owners of the parent   (33,951)  31,288 
Non-controlling interest   307   226 
   (33,644)  31,514 
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 Companies which do not distribute 70% of their profits after tax, as defined by the Special Contribution for the Defence of the 
republic Law, by the end of the two years after the end of the year of assessment to which the profits refer, will be deemed 
to have distributed this amount as dividend. Special contribution for defence at 15% will be payable on such deemed dividend 
to the extent that the shareholders for deemed dividend distribution purposes at the end of the period of two years from the 
end of the year of assessment to which the profits refer, are Cyprus tax residents.The special contribution for defence rate 
increased to 17% in respect of profits of year of assessment 2009 and to 20% in respect of profits of years of assessment 

2010 and 2011 and is reduced back to 17% in respect of profits of years of assessment 2012 onwards. The amount of this 
deemed dividend distribution is reduced by any actual dividend paid out of the profits of the relevant year by the end of the 
period of two years from the end of the year of assessment to which the profits refer. This special contribution for defence is 
paid by the Company for the account of the shareholders.  
     
The notes on pages 53 to 133 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CAMPoSol HolDInG lIMITED AnD SuBSIDIARIES                  
                  
                  
ConSolIDATED STATEMEnT of CHAnGES In EQuITy                  
for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013                  
(IN THOUSANDS OF U.S. DOLLArS)
                  
                              Attributable to owners of the parent           
              NON-  
  Number  Share   Share  Other  Retained     controlling  Total 
 Notes of shares  capital  premium  reserves  earnings  Total  interest  equity   
               
Balances as of 1 January 2013   29,435    507    212,318    (11,592)  79,997    281,230    580   281,810 
Comprehensive income:          
Profit for the year    -      -      -      -      31,288    31,288    226   31,514 
Other comprehensive income:          
Currency translation adjustment    -   -      -      -      18    18    -     18 
Other adjustments    -      -      -      -      (18)   (18)   -      (18)
Total comprehensive income    -      -      -      -      31,288    31,288    226    31,514 
Transactions with owners:          
Disposal of treasury shares   2,969    -      -      12,417    -      12,417    -     12,417 
Total transactions with owners    2,969    -      -     12,417    -     12,417    -     12,417 
Balances as of 31 December 2013   32,404    507    212,318   825    111,285   324,935    806    325,741 
                  
Balances at 1 January 2014    32,404   507    212,318    825    111,285    324,935    806   325,741 
Comprehensive income:          
Loss for the year    -      -      -      -      (33,951)   (33,951)   307    (33,644)
Other comprehensive income:          
Currency translation adjustment    -      -      -      -      (764)   (764)   -      (764)
Total comprehensive income    -      -      -      -      (34,715)   (34,715)   307    (34,408)
Transactions with owners:           
Non-controlling interest arising on business combination 23   -      -      -      -      -      -      7,029    7,029 
Total transactions with owners    -      -      -      -      -      -      7,029    7,029 
Balances as of 31 December 2014   32,404    507    212,318    825    76,570   290,220   8,142   298,362 
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CAMPoSol HolDInG lIMITED AnD SuBSIDIARIES      
      
      
ConSolIDATED STATEMEnT of CASH floWS      
(IN THOUSANDS OF U.S. DOLLARS)    

  
   For the year ended     
  31 December                  
 Note 2014  2013    
  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Collections   277,021   215,743 
Payment to suppliers and employees   (301,112)  (201,533)
Interest paid   (19,201)  (17,984)
Income tax paid   (1,816)  (1,553)
Custom duties refund collections 13  9,034   7,868 
Other payments and collections   (2,249)  2,713 
Net cash (used in) generated from operating activities  32   (38,323)  5,254 
      
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 6  (34,941)  (5,406)
Investment in biological assets   (4,490)  (7,581)
Purchase of intangibles, excluding goodwill 8   (156)  (415)
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired   (15,449)  -   
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6   203    429 
Net cash used in investing activities   (54,833)  (12,973)
      
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Bank loans proceeds 23   121,590    101,495 
Bank loans payments 23   (88,987)   (105,350)
Sales of own shares 16   -      12,417 
Bonds issue, net of transaction costs 19   73,374    -   
Long-term debt proceeds 19   -      1,300 
Payments of long-term debt 19   (9,556)   (3,426)
Net cash generated from financial activities   96,421   6,436 
      
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   3,265   (1,283)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   27,240   28,523 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15  30,505   27,240 
      

  For the year ended     
  31 December                  
 Note 2014  2013 

Non-cash transactions:    
Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance lease 19   5,273    3,887 
Accrued interest 19   1,227    705 
Borrowings assumed on business combination 19   1,214    -   
Bank loans assumed on business combination 23   975    -   
      

The notes on pages 53 to 133 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.     
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(IN THOUSANDS OF U.S. DOLLArS UNLESS OTHErWISE STATED)

1  GEnERAl InfoRMATIon

a) Business activities

Camposol Holding Limited (hereinafter the Company) formerly Camposol Holding PLC until 30 April 2014, was incorporated 
in Cyprus on 9 July 2007, in accordance with the provisions of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113.  The Company was a 
public limited liability company until 30 April 2014 and was converted to a private limited liability company, in accordance with 
the provisions of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113. Camposol Holding Limited and subsidiaries are hereinafter referred 
as the Group. The Company through its subsidiaries is mainly engaged in investing in the agriculture business, shrimp farming 
and managing the export of agricultural products mainly to the United States and to the European Union.

The Company’s legal address is Kanika International Business Center, 6th Floor, Profiti Ilia No 4 Germasogeia, Limassol 4046, 
Cyprus.

The Company’s shares were listed in the Oslo Axess Stock Exchange from May 2008 and the last day of listing was 20 
December 2013.

The subsidiaries and their activities are as follows:   
      
    Country of  
Company   Principal activity   incorporation  
      
Camposol S.A.   Agribusiness   Peru  
Nor Agro Perú S.A.C.   Farmland owner  Peru  
Prodex S.A.C.   Agriculture   Peru  
Vegesol S.A.   Agriculture   Peru  
Campoinca S.A.   Farmland owner  Peru  
Muelles y Servicios Paita S.r.L.  Farmland owner  Peru  
Marinazul S.A.   Shrimp farming   Peru  
Domingo rodas S.A.   Shrimp farmland rental  Peru  
Camarones S.A.C.   Shrimp farmland rental  Peru  
Marinasol S.A.   Fish canning   Peru  
Inversiones Agrícolas Inmobiliarias S.A.C. Farmland owner  Perú
Corporación refrigerados Iny S.A.  Shrimp farming  Peru
Pesquera ABC S.A.C.   Seafood processing business  Peru
Pacifico Azul S.A.   Shrimp farmland rental  Peru  
Camposol Europa S.L.   Distribution   Spain  
Camposol Fresh B.V.   Distribution   Netherlands  
Madoca Corp.   Holding   Panama  

CAMPoSol HolDInG lIMITED AnD SuBSIDIARIES

oVERVIEW of noTES To THE ConSolIDATED fInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS
31 DECEMBER 2014
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27 Selling expenses
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29 Personnel expenses
30 Other income and expenses
31 Financial income and costs
32 Cash generated from operations
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35 Contingent liabilities
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parties
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38 Events after the reporting period
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    Country of  
Company   Principal activity   incorporation 

Grainlens Limited   Holding   Cyprus  
Blacklocust Limited   Holding   Cyprus  
Siboure Holding Limited    Holding   Cyprus  
Persea, Inc.   Holding   USA  
Camposol Fresh U.S.A., Inc.   Distribution   USA  
Camposol Specialties, Inc.   Distribution   USA

Except for Marinazul S.A., Corporacion refrigerados INY S.A., Pesquera ABC S.A.C. and Inversiones Inmobiliarias Agrícolas 
S.A.C., where the Company holds an indirect equity interest of 99.99%, 80%, 75% and 99.99%, it holds 100% of all its 
subsidiaries. 

Camposol S.A. is one of the subsidiaries of the Group which is a Peruvian agribusiness corporation incorporated in the city of 
Lima on 31 January 1997. Camposol S.A. contributes substantially with all of the consolidated Group’s revenues and net profit.

The legal address of Camposol S.A. is Avenida El Derby 250, Urbanización El Derby de Monterrico, Santiago de Surco, Lima, 
Peru; its operating and commercial office is located in Carretera Panamericana Norte Km. 497.5, Chao, Viru, La Libertad., three 
production establishments or agricultural lands are located in Carretera Panamericana Norte Kms. 510, 512 and 527 in the 
department of La Libertad, Peru. In addition Camposol S.A. operates two administrative offices in the department of Piura and 
Arequipa.

In addition, the Company has an associate, Empacadora de Frutos Tropicales S.A.C. which is engaged in the processing and 
commercialization of fresh fruit products (Note 7).

The subsidiary Inversiones Inmobiliarias Agrícolas S.A.C.was incorporated on 28 August 2014.

The subsidiaries Corporación refrigerados Iny S.A., Pesquera ABC S.A.C. and Pacifico Azul S.A., were acquired from third 
parties during 2014 (Note 24)

The table below presents details of the available agricultural land of the Group: 

    Area in Hectares (Ha) 
Land  Peruvian region  2014  2013  

Mar Verde  La Libertad   2,496  2,496
Agricultor  La Libertad   1,726  1,726
Gloria  La Libertad   1,018  1,018
Agromás  La Libertad   414  414
Virú - San José  La Libertad   616  616
Compositan  La Libertad   3,778  3,778

Yakuy Minka  La Libertad   2,770  2,770
INAIN  La Libertad   11             - 
Huangala - Terra  Piura   2,677  2,677
Santa Ana  Piura   3,370  3,370
Santa Anita  Piura   128  128
Santa Julia  Piura   2,183  2,183
María Auxiliadora  Piura   1,980  1,980
La Merced  Piura   1,000  1,000
Ocoto Alto  Piura   112  112
Ocoto Bajo  Piura   31  31
Ica  Ica   900  900
Tumbes  Tumbes   1,579  933
     26,789  26,132

The Group carries out its activities over the following planted areas: 

 Area in Hectares (Ha) 
 2014  2013 

Asparagus  1,922  2,395
Avocados  2,653  2,643
Mangoes  527  450
Grapes  451   451
Shrimp  1,050  636
Pepper              -   332
Tangerine  102  102
Blueberry  566  212
  7,271  7,221

b) Economic environment of the Company 

The Cyprus economy has been adversely affected from the crisis in the Cyprus banking system in conjunction with the inability 
of the republic of Cyprus to borrow from international markets. These events led to negotiations between the republic of 
Cyprus and the European Commission, the European Central Bank and the International Monetary Fund (the “Troika”) for 
financial support which resulted into the Eurogroup decision on 25 March 2013. The decision included the restructuring of the 
two largest banks in Cyprus through a “bail in”. Additionally, during 2013 and 2014 the Cyprus economy further contracted 
with a decrease in the Gross Domestic Product.
The economic conditions described above, together with the impact of the Eurogroup decision on Cyprus of 25 March 2013, 
did not impact the operations of the Group, since the Group conducts its operating, financing and investing activities outside 
the Cypriot territory.
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c) Approval of the financial statements 

The 2014 consolidated financial statements of the Group were approved by the Board of Directors’ Meeting held in the offices 
of the Company in Lima on 22 April 2015.

2  SuMMARy of SIGnIfICAnT ACCounTInG PolICIES 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.  
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial reporting 
Standards (IFrS), as adopted by the European Union (EU), IFrIC Interpretations and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies 
Law, Cap. 113.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by biological 
assets recognized at fair value and the investment in associate recognized under the equity method accounting. The financial 
statements are expressed in thousands of United States Dollars, unless otherwise stated.
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFrSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

2.2 Going concern 

In 2014, adjusted EBITDA was USD 34,500, 19% lower than during 2013 (USD42,600), which is primarily due to lower 
volumes of asparagus, as well as decreasing prices of shrimp avocados and grapes. Adjusted EBITDA margin (Adjusted EBITDA 
over revenues) decreased to 12.9% in 2014 from 18.4% in 2013. Adjusted EBITDA represents sales minus cost of sales 
minus administrative expenses minus selling expenses plus depreciation plus amortization of intangibles plus non-cash costs 
included in cost of sales, and excluding the effect (positive or negative) of net change in fair value of biological assets.

The financial position and future development of the Group will depend significantly on the sales prices of its fruit, vegetables 
and hidrobiological production.  The Group produces fresh, frozen and preserved products. Fresh products tend to be more 
profitable, followed by frozen products and finally preserved goods. However, the complexity of production and the distribution 
logistics are greater in the case of fresh and frozen products compared to preserved goods.  In this way, there is an inversely 
proportional relationship between profitability and commercial complexity of the product type. 

Preserved products may be stored for up to 5 years and this means that in the distribution chain there are times of very high 
or very low inventories that have a significant impact on prices.

Camposol S.A. issued the senior unsecured notes for US$75,000 in 2014. The net proceeds from bond issue were used for 
capital expenditures, mainly for the expansion of the blueberries and shrimp businesses. The Group growth plan is focused on 
expanding and reduces costs by integrating processes, which is reflected in the acquisition of companies in 2014.

The Group has started a sustained growth process of its operation to ensure a growth in EBITDA in the coming years.

The Directors have the reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue operational existence in 
the foreseeable future. Therefore the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial 
statements.

2.3 Adoption of new and revised IFRSs 

As of the date of the authorisation of the consolidated financial statements, all International Financial reporting Standards 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are effective as of 1 January 2014 have been adopted by 
the EU through the endorsement procedure established by the European Commission.

During the current year the Group adopted all the new and revised International Financial reporting Standards (IFrS) that are 
relevant to its operations and are effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2014. This adoption did not have a 
material effect on the accounting policies of the Group. 

At the date of preparation of these financial statements the following International Financial reporting Standards were issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board but were not yet effective in the European Union:

i) Adopted by the European Union

Amendments

•	 Amendments to IAS 19 – Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions (effective for annual periods beginning 1 
July 2016).

•	 Annual Improvements 2012 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016).
•	 Annual Improvements 2013 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015).

Interpretations

•	 IFrIC 21 - Levies (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015).
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ii) Not yet adopted by the European Union

New standards

•	 IFrS 9 “Financial Instruments” (and subsequent amendments to IFrS 9 and IFrS 7) (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

•	 IFrS 14, regulatory Deferral Accounts (issued in January 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2016).

•	 IFrS 15, revenue from Contracts with Customers (issued in January 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2017).

Amendments

•	 Amendments to IFrS 11 – Accounting for acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

•	 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization (effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

•	 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 - Agriculture: Bearer plants (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2016)

•	 Amendments to IAS 27 - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2016)

•	 Amendments to IFrS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

•	 Annual Improvements 2014 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 Amendments to IAS 1 - Disclosure Initiative (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 Amendment to IFrS 10, IFrS 12 and IAS 28 - Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

The Board of Directors expects that the adoption of these financial reporting standards in future periods will not have a 
material effect on the financial statements of the Group, with the exception of the following:

(i)  Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 - Agriculture: Bearer plants (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2016). The amendments change the financial reporting for bearer plants, such as avocados, asparagus, mangoes, 
tangerine, grapes and blueberries, which now should be accounted for in the same way as property, plant and equipment 
because their operation is similar to that of manufacturing. Consequently, the amendments include them within the scope 
of IAS 16, instead of IAS 41. The produce growing on bearer plants will remain within the scope of IAS 41. The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of the amendments on its financial statements.

2.4 Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, results and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries 
detailed in Note 1- (a).

a) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The group controls an entity when 
the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity.
The entity has power over the investee where the investor possess the right that gives it the current ability to direct the 
relevant activities. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a business is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree 
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognizes 
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the recognized amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The fair value of services received in relation with business combinations are recognized in equity when they are settled with 
the Group’s own equity instrument (such as warrants).

The excess of the consideration transferred, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value 
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill (note 2.8 - a). If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognized and previously held interest 
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the business acquired, these cases are defined as a bargain purchase, 
the difference is recognized directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealized losses are also eliminated. When necessary amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with 
the Group’s accounting policies.

b) Associates 

Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding 
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying amount is increased 
or decreased to recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The group’s 
investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the 
amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss, where appropriate.
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The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss of an associate, is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income of the associate is recognized in other 
comprehensive income of the Group with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When 
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured 
receivables, the Group does not recognize its share of further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the associates.  Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred.  Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

Dilution gains and losses arising from changes in the interest on investments in associates are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

2.5 Segment information 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker.  The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources, assess performance of the operating 
segments and makes strategic decisions has been identified as the Board of Directors.

2.6 Foreign currency translation  

a) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which each entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in US Dollars, which is the Group’s presentation currency.

b) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and other accounts are presented in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within ‘net foreign exchange transactions losses’.

c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper inflationary economy) 

that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:
(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 

consolidated statement of financial position;
(b) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a 

reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); 

(c) equity balances, except for retained earnings, are translated at the historical exchange rates; and  
(d) all resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and included in retained earnings.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Historical cost comprises the purchase price and any cost directly attributable to bringing the asset into working condition 
for its intended use.  Cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the plant and 
equipment if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss as 
incurred. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.  The carrying amounts of replaced parts are derecognized.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

The cost less the residual value of each item of property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its useful life.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful 
life of individual assets, as follows:

  Years 

Buildings and other constructions     Between 10 and 33
Irrigation structure       70
Plant and equipment   Between 5 and 10
Furniture and fixtures   10
Other equipment   Between 3 and 10
Vehicles   5

Depreciation commences when assets are available for use as intended by management. 
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The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if appropriate, at each financial year-end. 
At 31 December 2014, there were no changes resulting from the review.

An assets’ carrying amount is written-down immediately to its recoverable amount, if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized within 
‘other income’ or ‘other expenses’, respectively, in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.8 Intangible assets 

a) Goodwill 

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the net acquirer’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities and non-controlling interest at the date of acquisition.  When the accounting for a 
business combination is not completed by the end of the reporting period in which the business combinations took place, the 
Group reports provisional amounts for those items with valuation process still incomplete.

The net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed accounted at provisional fair values at acquisition date may be 
retroactively adjusted to reflect additional information gathered on facts and circumstances existing at acquisition date which, 
if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts originally recognized.  The period allowed by the IFrS 3 for 
the amendment of provisional amounts recognized should not exceed one year from the acquisition date.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating-
units, or groups of cash-generating-units, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group 
of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a 
potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in 
use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognized immediately as an expense and is not subsequently 
reversed. 

b) Customer relationships 

Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are initially recognized at fair value at the date of the acquisition 
and subsequently at cost less amortization over their estimated useful lives which range from 2 to 8 years. 

The intangible asset is valued using an income approach and the “multi-period excess earnings” method.  The excess of 
earnings is defined as the difference between after-tax operating cash flows generated by the existing customers at the 
acquisition date; and, the contribution costs required by the remaining assets (tangible and intangible) for maintaining the 
relationships with the customer.  The application of the “multi-period excess earnings” requires the following estimations:

•	 Future sales attributable to the existing customer list at the acquisition date, excluding any sales from other customers 
without an established and clear relationship.  The sales forecast for each customer, or customer category, takes into 
consideration organic sales growth as well as the deterioration rate for this customer list.

•	 Calculation of operating margins (EBIT), taking into account only costs related to the existing customer base at the 
acquisition date. 

c) Computer software 

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software.  These costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives of ten years.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software or programs are recognized as an expense as they are incurred.  
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products 
controlled by the Group are recognized as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

•	 it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
•	 management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
•	 there is an ability to use or sell the software product;
•	 it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;
•	 adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product 

are available; and
•	 the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the software product include the software development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs 
previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period.

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to amortization and 
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating 
units). Prior impairments of nonfinancial assets (other than goodwill) are reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date.

Fair value is based on an estimate of the amount that the Group may obtain in a sale transaction on an arm’s length transaction.  
In assessing the value in use of an asset, its estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a post-
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tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash -generating unit to which the asset belongs.

2.10 financial assets 

Classification 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the category loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade accounts receivable’, ‘other accounts 
receivable’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the consolidated statement of financial position (Notes 14, 13 and 15, respectively).

Recognition, derecognition and measurement 

Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Loans and receivable are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and 
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company 
or the counterparty.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets 

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only 
if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or 
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganization, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

The amount of the loss of loans and receivables category is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss 
is recognized in the consolidated income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical 
expedient, the group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the 
previously recognized impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.12 Biological assets 

Biological assets are living animals or plants managed by the Group for sale.  These are asparagus, avocados, mangoes, grapes, 
shrimp, pepper, tangerine and blueberry which are to be harvested as agricultural produce. 

Bearer biological assets are those assets capable of producing more than one harvest or are able to sustain regular harvests 
(as for example: asparagus, mangoes, avocados and grapes).  Costs of producing and harvesting biological assets are expensed 
as incurred.  Costs that increase the number of units produced of the biological asset owned or controlled by the Group 
are added to the carrying amount of the relevant assets. Bearer biological assets are classified as current and non-current 
depending on their maturity period.

Expenses that relate to the agricultural activity include planting, harvesting, seedlings, irrigation, agrochemicals, fertilizers and 
others. The line item “cost of agricultural produce and biological assets sold and services rendered”  includes: i) the cost of 
agricultural produce held in inventory, ii) biological assets valued at fair value less costs to sell, and iii) the costs of providing 
agricultural services.  Therefore, “cost of production” accumulates the costs incurred during the growth of the biological assets 
and the line item “cost of agricultural produce and biological assets sold and services rendered” accumulates the costs of items 
from inventory and/ or biological assets expensed when sold.

Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell on initial recognition and at each statement of financial position 
date. The fair value of biological assets excludes the land upon which the biological assets are harvested. Cost approximates 
fair value when little or no biological transformation has taken place since the costs were originally incurred or the impact of 
biological transformation on price is not expected to be material.
Costs to sell include all incremental costs directly attributable to the sale of the biological assets, excluding finance costs and 
income taxes.  The fair value of a biological asset in its present location and condition is determined based on the present value 
of expected net cash flows from the biological asset discounted at a current market-determined pre-tax rate.

In determining the fair value of a biological asset based on the expected net discounted cash flows, the following factors have 
been taken into account: 

i) the productive life of the asset;
ii) the period over which the asset will mature;



66    67 

Annual Report 2014  CAMPOSOL

iii) the expected future sales price;
iv) the cost expected to arise through the life of the asset; and
v) a pre-tax discount rate.

The application of factors mentioned above requires the use of estimates and judgments by management (Note 4).

Expected future sale prices for all biological assets are determined by reference to observable data in the relevant market. 
Costs expected to arise through the life of the biological assets are estimated based on historical and statistical data.

The gain or loss arising from initial recognition of a biological asset at fair value less costs to sell and from a change in fair value 
less costs to sell of a biological asset is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in 
which they arise.  Agricultural produce harvested from the Group’s biological assets is initially measured at its fair value less 
costs to sell at the point of harvest.  The fair value of agricultural produce is determined based on market prices.  The gain or 
loss arising from initial recognition of agricultural produce as a result of harvesting is recognized in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income for the period in which it arises.  The cost of the agricultural produce included in inventories for 
subsequent sale is deemed to be the fair value of produce less costs to sell at the point of harvest in the local market.

2.13 Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the average cost method.

The cost of biological products is determined as the fair value less estimated point of sale costs at the time of harvest (Note 2.12).

Net realizable value is the estimated sale price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to place inventories in 
selling conditions and commercialization and distributions expenses.  
The cost of inventories may not be recovered if: i) the inventories are damaged or become wholly or partially obsolete; and ii) 
their selling prices decline or the estimated necessary costs to be incurred to produce their sale increase. In such circumstances, 
inventories are written-off to their net realizable value.  The Group determines the provision for obsolescence as follows: 

Fresh and frozen products  100% of cost at expiration
Preserved products  50% of cost after 2 years

The provision for obsolescence is estimated on an item by item basis or for groups of items with similar characteristics (with 
same crop, market and similar other characteristics).

2.14 Trade accounts receivable 

Trade accounts receivable are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold in the ordinary course of business. If 
collection is expected in one year or less-, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade accounts receivable are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment.

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is estimated when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the invoice.  The amount of the provision is the difference between 
the carrying amount and the present value of the recoverable amounts and this difference is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income in ‘other expenses’.  Accounts receivable provided for are written-off when they are 
assessed as uncollectible.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents 

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash at banks and in hand, deposits held at 
call with banks, short-term, highly liquid investments funds, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value with original maturities of three months or less.

2.16 Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Any excess received over the par value of issued shares is classified as share premium.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including 
any directly attributable incremental costs  is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the 
shares are cancelled or reissued.  Where such shares are subsequently sold, any consideration received, net of any directly 
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Company’s 
equity holders.

2.17 Trade accounts payable 

Trade accounts payable are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business 
from suppliers.  Trade accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the 
normal operating cycle of the business if longer).  If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade accounts payable are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method.

2.18 Bank loans and long-term debt 

Bank loans and long-term debt are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Bank loans and long-
term debt are subsequently carried at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowing 
using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.
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Bank loans and long-term debt are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the consolidated statement of financial position date.

2.19 leases 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s 
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance 
charges, are included in long-term debt. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The 
property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset 
and the lease term.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax 

Income tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case the income tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable 
income.  Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation.  It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be 
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  However, the deferred income tax 
is not accounted for when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax 
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the date of the consolidated 
statement of financial position and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the group is unable to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference for associates. Only where there is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference it is not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible temporary differences, only to the extent that is it is probable the 
temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the 
balances on a net basis.

2.21 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to 
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures at fair value expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. 
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

2.22 Employee benefits 

Workers’ profit sharing and other employee benefits 

In accordance with Peruvian Legislation, Peruvian entities of the Group are required to provide for workers’ profit sharing 
equivalent to 10% of taxable income in Peru of each year.  This amount is charged to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income (distributed among cost of sales, administrative expenses and selling expenses, as appropriate). This 
charge is a deductible expense for income tax purposes.

Statutory bonuses  

The Peruvian Group Companies recognizes the expense in bonuses and the related liabilities under Peruvian legal tax 
regulations. Statutory bonuses consist of two (2) annual one-month salaries paid in July and December every year.
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Employees’ severance indemnities 

Employees’ severance indemnities of Peruvian Group Companies personnel comprise indemnities determined under Peruvian 
laws and regulations and which has to be credited to bank accounts selected by employees in May and November every year.  
The annual employees’ severance indemnities equal one-month salary.  The Group does not have obligations of additional 
payments once these annual deposits, to which each worker is entitled to, are made.

2.23 Revenue recognition 

revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods 
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue 
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria 
have been met for each of the group’s activities, as described below. The Group bases its estimate of return on historical 
results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

a) Sales of goods 

Sales of goods are recognized when all risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, usually on delivery 
of the goods. Sales of goods comprise:

•	 Exports of fresh products.  This mainly includes fresh products of asparagus, avocados, mangoes and grapes. Some of 
these exports are invoiced at a fixed price while others on a preliminary liquidation basis (provisionally priced). In the 
case of sales invoiced in a preliminary liquidation basis, the value of the provisionally priced fresh products is initially and 
subsequently re-measured using the forward selling price for the respective quotation period agreed with the customer 
until this quotation period ends. The selling price of fresh products can be measured reliably as these products are 
actively traded on international markets.  The change in value of provisionally priced contracts that occurred after the end 
of the period but before the issue of the financial statements up-to 15 February, is recorded as an adjustment to revenue 
and to trade receivables within the period.

•	 Exports of preserved and frozen products. This mainly includes asparagus, peppers, shrimps and artichokes. revenue is 
recognized when export delivery conditions are met.

•	 Domestic sales. revenue is recognized on delivery. 

b) Interest income 

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. 

2.24 Costs and expenses 

Cost of sales corresponds to the cost of production of goods sold, and is recorded simultaneously with the recognition of 
revenue.  Other costs and expenses are recognized on an accrual basis and recorded in the periods to which they are related. 

2.25 Contingent liabilities and assets 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements but disclosed in notes to the financial statements unless 
their occurrence is estimated as remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial statements and are disclosed 
only if their realization is assessed as probable.

2.26  Custom duties refunds 

Custom duties refunds (drawback) correspond to a tax benefit granted by the Peruvian Government by means of which the 
Company is reimbursed for the custom duties paid on the importation of goods that are a component of the FOB value of 
the exported products.  The refund of these custom duties is credited to the cost of sales in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income when the Group has the right to claim the refund (when the export is completed).

3   fInAnCIAl RISK MAnAGEMEnT

3.1 financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: operational risk, market risk (including currency risk, fair value 
interest rate risk, cash flows interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

a)    Market risk 

i) Foreign exchange risk 

The Group’s entities operate locally and internationally and are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from other 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Nuevo Sol and Euros. The Group’s entities buy and sell its products and 
services and obtain funding for its working capital and investments mainly in its functional currency. Some minor costs are 
incurred in Nuevo Sol and some sales are made in Euros, therefore Group’s entities financial results are not significantly 
affected by exchange rate fluctuations between their functional currency and foreign currency. Management assumes 
the exchange risk related to its operations; therefore it does not carry out a hedging strategy with derivative financial 
instruments to cover its exchange risk.
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As of 31 December 2014 and 2013 the Group had the following assets and liabilities in the Nuevo Sol (PEN) and Euros 
(expressed in USD):

 2014    Total  2013    Total 
 PEN  €  USD  PEN  €  USD 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents  3,206  2,766  5,972  3,670  4,962  8,632
Trade and other accounts       
receivable   19,658  13,999  33,657   10,021   15,098   25,119
   22,864  16,765  39,629   13,691   20,060   33,751

Liabilities 
Accounts payable   25,283  3,131  28,414  24,252   3,129   27,381
(Liability) asset position, net ( 2,419)  13,634  11,215 ( 10,561)   16,931   6,370

The remaining balance of cash and cash equivalents and trade and other accounts receivable amounting to USD67,976 
relates to balances denominated in United States Dollar (2013: USD61,287).

The remaining balance of liabilities, except for the deferred income tax, amounting to USD331,354  relates to balances 
denominated in United States Dollar (2013: USD236,698).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in Nuevo Sol exchange rate and Euro 
exchange rate for twelve months against the US Dollar, with all other variables held constant, on the Group’s pre-tax 
profit:

 Increase/  Effect on  Increase/  Effect on 
 decrease   in profit  decrease   in profit 
 PEN rate  before tax  € rate  before tax 

2014  +4%  96)  +4%  545)
  -4% ( 96)  -4% ( 545)

2013  +4%  754)  +4%  580)
  -4% ( 754)  -4% ( 580)

ii) Cash flows interest rate risk 

Changes in interest rates impact primarily loans and long-term borrowings by changing either their fair value (fixed rate 
debt) or their future cash flows (variable rate debt).

Since all interest bearing loans and borrowings have a fixed interest rate, the Group is not exposed to cash flow interest 
rate risk.

Fixed rate borrowings of the Group are negotiated at market rates on a timely basis, in order to reduce the Group´s 
exposure to fair value interest rate risk. However, the Group is exposed to interest rate risk on fair value of its borrowings.  
The Group assumes this risk; therefore it does not carry out a hedging strategy with derivative financial instruments to 
cover its fair value interest rate risk.

iii) Price risk 

The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk.

The Group is exposed to fresh products price risk as the value of the provisionally priced fresh products re-measured 
using the forward selling price for the respective quotation period agreed with the customer until this quotation period 
ends. The Group assumes this risk and does not use hedge instruments to manage its price risks.

a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract leading 
to a financial loss.  The Group is exposed to credit risk on trade and other receivables and deposits in banks.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of accounts receivable and its deposits in financial institutions 
(Note 15) as shown on the consolidated statement of financial position. Sales transactions are carried out with a number of 
different counterparties, which mitigates credit risk concentration.  The Group seeks for external assistance to evaluate the 
rating of the possible new customer.  With this information, a credit limit for the customer is set.  Management makes efforts 
in building long-lasting relationships with customers (over 6 months).  As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, no credit limits 
were exceeded during the reporting period, and management does not expect significant losses from non-performance by 
these counterparties.
The accounts receivable from a single customer represent 18 per cent of the balance as of 31 December 2014 (9 per cent as 
of 31 December 2013).  All new transactions with this customer are being executed with letters of credit to mitigate credit 
risk exposure.

In addition, the Group has a multimarket credit insurance coverage over the exports of fresh and preserved products in an 
aggregate amount up to USD216,000 at 31 December 2014 (USD158,000 in 2013).

b) Liquidity risk 

The Group has sufficient credit capacity to have access to credit lines with top-ranked financial institutions (institutions with 
no history of default and prestigious locally) under market terms.  In addition, the Group develops new bank relationships in 
order to have adequate funding available all the time.  However, with the current world financial crisis there is a risk that banks 
may revise the terms of the lines of credit. The Group assumes this risk. As of 31 December 2014, lines of credit available not 
used amounts to USD35,000.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and allocates them into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the date of the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts 
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disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows:

   Between 1  Between 2   
 Within 1 year  and 2 years  and 6 years  Total 
 USD  USD  USD  USD 
2014 
Long - term debt  24,703  23,579  206,204  254,486 
Trade accounts payable  48,311              -   -  48,311
Other accounts payable (Note 10)  15,324              -   -  15,324
Bank loans  87,160              -   -  87,160
  175,498  23,579  206,204  405,281
 
2013 
Long - term debt  18,022  17,120  144,591  179,733
Trade accounts payable  60,655              -   -  60,655
Other accounts payable (Note 10)  13,462              -   -  13,462
Bank loans  26,221              -   -  26,221
  118,360  17,120  144,591  280,071

3.2 Capital risk management  

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital.  

Consistent with others in the industry the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.  This ratio is calculated as 
net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as 
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position), less cash and cash equivalents.  Total capital is calculated as equity 
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt, less unrealized gains reserve. 

During 2014, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2013, was to maintain the gearing ratio within 0.3 to 0.5.The 
gearing ratios at 31 December 2014 and 2013 were as follows: 
 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 
Bank loans (Note 23)  59,603  26,025
Long - term debt (Note 19)  209,109  137,577
Less cash and cash equivalents (Note 15) ( 30,505) ( 27,240)
Net debt (a)   238,207   136,362

Total equity as per statement of financial position (b)   299,191    325,741
Total capital as defined by management (a) + (b)   537,398   462,103

Gearing ratio (a) / (a) + (b)   0.44   0.30

The increase in the gearing ratio is mainly due to the increase in bank loans balances, the additional senior unsecured notes 
issued during the second quarter of 2014 and the decrease in total equity is due to loss arising from changes in fair value of 
biological assets for the year 2014.

3.3 Fair value estimation 

The carrying amount of trade accounts receivable and accounts payable are similar to their fair values, as the impact of 
discounting is not significant.  The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

The information used by the Group to estimate the fair value is categorized in following levels:
- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).
- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that 

is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).
- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

See Note 9 for disclosures of the measurement of biological assets.

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group does not maintain any other financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value 
since they are measured at amortized cost.

4     CRITICAl ACCounTInG ESTIMATES AnD JuDGMEnTS

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Critical accounting estimates made by management are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectation of future foreseeable events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Management performs sensitivity analyses of the estimates made as a way of determining the related error margins.

The most significant use of judgment is the estimation of the fair value of biological assets, including asparagus, avocados, 
mangoes, artichokes, grapes, shrimp and blueberries.  The inputs to the valuation models are derived from observable market 
data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, judgment is required to establish fair values.  The 
judgments include considerations of plantation volumes, cost per ton, depletion and the discount rate used to estimate the 
present values.  The valuation of biological assets is described in more detail in Note 9.  Management performs sensitivity 
analyses of the cash flow performed as a way of determining the related error margins.
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The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

Estimation of income tax - Notes 2.20, 17 and 33

Determination of the tax obligations and expenses requires interpretations of the applicable tax laws and regulations.  The 
Group receives advice from its professional legal tax counsel before making any decision on tax matters.  Even though 
Management considers its estimates are prudent and appropriate, differences of interpretation may arise with Tax Authorities 
that may require future tax adjustments.  The Group recognizes liabilities for situations observed in preliminary tax audits 
based on estimates as to whether the payment of additional taxes is required.  When the final tax result of these situations 
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, the differences are charged to the current and deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities in the period in which this fact is determined.  The Group performed sensitivity analysis on the possibility 
of inappropriate interpretations of tax law. In this it has assessed the probability of error to quantify its impact on the financial 
statements.  

Where the actual final outcome (on the judgment areas) differs by 10% from management’s estimates, the Group would need to:

  Effect on income tax 
 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Decrease the income tax liability ( 1,248) ( 1,043)
Increase the income tax liability    1,248  1,043

Estimation of fair value of biological assets - Note 2.12 and 9

To assess the fair value of biological assets the Company takes into account the criteria set out in IAS 41 and IFrS 13, which 
requires that a biological asset should be measured at its fair value less the estimated point-of-sale costs.  The fair value 
indicated is determined by using the present value of net cash flows expected to be obtained from the assets.  Determining 
the fair value of an asset requires the application of judgment to decide on the way in which biological asset will be recovered 
and assumptions to be used in its determination. 

In this regard, in determining fair value, the Management uses estimates for plantation volumes, cost per ton and exhaustion to 
the point of harvest.  The changes in assumptions or estimates used in the calculations could influence the outcome thereof.

The growth model inputs involve estimates that are updated regularly.  The fair value has been determined in US dollars 
and the discounted net cash flows included in estimates of management consider a discount rate determined in relation to 
the cost of financing of the Company (Weighted Average Cost of Capital).  The Company carries out a sensitivity analysis of 
the biological assets taking into consideration the WACC discount, and taking into account the discount rate that the most 
representative companies used in the market and determines the interest rate to use as a middle point of the market rates.

Management considers that volatility levels of higher/lower than 5% would give rise to a material effect in its profits for 
the year.  These sensitivity percentages have been determined based on the effect on profits for the year resulting of the 
application of the fair value of biological assets under IAS 41 and IFrS 13.  The variables used in the determination of the fair 
values of the biological assets that may be subject to variance are: i) the forecast of revenue and costs, and ii) determination 
of the discount rate under WACC. With respect to the revenue and costs forecasts, it should be noted that it has been 
determined based on the harvest and investment forecast for the coming years, which Management considers their error 
margins depend on quality factors of the produce.  These quality factors are monitored by Production Management through a 
detailed ongoing follow-up. With respect to the discount rate under WACC, its determination has been subject to sensitivity 
analysis in relation with comparable companies having a similar financial structure.

 Increase/  Effect on  
 decrease   in profit  
 rate  before tax  
    USD  

2014  + 5% ( 1,591)
  -5%  1,591

2013  + 5%  2,003
  -5% ( 2,003)

Review of long-lived assets carrying amounts and impairment charges - Notes 6 and 8

The Company assesses annually whether a provision for impairment is required to be made under the accounting policy 
described in Note 2. This determination requires Management’s judgment in analyzing evidence of impairment as well as in 
determining value in use. For the latter, judgment is required in preparing the expected future cash flows, including forecasts 
of the Company’s future operation, forecasts of economic factors that may impact revenue and costs as well as in determining 
the discount rate to be applied to those cash flows. As a result of the evaluation of internal and external evidence, the 
Company arrived at the conclusion that there is no sufficient relevant evidence of impairment that may require impairment 
test to be performed on these assets.

4.2 Critical judgments in applying the Group´s accounting policies

Determination of functional currency - Note 2.6

Management has determined the functional currency of the Group’s principal operating entities to be the US Dollar.  These 
entities sell their products in international markets to customers in a number of countries and sales are influenced by a 
number of currencies.  Most operating costs are incurred in Peru but many are invoiced in US Dollars and the price of some 
raw materials and supplies are influenced by the US Dollar.  The borrowings and cash balances of these entities are held in US 
Dollars. Management has used its judgment to determine the functional currency, taking into account the secondary factors 
and concluded that the currency that most faithfully represents the economic environment and conditions of these entities is 
the United States Dollar.
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Biological assets (Note 2.12 and 9)

In measuring the fair value of biological assets, critical judgments were used:

Critical judgments in determining the fair value of biological assets involved various key assumptions, such as: (i) impact of weather 
conditions on expected yields that is built on constant average of the probable yields, (ii) projected prices which considers current 
and historic volatility, (iii) projected costs which considers current and historic performance, and (iv) projected production which 
considers current and historic performance. The impact on changing these assumptions is disclosed in Note 9.

Impairment test on goodwill (Note 2.8)

Critical judgments used in determining the recoverable amount of avocado’s CGU relates to Management’s consideration of 
prior-year events in the market that corresponds to an increase in the supply of avocado in the  Group´s principal markets, 
which affected prices of avocado. These considerations were relevant to estimate the expected future cash flows and have 
been factored into the coming two years, 2015 and 2016, but not subsequently since there is no reasonable certainty that 
those events will continue to occur and impact the terminal value of this CGU. If these considerations were factored into 
2018 and 2021 by a 21% decrease in revenue occurred in prior-years, the Group would not have recognized impairment in 
the avocado CGU.

5     SEGMEnT InfoRMATIon

The Group’s Chief Operating Decision-Maker uses product information to manage resources and to identify those production 
lines which may eventually cease to generate value for the Group, and based on that information, decisions are made to 
develop other production lines.  The Group has eight operating segments which comprised nine cash-generating units, 
namely asparagus, avocado, artichoke, pepper, mango, seafoods, grapes and blueberry. Goodwill arising from the acquisition 
of Camposol S.A. was allocated to the cash generating units of asparagus and avocado. Goodwill arising from the acquisition 
of Pesquera ABC S.A.C. was allocated to the cash generating unit of Shellfish.

Since the acquisition of Pesquera ABC S.A.C. in 2014, the Group formed the segment Seafoods, which includes the cash 
generating unit Shrimps and the cash generating unit Shellfish, which is composed by the business acquired. Shrimps cash 
generating unit is engaged in production, cultivation, harvesting, processing and sales of shrimps and Shellfish cash generating 
unit is engaged in collecting, processing and export sales of shellfish and other seafoods.

The eight operating segments are engaged in producing, processing and commercializing a number of agricultural products, 
presented in fresh, preserved and frozen, which are mainly exported to European markets and the United States of America. 

The products include asparagus, avocado, artichoke, pepper, mango, shrimp, grapes and blueberry.  These are further 
distinguished in fresh, canned and frozen products.

All production and related assets are in Peru.

The analysis of sales below is based on the country/area in which the customer is located. 

  2014  2013 
  USD  USD 

Europe   104,153  114,588
USA   120,122  79,816
Asia   20,591  19,439
Canada   4,090  6,502
Other   18,598  10,896
   267,554  231,241

The following table shows revenues, gross profit and profit (loss) after adjustment for biological assets by segment:
 
  Asparagus  Mango  Blueberry  Avocado  Artichoke Pepper  Seafoods  Grapes    Total 
  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD   USD 

2014 
revenues   65,222  23,499  9,542  73,400  14,098  14,681  33,755  23,694  257,891
Cost of sales   ( 51,286)  ( 15,362)   ( 2,756)   ( 34,910)   ( 13,089)   ( 14,075)   ( 24,343)   ( 19,381)   (175,202)
Gross profit   13,936  8,137  6,786  38,490  1,009  606  9,412  4,313  82,689
Gain (loss) arising from changes 
in fair value of biological assets  (  9,463) ( 1,723)  7,287 ( 50,990)             -   (       21)   (     402)   (  2,802)  ( 58,114)
Profit (loss) after adjustment for                   
biological assets by segment   4,473  6,414  14,073 ( 12,500)  1,009 ( 585)  9,010  1,511        24,575

2013 
revenues   69,955  18,689  8,638  49,244  12,772  18,730  26,629  21,245  225,902
Cost of sales  ( 51,508) (  14,422)  (   1,573) ( 26,460) ( 10,906) ( 15,716) ( 16,827) ( 13,968)  (  151,380)
Gross profit   18,447  4,267        7,065   22,784  1,866  3,014  9,802  7,277  74,522
Gain (loss) arising from changes 
in fair value of biological assets  9,691  2,546  6,025  16,668          - ( 291)  388  5,330  40,357
Profit after adjustment for                  
biological assets by segment   28,138  6,813  13,090  39,452  1,866  2,723  10,190  12,607  114,879
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The following table shows assets by segment:

  Asparagus Mango   Blueberry  Avocado  Artichoke  Pepper  Seafoods  Grapes      Total
  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD   USD 

2014 
Current portion of
biological assets   3,012  331  676  2,892            -            -  8,307  4,009  19,227
Non-current portion 
of biological assets   18,505  2,679  33,136  144,971              -            -           -  18,262  217,553
Goodwill   3,778           -            -  9,219              -            -  1,009          -  14,006
Finished products   20,115  1,123  1,221  1,276  10,202  12,978  7,739  3,012  57,666
Property, plant and 
equipment   21,471  13,341  1,374  48,391             -  16,252  56,384  14,513  171,726
Total assets by segment   66,881  17,474  36,407  206,749  10,202  29,230  73,439  39,796  480,178
Area (Has)   1,922  527  566  2,653             -           -  1,050  451  7,169 
             

2013
Current portion of
biological assets   3,760  467  448  3,878    570  6,193  3,871  19,187
Non-current portion 
of biological assets   30,487  3,783  23,268  194,429         -         -         -  22,029  273,996
Goodwill   3,778           -            -  9,219          -         -         -          -  12,997
Finished products   17,309  1,268            -  935  6,305  6,725  1,758  2,536  36,836
Property, plant and 
equipment   28,902  7,585  493  40,758          -  4,026  15,847  6,024  103,635
Total assets by segment   84,236  13,103  24,209  249,219  6,305  11,321  23,798  34,460  446,651
Area (Has)   2,395  450  212  2,643          -  332  636  451  7,119

At 31 December 2014 and 2013 no transactions between reportable segments are carried out.

Disclosure of segment profit measurement is made using the gross profit and profit and loss after adjustment for biological 
assets, which is used in assessing the performance of each segment. 

Administrative expenses, selling expenses, other income and other expenses are not considered as expenses and income 
segments.

Following is a reconciliation of profit after adjustment for biological assets by segments with the operating (loss) profit:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Profit after adjustment for biological assets by segments  24,575   114,879
Unallocated revenue   9,663   5,339
Unallocated cost of sales ( 9,187) ( 5,500)
Unallocated gain (loss) arising from changes in  11,307  ( 300)
fair value of biological assets
Selling expenses ( 38,115) ( 26,174)
Administration expenses ( 28,703) ( 22,389)
Other income  18,431   1,334
Other expenses ( 8,436) ( 3,415)
Operating (loss) profit ( 20,465)  63,774

Following is a reconciliation of total assets by segments with total assets:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Total assets by segments  480,178   446,651
Unallocated biological assets  20,172   8,986
Unallocated inventories  38,545   26,246
Unallocated property, plant and equipment  22,376   24,969
Unallocated intangible assets  2,578   5,152
Investment in associate  1,782   864
Deferred income tax  2,667   1,247
Prepaid expenses  1,142   1,027
Other accounts receivable  15,657   8,721
Income tax credit  7,949   3,907
Trade accounts receivable  45,994   55,170
Cash and cash equivalents  30,505   27,240
Cash subject to restriction  7,500    - 
Total assets  677,045   610,180
Unallocated area (Has)  102   102
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The following table shows revenues and gross profit by customer: 

 Major 10  Major 11 to 20  Major 21 to 28  Other
 customers  customers  customers  customers   Total 
 USD  USD   USD  USD   USD 
Year 2014
revenues  104,030  30,041  14,759  118,724  267,554
Gross profit  44,509  9,014  5,167  24,475  83,165

Year 2013
revenues  86,007  31,124  15,708  98,402  231,241
Gross profit  31,927  11,036  7,777  23,621  74,361

Gross profit by type of produce for the year ended 31 December is as follows:

 2014      2013     
   Cost of  Gross    Cost of  Gross 
 Revenue  sales  profit  Revenue  sales  profit 
 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 

Fresh  146,637 ( 84,753)  61,884  115,330 ( 64,606)  50,724
Preserved  60,346 ( 52,287)  8,059  65,608 ( 54,676)  10,932
Frozen  48,722 ( 34,686)  14,036  42,595 ( 28,629)  13,966
Others  11,849 ( 12,663) ( 814)   7,708 ( 8,969) ( 1,261)
  267,554 ( 184,389)   83,165   231,241 ( 156,880)   74,361

6     PRoPERTy, PlAnT AnD EQuIPMEnT

  Building  Furniture,     
  and other Plant and fixtures and  Construction 
 Land constructions equipment equipment Vehicles in progress Total 
 USD USD USD USD USD USD 
At 1 January 2013
Cost  42,182  32,539   57,535   8,458   5,991   16,267 162,972
Accumulated depreciation  -  (     6,328)  (   21,344)  (    3,719)  (   3,848)  - (   35,239)
Net book amount   42,182   26,211   36,191   4,739   2,143   16,267  127,733

Year ended 31 December
2013
Opening net book amount  42,182  26,211   36,191   4,739   2,143   16,267   127,733
Additions  20  179   860   2,439   198   5,597   9,293
Disposals  -   (        93)  (         2)  (        23)  (       65)  -  (       183)
Transfers  2,640  6,493   6,978   (          1)  134   (    16,244)  - 
Adjustments  67  1,594  (    2,158)  205  (     309)  1,308  707
Depreciation charge  -  (   1,402)  (    5,930)  (   1,101)  (     513)  -  (     8,946)
Closing net book amount   44,909   32,982   35,939   6,258   1,588   6,928  128,604

At 31 December 2013
Cost  44,909  40,712   63,213   11,078   5,949   6,928  174,079
Accumulated depreciation  -  (   7,730)  (  27,274)  (    4,820)  (   4,361)  -  (   45,205)
Net book amount   44,909   32,982    35,939    6,258    1,588    6,928  128,604

Year ended 31 December
2014
Opening net book amount  44,909  32,982  35,939  6,258  1,588  6,928  128,604
Acquisition of subsidiaries  14,646  14,834  5,568  1,450  102  2,044  38,644
Additions  761  94  7,871  4,161  405  26,922  40,214
Disposals   -  -  (     450)  (       87)  (        87)  (         26)  (       650)
Transfers  -  11,513  89  -  -  (  11,602)  -
Adjustments   -  23  (       84)  (     354)   -  (    2,416)  (    2,831)
Depreciation charge  -  (   1,874)  (  6,287)  (  1,313)  (     405)  -  (    9,879)
Closing net book amount   60,316   57,572   42,646   10,115   1,603   21,850  194,102

At 31 December 2014
Cost  60,316  75,238  83,101  17,071  5,299  21,850  262,875
Accumulated depreciation  -  ( 17,666)  ( 40,455)  (   6,956)  (   3,696)  -  (  68,733)
Net book amount   60,316   57,572   42,646    10,115   1,603   21,850  194,102
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a) As of 31 December 2014 the Group made additions amounting to USD40,214. The additions are distributed as follows: 
(i) USD5,414 for plant infrastructure, (ii) USD 7,404 for the purchase of machinery and equipment, (iii) USD4,668 for 
office and IT department expansion, USD 761 related to acquisition of lands and USD405 related to purchase of vehicles  
(iv) USD7,594 related to constructions on the plots of blueberries, asparagus, grapes and other crops  (v) USD 10,079 
for irrigation Infrastructure and equipment (vi) USD 3,889 for the infrastructure to aquaculture. As of 31 December 
2013 the Group made additions amounting to USD1,922 related to the construction and installation of the calibrator of 
avocado; USD1,824 related to the construction of the freezing plant; USD3,010 related to  the purchase of machinery 
and equipment, USD849 related to the expansion of offices and systems; USD908 related to constructions on the plots 
of plum, grape and mango; USD603 related to irrigation equipment; USD157 related to the purchase of vehicles for 
administration, and USD20 for acquisition of agricultural land.

b) As of 31 December 2014 losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment amounts to USD177 (gain of USD246 as 
of 31 December 2013) (see Note 30).  The carrying amount of assets disposed of during 2014 amounted to USD650 
(USD183 as of 31 December 2013).

c) As of 31 December 2014, property, plant and equipment include fixed assets acquired under finance leases, the carrying 
amount of which amounts to USD11,971 (USD6,665 as of 31 December 2013) net of their corresponding accumulated 
depreciation.  The payments of these obligations are secured with the assets acquired under the lease contracts.

d) At 31 December 2014 the net adjustments mainly corresponds to units in transit amounting to USD1,715 and negative 
variation of permanent investments for the year amounting to USD701. The other adjustments in buildings and other 
constructions, plant and equipment, and other equipment, correspond to the reclassifications for presenting the fixed 
assets in the corresponding category according to their nature. At 31 December 2013 the net adjustments in construction 
in progress correspond to the reclassification of materials amounting to USD 1,294 related to the constructions of 
irrigation infrastructure and USD 587 corresponding to the negative variation of permanent investments for the year.

e) As of 31 December 2014, property, plant and equipment are insured up to a value of USD80,000 (USD60,000 as of 31 
December 2013).  Management believes that this policy is consistent with international practices in the industry and takes 
into account the risk of eventual losses due to the nature of the assets.

f) The total depreciation for the year 2014 includes USD1,584 that corresponds to the depreciation of the fair value of 
acquired assets in business combinations (USD1,569 at 2013).

g) The allocation of the depreciation charge is as follows: 

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD

 Cost of sales (Note 26)   9,122  8,184
 Administrative expenses (Note 28)  757  762
  9,879  8,946

h) Bank borrowings are secured by fixed assets with a total amount of USD47,000 in 2014 (USD45,000 in 2013) (Note 19).

i) An independent valuation of the Group’s land, buildings and other constructions and plant and equipment was performed 
by appraisers to determine the fair value of the land and buildings as at 31 December 2014 and 2013. The different levels 
have been defined as follows:

The information used by the Group to estimate the fair value is categorized in following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).
- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, 

as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).
- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Fair value measurement at 31 December using significant unobservable inputs Level 3:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD

Land   116,360  100,953
Buildings and other constructions  59,984  33,543
Plant and equipment  59,000  45,472
  235,344  179,968

Buildings and other constructions include the industrial building at a fair value of USD 708 (USD607 as of 31 December 
2013). Fair values of other assets included in buildings and other constructions are similar to their carrying amounts.
Plant and equipment include irrigation equipment at fair value of USD20,457 (USD20,333 as of 31 December 2013). Fair 
values of other assets included in plant and equipment are similar to their carrying amounts.

There were no transfers between any levels during 2014 and 2013.

Valuation processes of the Group

On an annual basis, the Group engages external, independent and qualified valuers to determine the fair value of the Group’s 
land, buildings and other constructions and plant and equipment. The fair values of the land, buildings and other constructions 
and plant and equipment have been determined by TINSA S.A.C.

The external valuations of the level 3 land and buildings have been performed using unobservable inputs. The external 
appraisers, has determined these inputs based on the size, age and condition of the land, buildings and other constructions 
and plant and equipment, the state of the local economy and comparable prices in the corresponding national economy.
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Information about fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) - 31 December 2014

        Range of   
  Fair value at       unobservable inputs  Relationship of 
  31 December  Valuation  Unobservable  (probability -  unobservable 
Description  2014 USD  technique (s)  inputs  weighted average)  inputs to fair values 

    Sales    US13.2 - USD26.5  The higher the price 
Land   116,360 comparison   Price per   (USD20.3)  per square meter, the 
    approach  hectare    higher the fair value 

Buildings    Sales  New similar  USD0.1 - USD2  The higher the new 
and other   59,984 comparison   value  (USD1.5)  similar value, the higher
constructions    approach  (USD/m2)    the fair value 

Plant and   59,000 Sales  New similar  USD3 - USD5  The higher the new 
Equipment    comparison   value  (USD4)  similar value, the higher
    approach  (USD/Unit)    the fair value 

Information about fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) - 31 December 2013

        Range of   
  Fair value at       unobservable inputs  Relationship of 
  31 December  Valuation  Unobservable  (probability -  unobservable 
Description  2013 USD  technique (s)  inputs  weighted average)  inputs to fair values 

    Sales    US13.1 - USD25.8  The higher the price 
Land   100,953 comparison   Price per   (USD20.5)  per square meter, the 
    approach  hectare    higher the fair value 

Buildings    Sales  New similar  USD0.2 – USD1.9  The higher the new 
and other   33,543 comparison   value  (USD1.7)  similar value, the higher
constructions    approach      the fair value 

Plant and   45,472 Sales  New similar  USD3 - USD5  The higher the new 
Equipment    comparison   value  (USD4)  similar value, the higher
    approach      the fair value 

7     InVESTMEnT In ASSoCIATE

 % share 
 in the capital stock  2014  2013 
 %   USD  USD  

Empacadora de Frutos Tropicales S.A.C.   40.00  1,782  864

On 30 September 2006 Camposol S.A. participated in the incorporation of Empacadora de Frutos Tropicales S.A.C (Empafrut), 
a Peruvian company engaged in the processing and commercialization of fresh fruit products, mainly mangoes.  The cost of 
the investment amounted to USD600. 

The Group’s share in the 2014 income of this company amounted to USD918 (USD305 in 2013) which are shown separately 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The summarized financial information at 100% for this associated company available at 31 December is as follows:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Total assets   7,468  5,098
Total liabilities   3,011  2,938
Total revenue   7,282  3,806
Profit for the year   2,507  813
Total equity   4,457  2,160
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8     InTAnGIBlE ASSETS

The movement of the cost and the accumulated amortization of intangibles assets is as follows:

    Customer
  Goodwill   relationships Software  Others  Total 
  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 

Year ended 31 December
2013
Opening net book amount   12,997   4,265   2,923            158   20,343
Additions            -           -  415           -  415
Amortization charge     - ( 2,132) ( 477)           - ( 2,609)
Closing net book amount    12,997    2,133    2,861            158    18,149

As at 31 December 2013
Cost   12,997   9,566   4,854   162   27,579
Accumulated amortization    - ( 7,433) ( 1,993) ( 4) ( 9,430)
Net book amount    12,997    2,133    2,861            158    18,149

Year ended 31 December
2014
Opening net book amount    12,997    2,133    2,861            158    18,149
Additions             -           -  152            -  156
Acquisition of subsidiary           1,009            -   -           -  1,009
Disposals             -           - ( 45) ( 28) ( 73)
Amortization charge     - ( 2,133) ( 490) (         34) ( 2,657)
Closing net book amount    14,006     -  2,478            100    16,584

As at 31 December 2014
Cost   14,006   9,566   5,015   396   28,983
Accumulated amortization    - ( 9,566) ( 2,537) ( 296) ( 12,399)
Net book amount    14,006     -  2,478            100    16,584

The amortization of customer relationship amounting to USD2,133 in 2014 (USD2,132 in 2013) was charged to selling 
expenses (Note 27) and the amortization of software was charged to administrative expenses (Note 28) by USD482 (USD469 
for 2013) and to cost of sales (Note 26) by USD8 for 2014 and 2013 in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill  

On 17 October 2007, Camposol AS acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Siboure Holding Inc, parent of Camposol S.A.; 
as a result of this transaction the Group recognized a goodwill amounting to USD9,542.

In 2010 Marinazul S.A. acquired 100% of the shares of Domingo rodas S.A. for a consideration of USD164.  The fair value 
of the net liabilities acquired amounted to USD883 giving rise to a goodwill amounting to USD1,047. In addition the Group 
acquired in 2010 100% of the outstanding shares of Camarones S.A. for a consideration of USD321. The fair value of the net 
assets acquired amounted to USD399, giving rise to the recognition of a gain amounting to USD78. 

In February 2014, Marinazul S.A. acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Pacífico Azul S.A.C. for a consideration of 
USD4,338. The fair value of the net assets acquired amounted to USD5,102, giving rise to the recognition of a gain amounting 
to USD 764.

In November 2014, Marinazul S.A. acquired 80% of the outstanding shares of Corporación refrigerados INY S.A. for a 
consideration of USD9,876. The fair value of the net assets acquired amounted to USD30,280, giving rise to the recognition 
of a gain amounting to USD14,348. In addition, the Group acquired 75% of the outstanding shares of Pesquera ABC S.A.C., 
for a consideration of USD3,928. The fair value of the net assets acquired amounted to USD3,892, giving rise to a goodwill 
amounting to USD1,009.

Impairment tests on goodwill 

An impairment test on goodwill was performed by comparing value in use (fair value less cost to sale for shellfish) of the cash-
generating units and their carrying amount (including goodwill).  To estimate the value in use, the Group has used the following 
assumptions: 

•	 Projections are based on the Group’s forecasts approved by management.
•	 An 8-year term (5-year in 2013) for asparagus and avocado and 5-year term for shellfish of cash flows has been used in 

the calculation, as the forecasted cash flows can be based on reasonable and reliable assumptions. 
•	 Projections do not include cash inflows or outflows from financing activities.
•	 Future cash flows are real pre-tax for asparagus and avocado and post-tax for shellfish. 
•	 The risk adjusted rate is affected by the specific industry and market risks; therefore it represents the rate that a market 

participant would use.
•	 Goodwill is allocated to three cash-generating units (asparagus, avocado and shellfish) as follows:

  Asparagus  Avocado  Shellfish
2014  3,778  9,219  1,009
2013  3,778  9,219              - 

•	 Cash flows projections comprise the entire cash flows expected to be generated in the normal course of business, 
including the cash flows that relate to biological assets. All relevant non-current assets have been allocated to each CGU. 

Cash flows beyond the eight-year (five-year in 2013) for asparagus and avocado and 5-year for shellfish period are extrapolated 
using the estimated growth rates of 2.5% for asparagus and avocado and 1.5% for shellfish.  The growth rate does not exceed 
the long-term average growth rate for the industry in which the CGU operates.
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The key assumptions used for value in use calculations in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

 2014      2013    
 Asparagus  Avocado  Shellfish  Asparagus  Avocado  

Compound annual growth rate (%) -3.3  7  14.1  14  28 
Budgeted gross margin (%)  25  56  20  18  41 
Export prices (USD)  4.4  1.6  10.4  4.2  1.8 
risk adjusted rate (%)  11.1  11.6  10.2  10.9  11.9 

Compound annual growth rate, budgeted gross margin, export prices and risk adjusted rate disclosure above corresponds to 
the initial eight-year (five-year in 2013) for asparagus and avocado and to the initial five-year for shellfish.

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU within the operating segment.

Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectations of market development.  

Budgeted gross margin used in the fair value for Avocado has increased.  This is mainly driven by the expected recovery in 
2016 for avocado produce as well as the higher production performance of crops in the future, which is due to the nature of 
the life cycle of avocado crops and planned changes in sales strategies of the Group.

The average growth rates used are consistent with the actual performance in the avocado, asparagus and shellfish CGU’s and 
with the forecasts included in industry reports.  

Export prices are the average in the initial eight-year period for asparagus and avocado and five-year period for shellfish. Management 
determined budgeted export prices based on past performance, current industry trends and its expectations of market development.  

The risk adjusted rates used are pre-tax for asparagus and avocado and post-tax for shellfish and reflect specific risks relating 
to the relevant operating segment.

Sensitivity analysis of asparagus, avocado and shellfish 

Management performs a sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of changes in the assumptions used in the valuation model.  
In this respect, during 2014 the risk adjusted rate used by the Group was 11.6% for avocado, 11.1% for Asparagus and 10.2% 
for Shellfish. By increasing the risk adjusted rate to 20.71%, 13.65% and for asparagus and avocado, respectively, the recovery 
amounts would be equal to the carrying amounts in 2014, 23.95% and 13.47% in 2013.

If the budgeted compound annual growth rate in the initial eight-year period used in the value-in-use calculation for the 
avocado CGU had been 2% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2014 (5% instead of 7%), the Group would 
have not recognized impairment; if the budgeted compound annual growth rate in the initial five-year period at 31 December 
2013 if it had been 6% lower (22% instead 28%) the Group would have recognized an impairment of Goodwill by USD402.

If the budgeted compound annual growth rate in the initial eight-year period used in the value-in-use calculation for the 
asparagus CGU had been 2% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2014 (-5.3% instead of -3.3%), if the 
budgeted compound annual growth rate in the initial five-year period at 31 December 2013 if it had been 7% lower (7% 
instead of 14%), the Group would not have recognized impairment. 

If the budgeted compound annual growth rate in the initial five-year period used in the fair value less cost to sale calculation 
for Shellfish CGU had been 5% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2014 (9.1% instead of 14.1%), the Group 
would not have recognized impairment.

If the export prices used in the value-in-use calculation in the initial eight-year period for the avocado CGU had been 8% lower 
than management’s estimates at 31 December 2014, the Group would have recognized impairment of Goodwill by USD 261. 
If the export prices used in the value-in-use calculation in the initial five-year period for the avocado CGU had been 5% lower 
than management’s estimates at 31 December 2013, the Group would have recognized impairment of Goodwill by USD 830.

If the export prices used in the value-in-use calculation in the initial eight-year period for the asparagus CGU had been 22% 
lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2014, the Group would have recognized impairment of Goodwill by 
USD893. If the export prices used in the value-in-use calculation in the initial five-year period for the asparagus CGU had 
been 15% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2013, the Group would have recognized not impairment.

If the export prices used in the fair value less cost to sale calculation in the initial five-year period for Shellfish CGU had been 
10% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2014, the Group would have recognized not impairment. 

If the budgeted gross margin used in the value-in-use calculation in the initial eight-year period for the avocado CGU had 
been 13% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2014, the Group would have recognized an impairment of 
Goodwill of by USD308. If the budgeted gross margin used in the value-in-use calculation in the initial five-year period for the 
avocado CGU had been 6% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2013, the Group would have recognized an 
impairment of Goodwill by USD860.

If the budgeted gross margin used in the value-in-use calculation in the initial eight-year period for the asparagus CGU had 
been 15% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2014, the Group would not have recognized impairment. If 
the budgeted gross margin used in the value-in-use calculation in the initial five-year period for the asparagus CGU had been 
15% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2013, the Group would not have recognized impairment.

If the budgeted gross margin used in the fair value less cost to sale calculation in the initial five-year period for the Shellfish 
CGU had been 15% lower than management’s estimates at 31 December 2014, the Group would not have recognized 
impairment.
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Budgeted compound annual   Budgeted compound annual  Budgeted compound annual 
growth (Avocado CGU)  growth (Asparagus CGU)   growth (Shellfish CGU) 
Year  Variation  Impairment  Year  Variation  Impairment  Year  Variation  Impairment 

2014   -2%             - 2014   -2%             - 2014   -5%             -  
2013   -6%  402 2013   -7%             -     

Prices (Avocado CGU)  Prices (Asparagus CGU)  Prices (Shellfish CGU) 
Year  Variation  Impairment  Year  Variation  Impairment  Year  Variation  Impairment 

2014   -8%  261 2014   -22%  893 2014   -10%             -  
2013   -5%  830 2013   -15%             -      

Budgeted Gross Margin  Budgeted Gross Margin  Budgeted Gross Margin
(Avocado CGU)     (Asparagus CGU)    (Shellfish CGU)   
Year  Variation  Impairment  Year  Variation  Impairment  Year  Variation  Impairment 

2014   -13%  308 2014   -15%             - 2014   -15%             -  
2013    -6%  860 2013   -15%             -     

Yields (Avocado CGU)  Yields (Asparagus CGU)  Yields (Shellfish CGU) 
Year  Variation  Impairment  Year  Variation  Impairment  Year  Variation  Impairment 

2014   -5%             - 2014   -5%             - 2014   -5%             - 
2013   -5%             - 2013   -5%             -     

Despite the small growth rate in avocado, there is enormous potential for growth based on the opening of new markets for 
the coming years, improvements in production processes, and improvement in the performance of harvest.

Customer relationships  

The relationships with customers established over time become a valuable intangible for the Group. The loyalty of the 
customers had positive impacts on sales and profits during the last 10 years of operation of Camposol Group enabling the 
Group to reach a foreseeable growth. 

Predictable commercial relationships generate a set of economic benefits to the Group, including increased sales and 
minimization of sharp fluctuations in sales.  

The useful life of customer relationships is amortized over their estimated useful lives ranging from 2 to 8 years. As of 31 
December 2014 the customer relationship is fully amortized.

9     BIoloGICAl ASSETS 

The Group measures the value of agricultural plants and shrimps using the expected cash flows for the production of each of its 
biological assets. The cash flows included in the projections are discounted at the risk adjusted rates between 10.70% and 12.24%.

The movement for the period in the fair value of biological assets is as follows:

      Additions and         
  Opening balance  deductions  Closing balance      
        Market      Less  Non 
    Market    value    Final  current  current 
  Area  value   Area  (Note 32)  Area  balance  portion  portion 
  Has  USD  Has  USD  Has  USD  USD  USD 
2014
Asparagus   2,395  34,247 ( 473)  (12,730)  1,922  21,517 ( 3,012)  18,505
Avocados   2,643  198,307  10  (50,444)  2,653  147,863 ( 2,892)  144,971
Mangoes   450  4,250  77  (1,240)  527  3,010 ( 331)  2,679
Pepper   332  570 ( 332)  (570)  -  -  -  -
Shrimp   636  6,193  414  2,114   1,050  8,307 ( 8,307)  -
Grapes   451  25,900  -  (3,629)  451  22,271 ( 4,009)  18,262
Tangerine   102  8,986  -  11,186   102  20,172  -   20,172
Blueberry              212    23,716   354   10,096   566  33,812 (  676)  33,136
   7,221  302,169  50  ( 45,217)   7,271  256,952 ( 19,227)  237,725

      Additions and         
  Opening balance  deductions  Closing balance      
        Market      Less  Non 
    Market    value    Final  current  current 
  Area  value   Area  (Note 32)  Area  balance  portion  portion 
  Has  USD  Has  USD  Has  USD  USD  USD  
2013
Asparagus   2,516  27,429 ( 121)  6,818   2,395  34,247 ( 3,760)  30,487
Avocados   2,616  177,782  27   20,525   2,643  198,307 ( 3,878)  194,429
Mangoes   450  2,976           -   1,274   450  4,250 ( 467)  3,783
Pepper   291   619  41  ( 49)  332  570 ( 570)   -
Shrimp   635   5,203  1   990   636  6,193 ( 6,193)   - 
Grapes   451  20,638           -  5,262   451  25,900 ( 3,871)  22,029
Tangerine   102  8,786           -  200   102  8,986           -  8,986
Blueberry                206  15,667   6    8,049   212  23,716 (  448)  23,268
   7,267  259,100 ( 46)   43,069   7,221  302,169 ( 19,187)  282,982



94    95 

Annual Report 2014  CAMPOSOL

The main assumptions used to estimate the fair values of the biological assets were as follows: 

Asparagus: 
- 44 plots in Agromás, Pur Pur, Mar Verde, Gloria, Agricultor, Aeropuerto, Oasis, San José, Sincromax, Terra and Yakuy Minka 

(53 plots in 2013).
- Plots have a useful life of 10 years for 2014 and 2013.
- Each harvest cycle lasts 6 months for 2014 and 2013. 
- Assumed reduction of 45% of production in year 2018 due to the “Fenómeno del Niño” for 2014 and 2013.
- Plots have their first harvest after 1 year from planting 2014 and 2013.
- risk adjusted rate of 11.1% for 2014 (10.9% for 2013).
 
Avocados: 
- 56 plots in Frusol, Agromás and Yakuy Minka. (56 plots in 2013).
- Plots have a useful life of 20 years for 2014 and 2013.
- Every harvest cycle lasts 1 year for 2014 and 2013.
- Assumed reduction of 80% of production in year 2018 due to the “Fenómeno del Niño” for 2014 and 2013.
- Plots have their first harvest after 3 years from planting 2014 and 2013.
- risk adjusted rate of 11.64% for 2014 (11.9% for 2013).

Mangoes: 
- 14 plots in Atypsa, Balfass and Dunas (9 plots in 2013). 
- Plots have a useful life of 20 years for 2014 and 2013.
- Every harvest cycle lasts 1 year for 2014 and 2013.
- Assumed reduction of 80% of production in year 2018 due to the “Fenómeno del Niño” for 2014 and 2013. 
- Plots have their first harvest after 3 years from planting 2014 and 2013.
- risk adjusted rate of 12.24% for 2014 (10.9% for 2013).

Grapes: 
- 14 plots in Agroalegre (14 plots in 2013). 
- The plots have a useful life of 20 years for 2014 and 2013. 
- Each harvest cycle last 1 year for 2014 and 2013.
- Assumed reduction of 80% of production in year 2018 due to the “Fenómeno del Niño” for 2014 and 2013. 
- Plots have their first harvest after 1 year from planting 2014 and 2013.
- risk adjusted rate of 11.39% for 2014 (10.9% for 2013).

Pepper: 
- 0 plots lands from Terra (13 plots in 2013).
- The plots have a useful life of 8 months for 2013.
- Each harvest cycle last 8 months including preparation, maintenance and harvest for 2013.
- risk adjusted rate of 10.9% for 2013.

Blueberry: 
- 21 plots in Oro azul and Yakuy Minka (5 plots in 2013). 
- The plots have a useful life of 11 years for 2014 and 2013.
- Each harvest cycle last 1 year for 2014 and 2013.
- Assumed reduction of 45% of production in year 2018 due to the “Fenómeno del Niño”. 
- Lots have their first harvest after 2 years from planting 2013 and 2012.
- risk adjusted rate of 11.14% for 2014 (10.9% for 2013).

Tangerine: 
- 5 plots in Yakuy Minka (4 plots in 2013).
- The plots have a useful life of 20 years for 2014 and 2013. 
- Each harvest cycle last 1 year for 2014 and 2013.
- Assumed reduction of 80% of production in year 2018 due to the “Fenómeno del Niño”. 
- Plots have their first harvest after 3 years from planting.
- risk adjusted rate of 11.64% for 2014 (10.9% for 2013).

Shrimps: 
- 204 shrimp farms that cover an area of 1,050 Has for 2014 and 2013.
- Each has a useful life between 180 and 200 days, for 2014 and 2013. 
- Each harvest cycle of shrimps lasts approximately 25 weeks, including preparation, maintenance, and harvest for 2014 

and 2013.
- risk adjusted rate of 10.68% for 2014 (10.9% for 2013).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the projected production, with all other 
variables held constant, on the Group’s pre-tax profit:

Increase/  Effect on 
decrease   profit 
production rate  before tax 
  USD 
2014
+2%    8,363
-2%   ( 8,363)

2013
+2%    9,403 
-2%   ( 9,402)
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the projected prices for each biological 
asset, with all other variables held constant, on the Group’s pre-tax profit:

Increase/  Effect on 
decrease   profit 
prices  before tax 
  USD 
2014
+2%    8,094
-2%   ( 8,094)
2013
+2%    10,398
-2%   ( 10,398)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the projected maintenance costs of 
growing and harvesting, with all other variables held constant, on the Group’s pre-tax profit:

Increase/  Effect on 
decrease   profit 
costs  before tax 
  USD 
2014
+2%   ( 5,393)
-2%    5,393
2013
+2%   ( 5,333)
-2%    5,228

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in expected yields performance for each 
biological asset, with all other variables held constant, on the Group’s pre-tax profit:

Increase/  Effect on 
decrease   profit 
yields  before tax 
  USD 
2014
+2%    9,372
-2%   ( 9,371)
2013
+2%    9,331
-2%   ( 9,331)

The reconciliation in the fair value of the biological assets within level 3 of the hierarchy is as follows:

 Asparagus Avocados    Mangoes    Pepper     Shrimp     Grapes         Tangerine      Blueberry     Total 
 USD USD USD USD USD USD USD USD USD
31 December 2014
Initial balance of fair value 34,247 198,307 4,250 570 6,193 25,900 8,986 23,716 302,169
Harvest (   14,493) (    14,371) (       2,234) (      570) ( 22,601) (    9,839) (    990) (       752) (  65,850)
Price change 5,764 (    19,114) 1,965        - 2,323 1,026 3,936 (    9,449) (  13,549)
Change in fair value due to
biological transformation (   15,227) (    31,876) (      3,689) (       21) (   2,725) (    3,828) 7,371 16,737 (  33,258)
Increase due to purchases  11,226  14,917  2,727  21  25,117  9,012          869  3,560  67,449
Final balance of fair value  21,517  147,863  3,010         -  8,307  22,271  20,172  33,812  256,952

Total gains or losses for the 
period included in profit or 
loss for assets held at the 
end of the reporting period,
under ‘Change in fair value 
of biological assets’  (     9,463) (    50,990)   (     1,724)  (       21) (      402)    (    2,802)  11,307  7,288 (  46,807)
Change in unrealised gains 
or losses for the period 
included in profit or loss for 
assets held at the end of 
the reporting period (     2,018)  (    37,925)   994  -  (      524)  6,210  3,312  (     2,215) (  32,166)

 
31 December 2013
Initial balance of fair value 24,681 170,975 6,257 619 5,203 16,086 5,459 16,419 245,699
Harvest (     5,251) (      9,707) (        527) (      708) ( 10,938) (     1,861) (      179) (      845) (  30,016)
Price change 17,997 3,784  65 192 686 1,262  1,832 (   2,244) 23,574
Change in fair value due to
biological transformation (     2,193) 7,663 (     1,545)      - - 10,413 1,873 272 16,483
Increase due to purchases  (        987)  25,592          -  467  11,242          -     -  10,114  46,428
Final balance of fair value  34,247  198,307  4,250  570  6,193  25,900  8,985  23,716  302,168

Total gains or losses for the 
period included in profit or 
loss for assets held at the 
end of the reporting period,
under ‘Change in fair value 
of biological assets’  9,691  16,668  2,546  (      291)  388   5,330  (     300)  6,025  40,057
Change in unrealised gains 
or losses for the period 
included in profit or loss for 
assets held at the end of 
the reporting period      15,804  35,985  (      1,480)  192  686  11,675  3,705  7,857  74,424
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Mangoes 3,010 4,250 Discounted Crop yield - tonnes 2.9 – 25 (17.9) The higher the crop yield, 
plantation   cash flows Per hectare per year the higher the fair value 
    
    Mangoes price 578 - 418 The higher the market price,
     per tonne the higher the fair value 
      
    Discounted rate 2014 (12.24%) The higher the discount rate,
     2013 (10.9%) the lower the fair value 

Pepper – 570 Discounted Crop yield - tonnes 30 The higher the crop yield, 
plantation   cash flows Per hectare per year the higher the fair value 
         
    Pepper price 456 - 480 The higher the market price, 
     (468) per tonne the higher the fair value 
         
    Discounted rate 2014 (-) The higher the discount rate, 
     2013 (10.9%) the lower the fair value

Shrimp 8,307 6,193 Discounted Crop yield - tonnes 2,343 The higher the crop yield,
plantation   cash flows Per hectare per year the higher the fair value 
         
    Shrimp price 5,483 - 5,765 The higher the market price, 
     (5,624) the higher the fair value
         
    Discounted rate 2014 (10.68%) The higher the discount rate,
     2013 (10.9%) the lower the fair value
 
Grapes 22,271 25,900 Discounted Crop yield - tonnes 12.4 – 25.6 (22.3) The higher the crop yield, 
plantation   cash flows Per hectare per year the higher the fair value   
         
    Grapes price 1,351 - 1,360 The higher the market price, 
     per tonne the higher the fair value 
         
    Discounted rate 2014 (11.39%) The higher the discount rate,
     2013 (10.9%) the lower the fair value

Tangerine 20,172 8,896 Discounted Crop yield - tonnes 17 - 70 (44.9) The higher the crop yield, 
plantation   cash flows Per hectare per year the higher the fair value 
         
    Tangerine price 772  The higher the market price, 
     per tonne the higher the fair value
         
    Discounted rate 2014 (11.64%) The higher the discount rate,
     2013 (10.9%) the lower the fair value

Blueberry 33,812 23,716 Discounted Crop yield - tonnes 1.4 - 15 (0.4) The higher the crop yield, 
plantation   cash flows Per hectare per year the higher the fair value 
         
    Blueberry price 4,661 – 4,428 The higher the market price,
     per tonne the higher the fair value   
      
    Discounted rate 2014 (11.14%) The higher the discount rate,
     2013 (10.9%) the lower the fair value 

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s finance department includes a team that performs the valuations of biological assets required for financial 
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values.

This team reports directly to the chief financial officer (CFO) and the audit committee (AC). 

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the CFO, AC and the valuation team at least once every 
quarter, in line with the Group’s quarterly reporting dates.

At 31 December 2014 and 2013 valuation inputs for biological assets correspond to level 3 of the hierarchy defined in Note 
3.3. There were no transfers between any levels during the year.

The following unobservable inputs were used to measure the Group’s biological assets:

     Range of   
     unobservable Relationship 
     inputs of 
 Fair value at 31 December   (probability- unobservable 
 2014 2013 Valuation Unobservable weighted inputs to fair 
Description USD USD technique inputs average) value 

Asparagus 21,517 34,247 Discounted Crop yield - tonnes 4.3 - 9 (7.1) The higher the crop yield, 
plantation   cash flows Per hectare (white) per year the higher the fair value 
         
    Crop yield - tonnes 2.2 - 6.8 (4.3)  The higher the crop yield, 
    Per hectare (green) per year the higher the fair value 
         
    White asparagus  1,336 - 1,367 The higher the market price, 
    price per tonne the higher the fair value   
         
    Green asparagus 1,400 The higher the market price, 
    price per tonne the higher the fair value 
         
    Discounted rate 2014 (11.1%) The higher the discount rate,
     2013 (10.9%) the lower the fair value          

Avocados 147,858 198,307 Discounted Crop yield - tonnes 3.7 – 18.2 (11.3) The higher the crop yield, 
plantation   cash flows Per hectare per year the higher the fair value 
         
    Avocados price 885 – 1,023 The higher the market price, 
     per tonne the higher the fair value 
     
    Discounted rate 2014 (11.64%) The higher the discount rate,
     2013 (11.9%) the lower the fair value 
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10     fInAnCIAl InSTRuMEnTS By CATEGoRy

Financial assets as per the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

 Loans and  receivables 
 USD
2014
Trade accounts receivable (Note 14)  45,994
Other accounts receivable  
(excluding prepayments and statutory obligations) (Note 13)  3,648
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 15)  38,005 
      87,647 
2013
Trade accounts receivable (Note 14)       55,170
Other accounts receivable
(excluding prepayments and statutory obligations) (Note 13)         2,573
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 15)       27,240
       84,983

Financial liabilities as per the consolidated financial position as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follow:

 Other financial liabilities  
 USD 
2014
Trade accounts payable (Note 20)  48,315
Other accounts payable (excluding statutory 
liabilities and non-financial liabilities)  Note 21  15,324
Bank loans (Note 23)  59,603
Long-term debt (Note 19)  209,109
  332,351

 Other financial liabilities  
 USD 
2013
Trade accounts payable (Note 20)  60,655
Other accounts payable (excluding statutory 
liabilities and non-financial liabilities)  Note 21  13,462
Bank loans (Note 23)  26,025
Long-term debt (Note 19)  137,577
  237,719

11     CREDIT QuAlITy of fInAnCIAl ASSETS 

The Group assesses the credit quality of its trade accounts receivable by reference to historical information about the 
counterparties’ default rates as follows:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD
Trade accounts receivable
New costumers (less than 6 months as a costumer)  7,440            2,171
Existing customers (more than 6 months)
without non-compliance experience in the past  30,660  50,216
Existing customers (more than 6 months)
with some non-compliance experience in the past  7,894  1,912
  45,994  54,299
Other accounts receivable
Existing customers (more than 6 months)
without non-compliance experience in the past  3,648  2,573

See credit quality of deposits in banks in Note 15.

12     InVEnToRIES 
 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 
Finished products:
- Asparagus  20,115   17,309
- Peppers  12,978   6,725
- Artichokes  10,202   6,305
- Shrimp  7,739   1,758
- Avocados  1,276   935
- Mangoes  1,123   1,268
- Grapes  3,012   2,536
- Blueberry  1,221   298
Product in process  1,862   715
Supplies  15,806   9,517
Packs  13,602   12,108
Seeds, seedlings and others  4,005   1,953
In-transit raw material and supplies  2,596    2,046
Other   2,516    477
  98,053   63,950
Provision for obsolescence of inventories ( 2,817) ( 868)
   95,236    63,082
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Finished products by type of produce for the year ended 31 December is as follows:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 
Fresh  12,882   4,896
Preserved  39,219   27,843
Frozen   5,565   4,395
   57,666   37,134

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013 inventories are free of any pledges as guarantee on liabilities.

The cost of inventories recognized as expense and included in the cost of sales amounted to USD133,492 (2013: USD112,670).

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 
Movement in the provision for obsolescence of inventories: 
Opening balance  (  868) ( 1,484)
Additions (Notes 30 and 32) ( 4,127) ( 1,218)
Write-off (Note 32)  3,377   1,834
Provisions arising from business combination ( 224)         -        
Balance at the end of the year  ( 1,842) ( 868)

13     oTHER ACCounTS RECEIVABlE
 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 
Value added tax (IGV in Perú)  8,074   3,056
Custom duties refund – drawback (Perú)  2,491   2,551
Due from employees  344   143
Prepayments to suppliers  1,444   541
related companies (Note 36)              -   80
Loans to third parties              2,266   1,489
Subsidies  332   193
Claims to third parties   444   163
Accounts receivable for services rendered to third parties   395   274
Other  750     840
  16,540   9,330
Less:
Provision for impairment of other accounts receivable ( 883) ( 609)
  15,657   8,721

The movement of the provision for impairment of other accounts receivable is as follows:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Opening balance ( 609) ( 786)
Additions (Note 30) ( 205)   - 
Write-Off               -               145
Provisions arising from business combination ( 83)              - 
reclassification   14   32)
Balance at the end of the year ( 883) ( 609)

Other accounts receivables not provisioned are current and are not impaired. 

The drawback (custom duties refund) recovered during the year 2014 amounted to USD9,034 (USD7,675 in 2013). receivables 
from employees are not interest-bearing and are unsecured.

14     TRADE ACCounTS RECEIVABlE

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Third parties  52,150   60,063
Less: 
Provision for impairment of trade accounts receivable ( 6,165) ( 4,893)
  45,994    55,170

Trade accounts receivable mainly comprise invoices for the sale of fresh, preserved and frozen products. Turnover ranges 
between 30 and 180 days and are not interest-bearing.

Trade accounts receivable in foreign currency amounts to USD13,999 in Euros (in 2013 USD14,608, USD59 and USD30 in 
Euros, NOK and Nuevo Sol, respectively). The remaining balances for both years are denominated in US Dollars.
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The movement of the provision for impairment of trade accounts receivable is as follows:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Opening balance  ( 4,893) ( 5,001)
Additions (Notes 30 and 32) (              1,357)             - 
recoveries (Note 30)             -  1
Write-Off             -  110
reclassification   85 ( 3)
Balance at the end of the year  ( 6,165) ( 4,893)

The Group does not ask for collaterals to secure the full collection of its trade accounts receivable.

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the accounts provided for impairment have more than one year past due.

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the ageing analysis of trade accounts receivable is as follows:

      31-90  91-180  180-360  More than 
  Total  Current  days  days  days  360 days 
  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 

At 31 December 2014   45,994  38,860  4,969  409  1,649  107
At 31 December 2013   55,170  35,810  17,203  245  1,767  145

As of 31 December 2014, trade accounts receivable amounting to USD107 (USD145 in 2013) although past due for more than 
one year, are not impaired; therefore, no provision for impairment on these accounts has been accounted for. As of December 
31, 2014, trade accounts receivable amounting to USD6,165 (USD4,893 in 2013) are impaired; for which the Group has 
recognized a provision for impairment.  The individually impaired accounts relate to customers who are in unexpected difficult 
economic situations or / and under litigation.  These accounts are past due for more than a year.
As of 31 December 2014 and 2013 these impaired customers have not pledged any security for their debt. 

The fair value of accounts receivable approximates their carrying amounts due to their short-term maturities.

15     CASH AnD CASH EQuIVAlEnTS AnD CASH SuBJECT To RESTRICTIon

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Cash in hand  42  32
Cash at banks   20,789  20,984
In-transit remittances  5              - 
Short-term deposits  7,500              - 
Short-term investments    2,169  6,224
Cash and cash equivalents  30,505  27,240

Cash subject to restriction  7,500           - 
  38,005  27,240

The Group’s cash at bank amounts to USD32,030, USD3,206 and USD2,766 (in 2013 USD12,381, USD3,641 and USD4,962) 
in U.S. Dollars, Nuevo Sol and Euros, respectively.  The 2014 short-term deposits are denominated in U.S. Dollars.

The short-term deposits comprise balance in banks with maturities of less than three months.  As of 31 December 2014 the 
time deposits have generated interest for USD116 (USD36 to 31 December 2013) (Note 31).  

Cash subject to restriction corresponds to guarantee deposits in a bank account in Scotiabank. On December 23, 2014, 
Camposol S.A. voiced its interest of private initiative called “Supplemental Development of Santa Anita Wholesale Market”. 
The project includes the concession for the design, construction, financing, maintenance and operation of a modular and 
multifunctional for handling fresh produce plant. In order to formalize this intention, Camposol S.A. constituted a joint bank 
letter of guarantee in favor of the City Hall of Lima by a rising value to USD 7.5 million with a term of 180 days from the date 
of issuance. This deposit will be returned to Camposol if the bid is awarded and the signing of the contract or otherwise should 
other interested and Camposol S.A. lose public tender.

The short-term investments correspond to a fixed portfolio of debt instruments which bears a short-term market interest rate 
of 1.5%. At 31 December 2014 have been generated a negative profitability for USD 8 (negative profitability for USD623 to 
31 December 2013) (Note 31).

Their credit classification is as follows:
 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 
Bank deposits 
Classification Aaa  2,814  3,764
Classification A +  24,157  17,606
Classification A  3,325  5,777
Others  162  61
  30,458  27,208

The balances above do not include the balance of cash in hand and in-transit remittances.
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16     SHAREHolDERS’ EQuITy 

Share capital and premium 

The share capital and premium are as follows:

 Number of  Share  Share  Treasury   
 shares  capital  premium  shares  Total 
     USD  USD  USD 

31 December 2012   29,435   507   212,318  ( 11,592)   201,233
Treasury shares   2,969          -            -   11,592    11,592
31 December 2013 and 2014   32,404   507   212,318              -   212,825

In 2012, the total authorized number of ordinary shares is 40,000,000 shares with a par value of €0.01 per share.  All shares 
issued have been fully paid-in.

The Group’s 2,570,000 initial shares do not entitled the holder to any voting rights or the right to dividend distribution.  These 
shares correspond to the first capital contribution for purposes of creating the entity.

In April 2008, the Company issued 27,925,070 shares to the shareholders of Camposol AS (Norway) in exchange for an equal 
number of shares in that company (Note 1-b).

In May 2008, the Company issued 1,908,750 new ordinary shares at a price of 7,859 US dollars per share. 

Share premium reserve is not available for distribution.

Treasury shares 

The Group was authorized to acquire own shares up to a maximum of 10% of the issued shares of the Company granted 
by the Annual General Meeting held on 24 May 2011. As of 31 December 2012, the Group holds 2,968,502 own shares, 
constituting approximately 9.95% of the issued shares in the Company.

The Group paid a total amount of USD11,592 for the purchase of 2,968,502 of its own shares (total nominal value of 17 US 
dollars).

On 21 October 2013, the Board of Directors of Camposol Holding Limited unanimously approved the tender of Camposol 
Holding Limited and Camposol S.A., holding 2,968,502 shares in the Company.  
The Group received a total amount of USD 12,417 for sale 2,968,502 own shares. The gain on disposal of treasury shares 
amounted to USD825 is recognized as other reserves in the consolidated statements of changes in equity.

Shareholder 

As of December 31, 2014 Generación del Pacífico Grupo SL (formerly Dyer Coriat Holding SL) has the 100% of the shares of 
the Company.

Non-controlling interest 

The non-controlling interest is related to the change in the shareholding in Marinazul S.A., Corporación refrigerados Iny S.A. 
and Pesquera ABC S.A.C.

17     DEfERRED InCoME TAX

The movement in the deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Opening balance  40,124   30,064
Expense for the year (Note 33) ( 12,838)  10,060
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 24)  5,211
Equity  121            - 
Balance at the end of the year  32,618   40,124
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Deferred tax relates to the following items:

 Opening  Income  Acquisition of    Closing 
 balance  statement  Subsidiaries  Equity  balance 
 USD  USD   USD    USD   USD  
2014  
Deferred tax assets 
Tax losses carried-forward  7,271   3,099                -           -  10,370
Provisions  748   90   126            -  964
Others   346    176                 -           -   522
   8,365    3,365   126            -  11,856

Deferred tax liabilities 
Fair value of biological assets  41,475  ( 8,745)                -      -  33,138
Fair value of fixed assets at                -               -  408            -               - 
acquition of subsidiary  6,165  ( 395)  3,074             -  8,844
Fair value of customer relationships  320  ( 320)                -            -                - 
Differences in depreciation rates  402  ( 296)                -            -  106
Gain on investments in associates  40   137                 -            -  177
Currency translation adjustments               -               -  817  121  938
Other   87                -   1,038             -   1,125
   48,489  ( 9,619)   5,337    121    44,328
 ( 40,124)   12,984  ( 5,211) ( 121) ( 32,472)

2013 
Deferred tax assets 
Tax losses carried-forward  10,646  ( 3,375)               -            -  7,271
Provisions  1,555  ( 807)               -            -  748
Others               -  346                -            -  346
   12,201  ( 3,836)               -            -  8,365

Deferred tax liabilities 
Fair value of biological assets  35,253   6,222                -               -  41,475
Fair value of fixed assets at 
acquisition of subsidiary  6,153   12                -            -  6,165
Fair value of customer relationships  640  ( 320)               -            -  320
Differences in depreciation rates  529  ( 127)               -            -  402
Gain on investments in associates ( 6)  46                -            -  40
Other ( 304)  391                -            -  87
   42,265    6,224                -            -   48,489
   30,064  ( 10,060)               -            - ( 40,124)

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried-forward to the extent that the realization of the related tax 
benefit through future taxable profits is probable

The deferred income tax from tax losses carried-forward can be applied to taxable income to be generated in the following 
years:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

2015  2,369  2,607
2016  4,357  1.320
2017  3,644  3,103
2018  -   241
  10,370  7,271

In Peru, tax losses can be carried forward by choosing one of the two tax-loss offsetting regimes available; by one of them, tax 
losses may be carried forward over 4 consecutive years after the year in which they have been obtained and then they expire; 
by the second offsetting regime; tax losses are offset at a 50% of the taxable income obtained year after year and they do not 
expire.  The Group has selected the first regime; and at the reporting date; based on Management’s estimate of its future tax 
losses, no tax loss would expire.

18     WoRKERS’ PRofIT SHARInG

In accordance with Peruvian Legislation Camposol S.A. and Marinazul S.A. shall provide for a workers’ profit sharing equivalent 
to 10% of the taxable income of each year.  The amount of the workers’ profit sharing must be paid during the second quarter 
of the following year of its determination (Note 2.23).
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19     lonG-TERM DEBT 

Creditor and type of debt  Guarantee  Annual interest rate and maturity  2014  2013 
    USD USD

Bonds  Camposol Holding LTD, Marinazul S.A. 9.875% per year with installments payable until 2017  196,904     122,303
 and Campoinca S.A.
Torito Investments Ltd. for purchase of Nor Agro Perú S.A.C.  with 19 installments due every three month until 2016  309  555
Banco Interbank, to  finance Civil works of Stage I frozen plant  - 5.5% per year with 20 installments every three months until 2017            884           1,126
    198,097  123,984
Santander for purchase of a system of irrigation Property subject to financial lease 7.10 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2015  -  2,209
Banco Interbank for purchase of frozen plant construction Property subject to financial lease 5.50 % per year with 36 installments every three months until 2018  3,243   4,003
Santander for purchase of asparagus peeler  Property subject to financial lease 7.50 % per year with 60 installments every months until 2016  -   817
Santander for purchase of thirty two tractors Property subject to financial lease 7.10 % per year with 36 monthly installments until 2015  -   307
Banco Interbank for purchase of an asparagus sorter Property subject to financial lease 7.50 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2015  114  331
Scotiabank for purchase of a Spectrometer  Property subject to financial lease 4.75 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2014  -  36
Santander for purchase of thirteen tractors Property subject to financial lease 7.10 % per year with 36 monthly installments until 2015  4  56
Banco Interbank for purchase of an engine, oxygen generator Property subject to financial lease 6.93 % per year with 12 monthly installments until 2013  -  11
Banco Interbank for purchase of a vehicle  Property subject to financial lease 6.99 % per year with 20 monthly installments until 2014  -  12
Leasing Perú for purchase of a pick up Toyota Property subject to financial lease 7.05 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2015  11  24
Banco Interbank for purchase of three truck jack Property subject to financial lease 7.69 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2015  7  21
Leasing Perú for purchase of a pick up Toyota Property subject to financial lease 7.05 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2015  8  16
Leasing Perú for purchase of a lathe equipment Property subject to financial lease 7.05 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2015  5  12
Banco Interbank for purchase of a vehicle Property subject to financial lease 6.89 % per year with 20 monthly installments until 2014  -  9
Banco Interbank for purchase of an electronic boards Property subject to financial lease 6.89 % per year with 20 monthly installments until 2014  -  6
Banco Interbank for purchase of termociclador equipment Property subject to financial lease 7.69 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2015  2  6
Banco Interbank for purchase of six tractors Property subject to financial lease 5.50 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2016  216  380
Banco Interbank for purchase of truck Dodge Property subject to financial lease 5.50 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2016  15  27
Banco Interbank for purchase of a cutter Urschell machine Property subject to financial lease 5.50 % per year with 20 installments every three months until 2018  59  73
Banco Interbank for purchase of line of avocado roda Property subject to financial lease 5.45 % per year with 20 installments every three months until 2018  1,196  1,457
Scotiabank for purchase of gauge avocado Property subject to financial lease 5.80 % per year with 13 installments every three months until 2016  -  473
Leasing Perú for purchase of ten tractors Property subject to financial lease 6.36 % per year with 12 installments every three months until 2016  -  462
Leasing Perú for purchase of four tunnels ripening of mangoes Property subject to financial lease 6.14 % per year with 15 installments every three months until 2017  -  695
Santander for purchase of construction of storm drainage Property subject to financial lease 6.65 % per year with 20 installments every three months until 2018  373  428
Banco Interbank for purchase of truck Dongfeng Property subject to financial lease 7.68 % per year with 36 installments every months until 2016  8  12
Banco Interbank for purchase of bioreactor system, genetic analyzer Property subject to financial lease 7.69 % per year with 11 installments every three months until 2015  36  54
Scotiabank for purchase of a tijeral and frozen chamber Property subject to financial lease 4.30 % per year with 29 installments every three months until 2017  413  - 
Scotiabank for purchase of a tijeral and cool chamber Property subject to financial lease 4.30 % per year with 29 installments every three months until 2017  388  -
Santander for purchase of maduration tunnels, chambers of fresh fruit Property subject to financial lease 7.70 % per year with 30 installments every three months until 2017  302  -
Interbank for purchase of industrial machinery and equipment Property subject to financial lease 4.60 % per year with 32 installments every three months until 2017  1,639  -
Interbank for purchase of vans Property subject to financial lease 4.47 % per year with 27 installments every three months until 2017  71  -
Interbank for purchase of maintenance shop Property subject to financial lease 4.47 % per year with 27 installments every three months until 2017  51  -
  Carryforward  7,859  19,728
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Creditor and type of debt  Guarantee  Annual interest rate and maturity  2014  2013 
    USD USD

  rollforward  7,859  19,728
Interbank for purchase automated aerators Property subject to financial lease 4.47 % per year with 11 installments every three months until 2017  92  -
Interbank for purchase of truck Property subject to financial lease 8.72 % per year with 4 installments every months until 2015  3  -
Caterpillar Leasing Chile for purchase of hydraulic excavator Property subject to financial lease 6.00% per year with 33 installments every months until 2017   204  -
Banco de Crédito del Perú for purchase of lands in Paita Property subject to financial lease 7.50% per year with 6 installments every months until 2015  167  -
Banco de Crédito del Perú for purchase of solid centrifugal separator Property subject to financial lease 4.90% per year with 1 installment every month until 2015  5  -
Banco de Crédito del Perú for purchase of water plant Property subject to financial lease 7.10% per year with 36 installments every months until 2018  425  -
Banco de Crédito del Perú for purchase of sorting of shrimp Property subject to financial lease 4.75% per year with 1 installments every month until 2015  1  -
Banco de Crédito del Perú for purchase of van Property subject to financial lease 6.36% per year with 21installments every months until 2016  9  -
Banco de Crédito del Perú for purchase of a condenser Property subject to financial lease 6.75% per year with 25 installments every months until 2017  21  -
Banco Continental for purchase of a van Property subject to financial lease 7.00% per year with 11 installments every months until 2015  10  -
Banco Continental for purchase of a van Property subject to financial lease 7.11% per year with 15 installments every months until 2016  11  -
Banco de Crédito del Perú for purchase of improvements in plant Property subject to financial lease 6.75% per year with 36 installments every months until 2017  486  -
Banco Interbank for purchase of a tractor and forklift Property subject to financial lease 5.85% per year with 36 installments every months until 2017  62  -  
    9,657  19,728
Ferreyros to finance capital expenditure Domingo rodas S.A. fixed assets 3.00 % per year with 26 installments payable every six months until 2018  1,355  1,656
    209,109  137,577
Less- current portion    ( 2,992) ( 4,250)
    206,117   133,327
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All loans are denominated in United States Dollars. 

For purposes of reconciliation with the information provided in the statement of cash flows, following is the movement of 
long-term borrowings for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013: 

       Finance  Total 
 Other    Bank  lease  long-term 
 borrowings  Bonds  borrowings  liabilities  debt 
 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 

Balance as of 1 January 2013  3,325  121,598              -  10,188   135,111
Cash transactions
repayment of long-term borrowings ( 1,114)             - ( 174) ( 2,138) ( 3,426)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings              -             -  1,300    1,300
Non-cash transactions
Purchase of fixed assets under
finance lease              -             -   -  3,887   3,887
Accrued interest             -  705             -            -  705
Balance as of 31 December 2013  2,211   122,303    1,126   11,937  137,577

Balance as of 1 January 2014  2,211   122,303   1,126   11,937  137,577
Cash transactions
repayment of long-term borrowings ( 547)   ( 242) ( 8,767) ( 9,556)
Bonds              -  75,000              -             - 75,000
Transactions costs   ( 1,626)     ( 1,626)
Non-cash transactions
Borrowing assumed on 
business combination              -              -           -  1,214  1,214
Purchase of fixed assets under
finance  lease              -             -   -  5,273   5,273
Accrued interest               1,227             -            -  1,227
Balance as of 31 December 2014  1,664   196,904    884  9,657  209,109

The maturity of the non - current portion of long - term debt is as follows:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD

1 year  1,917  3,527
2 years  202,919  1,446
3 years  1,258  126,968
More than 3 years  23  1,386
  206,117  133,327

Fair values 

The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current borrowings are as follows:

  Carrying amount  Fair value   
  2014  2013  2014  2013    
  USD  USD  USD  USD 

Bank borrowings  562            884   533  838
Bonds  198,307  123,085  180,484  112,023
Finance lease liabilities  6,567  7,694  4,081  7,262
Other borrowings  681  1,664  681  1,616
   206,117  133,327  185,779  121,739
 
a) Bonds 

USD125,000 9.875% Senior Notes due 2017 

On 26 January 2012, Camposol S.A. and its guarantors Camposol Holding LTD, Marinazul S.A. and Campoinca S.A. agreed 
with Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and Santander Investment Securities Inc., as representatives of several purchasers, to 
issue and sell to the several purchasers, USD125,000 of the principal of its 9.875% Senior Notes due in 2017 to be issued 
under an indenture dated 2 February 2012, signed between Camposol S.A., the Guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association, as trustee, guaranteed on an unsecured senior basis by Camposol Holding LTD, Marinazul S.A. and Campoinca 
S.A. Coupons bear a 9.875% interest and are payable on a semi-annual basis. Cash proceeds were used to pay the long term 
debt obtained to finance capital expenditures and for general corporate uses. The bonds are listed on the Luxembourg Stock 
Exchange.

On 30 April 2014, Camposol S.A., Camposol Holding PLC’s subsidiary, successfully reopened its 9.875% USD125 million 
senior Notes due 2017 raising proceeds of USD75 million, which will be guaranteed by Camposol Holding Limited as parent 
guarantor and Marinazul S.A. and Campoinca S.A. as subsidiary guarantors. The net proceeds from the bond issue were used 
for capital expenditures, mainly for the expansion of the blueberries’ and shrimps’ businesses. 

The Notes were issued as additional notes of, and form a single issue with, the USD125 million 9.875% Notes due 2017 
issued on February 2, 2012. The total aggregate principal amount of the 9.875% Notes due 2017 that will be outstanding 
following this reopening will be USD200 million.

The issue of these bonds includes certain restrictive covenants.

If during any period of time the Notes obtains Investment Grade ratings from two rating Agencies and no payment default 
or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Issuer, the Parent Guarantor and its restricted Subsidiaries will not be 
subject to the following provisions of the Indenture:
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i) Change of control: Putable at 101% of principal plus accrued and unpaid interest.

ii) Limitation on indebtedness and Disqualified Stock:

a. The Leverage ratio is less than (i) 3.5 to 1.0 during the period from the Original Issue Date through June 30, 2013 
and (ii) 3.25 to 1.0 from July 1, 2013 through the Maturity Date.

b. Working capital shall not to exceed 25% of net sales
c. Other Indebtedness shall not to exceed the greater of USD 20,000 and 5% of the total assets.

iii) Limitation on restricted Payments:

a. Declare or pay any dividend or make any distribution 
b. Purchase, redeem, retire or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Capital Stock.
c. Dividends up to USD 10,000 for fiscal year up to 2010.
d. Year 2011, 50% of net income if leverage is equal or greater than 1.5 to 1
e. 75% of net income is lower than 1.5 to 1
f. Other restricted payments no to exceed USD 15,000 since the original issue date.

iv) Limitation on Issuances of Guarantees by restricted Subsidiaries

a. Loans and advances to officers, directors and employees of the Parent Guarantor or any Subsidiary in the ordinary 
course of business in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding USD 2,000 at any time.

v) Limitation on Liens

a. Not to exceed 10% of the total assets

vi) Limitation on Asset Sales

a. At least 75% is paid in cash or temporary cash investments

vii) Limitation on Business Activities 

a. Only permitted Businesses 

According to the income tax regime currently in force in Peru, Camposol S.A. has to withhold from the payment of coupons a 
4.99% as the income tax of non-domiciled entities. Since the bonds purchase agreement does not complete the payment of 
the withholding tax by the holders, Camposol S.A. will assume it as its own expense.

At 31 December 2014 and 2013 non default event has occurred.

b) Finance leases 

The future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of net minimum lease payments 
are as follows: 

 2014    2013   
 Minimum   Present value  Minimum  Present Value
 payments   of payments  payments  of payments 
 USD  USD  USD  USD

Within one year  3,551  3,361  4,788  4,494
After one year but no more than  
five years   7,078   6,296   8,306   7,443
Total minimum lease payments   10,629   9,657   13,094   11,937
Less amounts representing finance
charges ( 972)   ( 1,157) 
Present value of minimum lease 
payments  9,657       11,937

20     TRADE ACCounTS PAyABlE 

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Suppliers  42,540  48,588
Bills of exchange payable  4,885  11,904
Payables to related parties (Note 36)              890  163
  48,315  60,655

Trade accounts payables to suppliers are mainly in US dollars, are due within 12 months and are not interest-bearing.

Bills of exchange in U.S. dollars and Nuevo Sol, amounts to USD4,275 and USD610, respectively (In 2013 USD6,330 and 
USD 5,574, respectively each currency), which are due within 3 months and bear interest at an annual average rate of 9%.
 
The average payment terms of trade payables are between 30 to 60 days. 
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21 oTHER ACCounTS PAyABlE 

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Vacations and other payables to employees  5,156   5,406
Income tax payable  1,948   971
Board remuneration  100   49
Worker’s pension fund payable  426   533
Interest  8,690   5,648
Deferred gain on sale and leaseback  3   943
Accrual of unbilled services  352   384
Prepayment received             -  958
Others   600   1,442
  17,275   16,334

Other accounts payable are due within 12 months and are not interest-bearing and are mainly denominated in new Peruvian 
soles.

22 PRoVISIonS
  
   Contingent    
   liability arising    
 Legal  on a business  Other  
 claims  combination  provisions  Total 
 USD  USD  USD  USD 

At 1 January 2013  1,000            -  877  1,877
Additional provisions (Note 30)  600              -              -  600
At 31 December 2013  1,600              -  877  2,477

At 1 January 2014  1,600              -  877  2,477
Additional provisions              -              -               -               - 
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 24)             -  5,876                -  5,876
Unused amounts reversed              -              - ( 86) ( 86)
Exchange differences              -              -               -             - 
At 31 December 2014  1,600  5,876   791  8,267

     2014  2013 
     USD  USD 

Non-current (Note 24)      4,833              - 
Current      3,434  2,477
Total      8,267  2,477

23 BAnK loAnS
 2014  2013 
 USD  USD
Loans 
Banco Interbank (Peru)  19,203  2,500
Banco Santander  12,500  -
Banco Scotiabank (Peru)  9,400  9,380
Banco ICBC Peru Bank (Peru)  3,500           - 
Banco Continental (Peru)  10,000  10,000
Multibank, Inc (Panama)  5,000   4,145
  59,603  26,025

For purposes of reconciliation with the information provided in the consolidated statement of cash flows, following is the 
movement of bank loans for the years ended 31 December: 

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Initial balance   26,025  29,880
Cash transactions
Bank loans proceeds   121,590  101,495
Bank loans payments ( 88,987) (  105,350)
Non-cash transactions
Bank loans assumed on business combination  975          - 
Closing balance    59,603  26,025

Loans represent promissory notes with maturities up to 180 days, which were obtained for working capital. These loans bear 
fixed annual interest rates that are between 2.60 per cent and 5.70 per cent (between 3.05 per cent and 6.27 per cent in 
2013).
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24 BuSInESS CoMBInATIon 

a) Pacifico Azul S.A.
On 28 February 2014, Marinazul S.A. (subsidiary of the Company) acquired 100% of the share capital of Pacifico Azul S.A., for 
a consideration of USD4,338. The net assets value of the acquired entity at the purchase date amounted to USD5,102, giving 
rise to the recognition of a gain in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of USD764.

The acquired entity was engaged in shrimp farming. As a result of the acquisition, the Group expects to increases its hectares 
and level of production.

The following table summarizes the consideration paid by Marinazul S.A., the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed at the acquisition date.

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
   
 USD
Cash and cash equivalents  528
Other accounts receivable  549
Inventories  909
Prepaid expenses  4
Property, plant and equipment  5,824
Trade accounts payable ( 45)
Other accounts payable ( 297)
Long-term debt ( 1,422)
Deferred income tax ( 948)
Total identifiable net assets   5,102

Purchase consideration  4,338
Total identifiable net assets ( 5,102)
Gain in acquisition ( 764)

Purchase consideration  4,338
Cash and cash equivalents by acquired subsidiary ( 528)
Cash consideration  3,810

Acquisition-related costs of USD19 have been charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement for 
the year ended 31 December 2014.

The fair value of other receivables is USD549. The gross contractual amount for other receivables due is USD574, of which 
USD25 is expected to be uncollectible.

The gain on acquisition is supported by valuations performed by independent appraisers. The sale and purchase agreement 
does not contemplate any contingent consideration that may affect the consideration paid on acquisition.

The gain on acquisition is explained by the fact that the former owner needed to exit the specific business of the acquired 
entity in order to pursue other business that is currently developing.

The amounts of the net identifiable assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated financial statements are final values 
as established by IFrS 3.

The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income since 28 February 2014 contributed by Pacifico 
Azul was USD121. Pacifico Azul also contributed loss of USD44 over the same period.

Had Pacifico Azul been consolidated from 1 January 2014, the consolidated statement of income would show pro-forma 
revenue of USD269,306 and loss of USD19,447.

b) Corporacion Refrigerados INY S.A.

On 17 November 2014, Marinazul S.A. (subsidiary of the Company) acquired 80% of the share capital of Corporacion 
refrigerados INY S.A., for a consideration of USD9,876. The net assets value of the acquired entity at the purchase date 
amounted to USD30,280, giving rise to the recognition of a gain in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of 
USD14,348.

The acquired entity was engaged in shrimp farming, industrial processing and distribution of sea products. As a result of the 
acquisition, the Group expects to increase its hectares and to manage its entire supply chain: fields, processing and distribution.

The following table summarizes the consideration paid by Marinazul S.A., the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed at the acquisition date.

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
   
   USD
Cash and cash equivalents    1,954
Trade accounts receivable    6,943
Other accounts receivable    2,857
Inventories      4,810
Biological assets      1,046
Prepaid expenses      68
Intangibles      36
Property, plant and equipment      26,415
Bank loans     ( 317)
Trade accounts payable     ( 2,527)
Other accounts payable   ( 7,105)
Long-term debt   ( 595)
Deferred income tax   ( 3,305)
Total identifiable net assets    30,280
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   USD
Purchase consideration   ( 9,876)
Non-controlling interest (20%)   ( 6,056)
Gain in acquisition   ( 14,348)

Purchase consideration    9,876
Cash and cash equivalents by acquired subsidiary   ( 1,954)
Cash consideration    7,922

Acquisition-related costs of USD247 have been charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement for 
the year ended 31 December 2014.

The fair value of trade and other receivables is USD9,800 and includes trade accounts receivable with a fair value of USD6,943. 
The gross contractual amount for trade accounts receivable due is USD7,039, of which USD96 is expected to be uncollectible. 
The gross contractual amount for other receivables due is USD2,891 of which USD34 is expected to be uncollectible.

A contingent liability of USD4,833 has been recognized for a pending lawsuit in which Corporacion refrigerados INY S.A. 
is a defendant. The claim has arisen from previous years examination of Peruvian Tax Authority in which resulted additional 
tax liabilities. It is expected that the courts will have reached a decision on this case by the end of 2015. The potential 
undiscounted amount of all future payments that the group could be required to make if there was an adverse decision related 
to the lawsuit is estimated to be USD22,744. As of 31 December 2014, there has been no change in the amount recognized  
for the liability at 17 November 2014, as there has been no change in the range of outcomes or assumptions used to develop 
the estimates.

A contingent liability of USD825 has been recognized for several tax-related contingencies.

The gain on acquisition is supported by valuations performed by independent appraisers. The sale and purchase agreement 
does not contemplate any contingent consideration that may affect the consideration paid on acquisition.

The gain on acquisition is explained by the death of the principal founder (principal owner of the company) in which heirs 
wanted to exit business of the acquired entity in order to pursue other business.

The amounts of the net identifiable assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated financial statements are final values 
as established by IFrS 3.

The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income since 17 November 2014 contributed by 
Corporacion refrigerados INY S.A. was USD2,661. Corporacion refrigerados INY S.A. also contributed profit of USD453 over 
the same period.

Had Corporacion refrigerados INY S.A. been consolidated from 1 January 2014, the consolidated statement of income would 
show pro-forma revenue of USD302,992 and loss of USD16,926.

c) Pesquera ABC S.A.C

On 17 November 2014, Marinazul S.A. (subsidiary of the Company) acquired 75% of the share capital of Pesquera ABC S.A.C, 
for a consideration of USD3,928. The net assets value of the acquired entity at the purchase date amounted to USD3,892, 
giving rise to the recognition of goodwill of USD1,009.

The acquired entity was engaged in purchasing, processing and selling seafood’s products on local and international markets. 
As a result of the acquisition, the Group is expected to manage its entire supply chain: purchasing, processing and distribution. 

The following table summarizes the consideration paid by Marinazul S.A., the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed at the acquisition date.

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
   
   USD
Cash and cash equivalents    211
Trade accounts receivable    702
Other accounts receivable    1,642
Inventories      980
Prepaid expenses      14
Property, plant and equipment      6,405
Bank loans     ( 658)
Trade accounts payable     ( 3,358)
Other accounts payable   ( 469)
Long-term debt   ( 619)
Deferred income tax   ( 958)
Total identifiable net assets     3,892

Non-controlling interest (25%)   ( 973)
Goodwill     1,009
Purchase consideration    3,928

Cash and cash equivalents by acquired subsidiary   ( 211)
Cash consideration    3,717

Acquisition-related costs of USD98 have been charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement for 
the year ended 31 December 2014.

The fair value of trade and other accounts receivable is USD2,344. The gross contractual amount for trade and other receivables 
due is USD1,359, of which USD41 is expected to be uncollectible.

A contingent liability of USD218 has been recognized for several tax-related contingencies.
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The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income since 17 November 2014 contributed by 
Pesquera ABC S.A.C. was USD822. Pesquera ABC S.A.C. also contributed loss of USD112 over the same period.

Had Pesquera ABC S.A.C. been consolidated from 1 January 2014, the consolidated statement of income would show pro-
forma revenue of USD272,117 and loss of USD20,887.

25 REVEnuE 

revenue represents the sale of fresh, preserved and frozen biological products. 

For the years ended 31 December, comprise the following (Note 5):

  2014  2013 
  USD  USD 

Asparagus    65,222  69,955
Avocado   73,400  49,244
Pepper    14,681  18,730
Mango    23,499  18,689
Shrimp   33,755  26,629
Grapes   23,694   21,245
Artichoke    14,098  12,772
Blueberry   9,542  8,638
Other     9,663   5,339
Total     267,554   231,241

26 CoST of SAlES 
  2014  2013 
  USD  USD 

Cost of inventories recognized as expenses   133,492   112,670
Personnel expenses (Note 29)   49,854   44,342
Depreciation (Note 6)    9,122   8,184
Custom duties refund   ( 8,079) ( 8,316)
   184,389    156,880

In Peru, Camposol S.A., Marinazul S.A. and Corporación refrigerados INY S.A. are beneficiaries of a simplified procedure for 
custom duties refunding (Drawback), at a rate of 4.0% of FOB value of exports. 

The cost of inventories recognized as expenses include amortization of software by USD8 for 2014 and 2013 (Note 8).

27   SEllInG EXPEnSES

Selling expenses for the years ended December 31 comprise the following:
  2014  2013 
  USD  USD 
   
Freight   15,763   11,712
Custom duties   8,877   6,761
Amortization of customer relationships (Note 8)  2,133   2,132
Personnel expenses (Note 29)   3,832   1,300
Selling commissions   371    674
Consulting services   1,345   624
Travel and business expenses   2,208   907
Insurances   990   598
Subscriptions to associations   691   373
Other expenses    1,905   1,093
    38,115   26,174

28 ADMInISTRATIVE EXPEnSES

Administrative expenses for the years ended December 31 are comprised of the following:

  2014  2013 
  USD  USD 

Personnel expenses (Note 29)   11,547   10,544
Professional fees   5,751   3,464
Statutory auditors’ remuneration   86   71
Audit services   230   225
Depreciation (Note 6)   757   762
Travel and business expenses   1,420   727
Transport and telecommunications   1,066   924
Directors’ remuneration (Note 29)   370   389
renting of machinery and equipment   1,919   1,332
Amortization of computer software (Note 8)  482   469
Materials and supplies   1,196   928
Maintenance   1,038   739
Insurances   279   133
Utilities   67   82
Taxes other than income tax   190   98
Other expenses              2,305   1,502
   28,703   22,389

No non-audit services were provided in 2014 and 2013 by the statutory audit firm.
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29 PERSonnEl EXPEnSES

  2014  2013 
  USD  USD 

Salaries and wages   56,183  49,230
Vacations   2,283  1,698
Other employees’ benefits   5,229  4,950
Other expenses   1,908  697
   65,603  56,575

Personnel expenses are allocated as follows:

  2014  2013 
   USD  USD 

Cost of sales (Note 26)   49,854   44,342
Selling expenses (Note 27)   3,832    1,300
Administrative expenses (Note 28)   11,547   10,544
Directors’ remuneration - Administrative expenses (Note 29)  370   389
   65,603    56,575

30 oTHER InCoME AnD EXPEnSES 

  2014  2013 
  uSD   uSD 

Other income  
recovery of written-off accounts receivable (Note 14)              - 1
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (Note 32)              -  246
Indemnity of insurance   1,025   126
Services to third parties   1,177   441
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 24)  15,112             - 
Gain on leaseback   942             - 
Other    175   520
   18,431   1,334
Other expenses 
Obsolescence of inventories (Notes 12)  ( 5,102) ( 1,218)
Contingencies (Note 22) - (   600)
Donations and samples ( 191) ( 236)
Impairment of trade and other receivable (Notes 13 and 14)  ( 1,562)             - 
Write-off of plots of pepper  - ( 500)
Write-off of missing inventory and fixed assets ( 424)             - 
Default interest and fines ( 369) ( 304)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (Note 32) ( 177)            - 
Acquisition-related costs of subsidiaries (Note 24) ( 364)            - 
Services  ( 605) (           401)
Other  ( 617) ( 156)
 ( 9,411) ( 3,415)

31 fInAnCIAl InCoME AnD CoSTS
 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 
Income - 
Interest (Note 15)  116  36
Other finance income   -  45
  116   81
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 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 
Costs 
Interest on bank loans ( 19,375) ( 14,526)
Interest on finance leases  ( 2,247) ( 3.241)
Tax on financial transactions ( 1,021) ( 747)
Interest on accounts payable to suppliers  ( 103) ( 161)
Loss in investment funds (Note 15) ( 8) ( 623)
Other finance costs ( 44) (   167)
 ( 22,798) ( 19,465)

32 CASH GEnERATED fRoM oPERATIonS

 Note  2014  2013 
   USD   USD
reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash from
(used in) operating activities:
Profit before income tax   ( 46,267)  41,945
Depreciation    6  9,879   8,946
Amortization    8  2,657   2,609
Transference to biological assets  9    5,612   5,296
Impairment of trade accounts receivable  13 and 14  1,562     -
Obsolescence of inventories  12  5,102   1,218
recovery of doubtful accounts  13 and 14  - ( 1)
Fair value of biological assets    9  45,217  ( 43,069)
Gain / (loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment  30  177  ( 246)
Gain on disposal of intangibles  8  73 - 
Loss attributable to associate    7 ( 918) ( 305)
Deferred income tax  33 ( 12,984)  10,060
Net exchange difference    1,254  ( 299)
Write down off trade accounts receivable  13 and 14   - (          255)
Write down off inventories  12 ( 3,377) ( 1,834)
Adjustment acquisition of subsidiaries  24 ( 15,112)     -
Increase (decrease) of cash flows from operations due
to changes in assets and liabilities: 
Cash subject to restriction   ( 7,500)     -
Trade accounts receivable    7,094  ( 15,497)
Other accounts receivable   ( 11,168)  4,269
Inventories   ( 34,103) ( 9,770)
Prepaid expenses   ( 115) ( 209)
Trade accounts payable   ( 12,340)  9,367
Other accounts payable     25,124  ( 6,971) 
Net cash generated from operating activities   ( 38,323)  5,254

33 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

a) According to the Peruvian tax legislation in force the income tax is determined on separate basis. Management has 
determined the taxable income under the general income tax regime, which requires adding to and deducting from the 
result derived from the accounting records maintained in Nuevo Sol is those items considered as taxable and non-taxable, 
respectively.

 As established under Law No.27360 dated 30 October 2000, that amends the Income Tax Law of individuals and legal 
persons engaged in the growing of crops and /or cattle as well as in industrial agriculture, the applicable income tax rate 
is 15%. This income tax regulations is applicable until 31 December 31 2021.

The standard rate of Cyprus income tax for 2014 and 2013 is 12.5% and for the Peruvian subsidiaries it ranges between 
30% and 15%. 

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

 Current income tax   361                371
 Deferred income tax (Notes 17 and 32) ( 12,984)  10,060
 Income tax expense ( 12,623)  10,431

b) For the years 2014 and 2013 the income tax credited to income differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the tax rate applicable to profit before workers’ profit sharing and income tax as follows:

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Profit before income tax ( 46,267)  41,945
At Peruvian statutory income tax rate at 15% ( 6,940)  6,292
revenue not subject to tax ( 982) ( 840)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  459   2,250
Tax loss expiration   -      4,600
Impact of change in tax rate ( 4,421)        - 
Other ( 739) ( 1,871)
Income tax expense / (credit) ( 12,623)   10,431

Profit before income tax only corresponds to Peruvian subsidiaries; therefore taxation charge in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income corresponds to the Peruvian tax rate of 15%.

According to tax Peruvian Legislation, there are two systems to offset net losses arising from 2004:
• Offsetting the total tax loss against the future taxable profits to be obtained in the four years from the fiscal year 

following the year in which the tax loss was generated; after those four years have elapsed, any remaining tax loss 
that has not been offset, will not be able to be offset against future taxable profits.
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• Offsetting 50% of the annual taxable profits until they are exhausted.  

 The Company has chosen the first system to offset tax losses.

 At December 31, 2013, deferred income tax assets have been impaired due to the maturity of tax losses which amount 
to USD4,600.

c) The Peruvian Tax Authority may review and, if required, amend the income tax or the tax loss carry forward determined 
by the Company and its subsidiaries in the last four years, as from January 1 of the following year in which the tax return 
of the corresponding income tax was filed (years open to examination).  Since discrepancies may arise over the proper 
interpretation of the tax law applicable to the Group, it is not possible to anticipate at this date whether additional tax 
liabilities will arise as a result of eventual examinations.  Additional tax, fines and interest, if any, will be recognized in 
results of the period in which the disagreement with the Peruvian tax authorities is resolved.  Management considers that 
no significant liabilities will arise as a result of any eventual tax examinations.

The following table shows the income tax and value-added tax returns subject to review by the Tax Authority corresponding 
to the Company and its subsidiaries. 

  Years open to tax review  
Company  Income Tax  Value Added Tax       
  
Camposol Holding LTD  2010-2014    December 2010-2014 
Camposol S.A.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Prodex S.A.C.   2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Vegetales del Norte S.A.C.   2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Muelles y Servicios Paita S.A.C.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Nor Agro Perú S.A.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Marinasol S.A.   2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Marinazul S.A.   2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Grainlens Ltd.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Blacklocust Ltd.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Siboure Holding Ltd.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Madoca Corp.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Camposol Europa S.L.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Campoinca S.A.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Camposol Fresh B.V.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Domingo rodas S.A.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Camarones S.A.C.  2010-2014    December 2010-2014
Corporación refrigerados YNI S.A.  2010-2014  December 2010-2014
Pesquera ABC S.A.C.  2010-2014  December 2010-2014
Pacifico Azul S.A.C.  2010-2014  December 2010-2014
Inversiones Agrícolas Inmobiliarias S.A.C. 2014  December 2014

34 BASIC AnD DIluTED EARnInGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Group by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary shares purchased by the company and held as treasury 
shares (Note 16)

 2014  2013 

(Loss) profit for the year (USD)  ( 33,644)  31,514

Weighted average number of ordinary outstanding shares 
(thousands)    27,313    27,313

Basic (losses) earnings per share (USD)  ( 1.232)   1.154

The Company was incorporated on July 9, 2007.  One class of 2,570,000 initial shares does not grant the voting rights or 
participation in dividend distributions and are not taken into account for the purposes of determining earnings per share. 

Share capital was increased through the exchange of shares with Camposol S.A. shareholders in March 2008 comprising 
27,925,070 shares and a private placement with Fondo de Inversion Agroindustrial (FIDAF) of 1,908,750 shares.

Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume 
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  The Group has granted Share-based payments which are dilutive.  The 
Group determines the number of potential shares using the average market share price of the Group’s shares for the year.  
However, since during 2014 and 2013 the exchange value of the potential shares was greater than the fair value of the shares, 
the Group did not consider any potential ordinary shares for determination of the dilutive earnings per share; the dilutive 
earnings per share being the same as the basic earnings per share.

35 ConTInGEnT lIABIlITIES

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group has labor-related contingencies and other claims amounting to USD1,600, 
which is included in the balance of provisions (Note 22).

Some contingent liabilities amounting to USD4,833 have been recognised on the acquisition of Corporación refrigerados Iny 
S.A. for a pending lawsuit in which the entity is a defendant. The claim has arisen from previous years examination of Peruvian 
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Tax Authority in which resulted additional tax liabilities.  It is expected that the courts will have reached a decision on this case 
by the end of 2015 (Note 24).

Other tax-related contingencies and other claims amounting to USD1,043 has been recognised on the acquisition of 
Corporación refrigerados Iny S.A and Pesquera ABC S.A. (Note 24)

As of 31 December 2014, the Group has labor-related and other claims contingencies amounting to USD 1,170 (USD571 
as of 31 December 2013). No provision has been made since legal advice indicates that it is not probable that a significant 
liability will arise.  

36 TRAnSACTIonS WITH SHAREHolDERS AnD oTHER RElATED PARTIES 

a) Transactions 

The main transactions carried out between the Group and its related parties are as follows: 

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

i) Associate 
Empacadora de Frutos Tropicales S.A.C. 
Sale of services   45             1
Purchase of services  4,372  1,881

ii) Entities related to Directors 
Apoyo Consultoría S.A.C. 
Purchase of services               -  24

Gestion del Pacifico S.A.C 
Sales of services  5   27
Purchase of services and others   2,440  1,546
Purchase of fixed assets  112   311

b) Amounts due from/to related parties 

Other accounts receivable (Note 13)

 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 
i) Entities related to Directors 
Empacadora de Frutos Tropicales S.A.C.              -           77
Gestión del Pacífico S.A.C. (*)             -          3
               -           80
Trade payables (Note 20)    

i)  Associates
Empacadora de Frutos Tropicales S.A.C.   720   143

ii)  Entities related to Directors 
Gestión del Pacífico S.A.C. (*)  170  17
Apoyo Consultoría S.A.C. (**)             -  3 
  890  163

(*)  A manager of the Group is a shareholder of Gestión del Pacífico S.A.C.
(**) The legal representative of Apoyo Consultoría S.A.C. was Director of the Group until November 2013.

The transactions during the year with related companies correspond to purchase of consulting, legal services, cash loans for 
working capital and purchase of raw materials.
These balances have no schedule date for collection or payment and do not bear interest; however, the effect on results, if 
interest would be charged, is not significant.

c) Compensation of the Group key management 
 2014  2013 
 USD  USD 

Salaries of key management  3,715  2,296
remuneration of Directors (all of which are non - executives)  370  389
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37 CoMMITMEnTS AnD GuARAnTEES

a) Commitments and guarantees in respect of the bonds are set out in Note 19.

b) On October, 2008, Camposol S.A. signed an agreement with Peru Land & Farming LLC (PL&F) by means of which the 
Company gives first option to purchase avocado production from a designated area of 800 Ha to be sold in the United 
States of America.  When the US market opens for Peruvian avocado, PL&F will have the right to purchase 100% of the 
production from that area. The option will gradually decrease over ten years, after which it will maintain a lifetime option 
for 30% of the production in the designated area.  The transactions will be settled at market price. At the reporting date, 
no changes in the agreement with PL&F have occurred.

c) On December 2014, Camposol S.A. issued a guarantee letter in favor of the Municipality of Lima for the project 
“Complementary design of the Wholesale Market of Santa Anita”. This project comprises putting up for concession the 
design, construction, financing, conservation and exploitation of the infrastructure relating to complementary design of 
the Wholesale Market of Santa Anita (“Desarrollo Complementario del Mercado Mayorista de Santa Anita”). The project 
also comprises building a modular and multifunctional plant to manage fresh produce.  Different types of services will be 
provided related to the Project within the framework of the Peruvian Law for Wholesale Markets and rules for application.  
The Project is divided in six areas for the different processes that will be performed within the Wholesale Market of Santa 
Anita (“WMSA”).  These processes comprise providing value-added services to wholesalers, related parties which trade 
perishable products for human consumption, such as supermarkets.

Additionally, the Project will comprise constructing and developing complementary service areas, such as electric substations, 
machinery rooms for equipment and control over the cooling chain, restrooms and dressing rooms for workers and the 
general public, areas to handle waste material, vehicle and pedestrian areas, as well as parking lots and green areas.

The Project is intended to make WMSA become the major perishables supply point for the larges distribution chains in 
Metropolitan Lima as well as a potential strategic logistics point for wholesale producers and retailers in Lima seeking to 
become international.

As of 24 March 2015 the City Hall of Lima dismissed this private initiative, superseding the continuation of this project.

38 EVEnTS AfTER THE REPoRTInG PERIoD

In January 2015, Marinazul S.A. acquired Santa Angela S.A.C. which is a company with no operation that owned 1,156 
hectares in possession in Piura and is located in a favorable area for the development of shrimp farming in freshwater. Control 
day January 6, date in which was the transfer of shares, payment made USD3,460,560. 

No other material events occurred after the end of the financial year.

Independent auditor’s report on pages 6 to 7.
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